
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
MEETING: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

(HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE)  
  
DATE: Tuesday 4 March 2014 
  
TIME: 6.30 pm 
  
VENUE: Town Hall, Bootle 
  
 
 Member 

 
Councillor 

Substitute 
 
Councillor 

 Councillor Page (Chair) 
Councillor Robinson (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Ball 
Councillor Friel 
Councillor Gatherer 
Councillor Hubbard 
Councillor John Joseph Kelly 
Councillor S. McGuire 
Councillor Rimmer 
Councillor Roberts 
 

Councillor L. Cluskey 
Councillor Bradshaw 
Councillor Jones 
Councillor Webster 
Councillor Lappin 
Councillor Welsh 
Councillor Killen 
Councillor Dawson 
Councillor Keith 
Councillor Brennan 
 

 
 
 COMMITTEE OFFICER: Debbie Campbell Senior Democratic Services 

Officer Tele: 0151 934 2254 
 Telephone: 0151 934 2254 
 Fax: 0151 934 2034 
 E-mail: debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk 
 
 
 

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist. 

 



 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 



A G E N D A 
 

1. Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 Members are requested to give notice of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest, which is not already included in their 
Register of Members' Interests and the nature of that interest, 
relating to any item on the agenda in accordance with the 
Members Code of Conduct, before leaving the meeting room 
during the discussion on that particular item. 
  
 

 

3. Minutes (Pages 5 - 16) 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 7 January 2014.  
 

 

4. Pre-Consultation Feedback from The Clatterbridge 
Cancer Centre 

(Pages 17 - 
74) 

 Further to Minute No. 47 0f 7 January 2014, Dr Brian 
Haylock, Clinical Director for Radiation Services, and Yvonne 
Bottomely, Director of Finance, Clatterbridge Cancer Centre, 
together with Jackie Robinson, Head of Patient and Public 
Voice, Cheshire & Merseyside Commissioning Support Unit, 
to attend to provide a verbal update. 
 
The documents attached are submitted to the Committee for 
information purposes, outlining the proposals and findings to 
date.  
 

 

5. North West Ambulance Service  

 To discuss developments with the Service. 
 
Dave Kitchin, Head of Service; Sarah Smith, Assistant 
Director of Communications; Alan Stuttard, Finance Director, 
to attend.  
 

 

6. Care Closer to Home Programme  

 Presentation to be given by Janice Horrocks - Programme 
Sponsor "Care Closer to Home", Southport and Ormskirk 
Hospital NHS Trust.  
 

 

7. Mersey Care NHS Trust - Update (Pages 75 - 
128) 

 The following documents are attached:- 
 
Briefing Report; 
Appendix 1 – Local Division Care Strategy; and 
Letter to Chair of the Committee.  
 

 



8. Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - 
Update Report 

(Pages 129 - 
132) 

 Update Report submitted by Aintree University Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust. 
 
Presentation to be given on the Frailty Unit.  
 

 

9. Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust - Update 
Report 

(Pages 133 - 
136) 

 Update Report submitted by the Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer/Finance Director of the Southport and Ormskirk 
Hospital NHS Trust.  
 

 

10. Clinical Commissioning Groups - Strategic Plan  

 Presentation to be given by Karl McCluskey, Head of 
Strategic Planning and Assurance, NHS South Sefton CCG 
and NHS Southport and Formby CCG.  
 

 

11. Sefton Clinical Commissioning Groups - Update Report (Pages 137 - 
140) 

 Joint update report of NHS South Sefton Clinical 
Commissioning Group and NHS Southport and Formby 
Clinical Commissioning Group.  
 

 

12. Cabinet Member Report (Pages 141 - 
150) 

 Report of the Director of Corporate Services.  
 

 

13. Draft Quality Accounts - Process to be Undertaken (Pages 151 - 
158) 

 Report of the Director of Corporate Services.  
 

 

14. Work Programme Key Decision Forward Plan (Pages 159 - 
176) 

 Report of the Director of Corporate Services.  
 

 

 
 
 



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL IN”. 

 

24 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
(HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE) 

 

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, SOUTHPORT 
ON TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 

 
PRESENT: Councillor Page (in the Chair) 

 
Councillor Robinson (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors Friel, Gatherer, Hubbard, 
John Joseph Kelly, S. McGuire, Rimmer and 
Roberts 
 

Also Present: Councillor Cummins, Cabinet Member – Older 
People and Health 
 

 
35. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Ball. 
 
 
36. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
No declarations of pecuniary interest were made. 
 
 
37. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 29 October 2013 be confirmed as 
a correct record. 
 
 
38. NORTH WEST AMBULANCE SERVICE  

 
The item was withdrawn from the agenda by the North West Ambulance 
Service, with a view to representatives of the service attending the next 
meeting of the Committee. 
 
 
39. COMMISSIONING BY CHESHIRE AND MERSEYSIDE CCGS  

 
A presentation was given by Hilda Yarker, Head of Patients and 
Information, Senior Consultant Engagement and Involvement Service, 
NHS Cheshire and Merseyside Commissioning Support Unit. 
 
The presentation outlined the following:- 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 5



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

25 

A Commissioning Policies Review to be undertaken by the Commissioning 
Support Unit (CSU) on behalf of the Cheshire and Merseyside Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, which included an Infertility Policy). 
 
What is the Commissioning Policy? 

• The current commissioning policy was written in 2011 and was now 
due for review; 

• A number of areas had had new evidence published; 

• A number of areas had now moved and were the responsibility of 
other NHS bodies e.g. Specialised Commissioning NHS England; 

• It contained statements on what the Clinical Commissioning Groups  
(CCGS) would provide for their patients; and 

• It included statements on areas e.g. infertility service, treatments for 
viral warts and cosmetic surgery. 

 
Why do CCGs have a Commissioning Policy Document? 

• CCGs had a duty to spend public money wisely. As there was only 
a set amount of money available to spend, CCGs sometimes had to 
make difficult decisions about which treatments were routinely 
provided; 

• CCGs had to make decisions on the range of health 
services/treatments that they commissioned (bought). The majority 
of services/treatments commissioned were commissioned for the 
whole population, however some were only clinically effective in 
very specific situations or for a very narrow group of patients; and 

• In such cases CCGs commissioned the service/treatment on a 
named individual (patient) basis having first assessed that there 
was evidence that the proposed treatment was clinically effective 
and that the patient should see a demonstrable benefit from 
receiving the treatment. 

 
What are the main Commissioning Policy Changes? 

• Removing statements on services that now sat with NHS England 
(following the recent NHS restructuring); 

• Updating the guidance based on new evidence; and 

• Adding in new services/treatments/procedures. 
Policy statements and proposed changes had been rated using a colour 
key. 
 
Commissioning Policy Review Timeline, including various stages. 
 
Communication and engagement with different stakeholder groups and 
actions to be taken. 
 
Leaving Feedback 
Patient and Public respondents could leave feedback via any of the 
following ways: 

• Online – by visiting the CCG website and follow the link to the CSU 
website where they could read in more detail about the draft policy; 

Agenda Item 3

Page 6



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

26 

• If people did not have access to the internet the CSU Customer 
Solutions Service Freephone number would be provided and the 
team would post out the information to enquirers, or complete the 
on-line survey on their behalf over the phone; and 

• If people were hard of hearing, had sight impairment, English was 
not their first language or they required the information in an 
alternative format, the Customer Solutions Centre Freephone would 
be provided  

 
Next Steps 

• Views on the Commissioning Policy were needed. The go-live date 
for full public and patient engagement was 6 - 26 January 2014; 

• An email address had been established for all clinical responses 
and questions; and 

• Audit and evidence of engagement was absolutely an essential 
requirement in any engagement process. The CSU would hold this 
on behalf of all the CCGs with the exception of West Cheshire CCG 
who would run their own engagement process. 

 
Hilda Yarker responded to questions put by Committee Members. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Hilda Yarker be thanked for her informative presentation and the 
presentation be received. 
 
 
40. MERSEY CARE NHS TRUST - UPDATE REPORT  

 
The Committee considered an update report submitted by the Chief 
Executive of Mersey Care NHS Trust on performance and key service 
developments within the Trust. The report outlined details of the following:- 
 

• Performance; 

• Foundation Trust application update; 

• “Your Voice Your Change”: 
o Mega Conversations; 
o Work Streams: 

� Quick Wins; 
� Enabling Our People; 
� First Adopter Teams; 

o Mini Mega Conversations; 

• Local Division Update Report: 
o Getting the right bed capacity. 

 
John Doyle, Major Projects Director, Ann Kenwright, Director of Secure 
Services, Transformation, and Ray Walker, Executive Director of Nursing 
and Secure Services, were present from Mersey Care NHS Trust to 
present the update report and respond to queries on it. 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 7



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

27 

With regard to “Getting the right bed capacity” within the update report, 
Members of the Committee raised queries regarding in-patient facilities in 
the north of the Borough and future communication and engagement 
activities. Following the next Trust Board meeting, the relevant documents 
relating to the TIME Project would become available to the public and 
would be provided for Committee Members. Similarly, the plan for 
communication and engagement activities would also be provided for 
Committee Members. 
 
In response to questions on police powers / confidentiality in relation to 
Section 136 of the Mental Health Act 1983, Members of the Committee 
were advised that the Trust would report back in due course. 
 
RESOLVED: That Mersey Care NHS Trust: 
 
(1) be thanked for the update report; and 
 
(2) be requested to provide information on the next phase of the TIME 

Project following its next Trust Board meeting, together with the 
communication and engagement activities plan, as outlined above. 

 
 
41. MERSEY CARE NHS TRUST - TRANSFORMING THE MEDIUM  

SECURE CARE PATHWAY  

 
The Committee considered two documents submitted by Mersey Care 
NHS Trust on the transformation of the medium secure pathway. The first 
document indicated that the medium secure services for the Merseyside 
and Cheshire zone had previously been provided at the Scott Clinic in St. 
Helens. Proposals were now being submitted for the closure of Scott Clinic 
and the transfer of services to a new medium secure facility on Trust land 
at Ashworth Hospital, Maghull. The second document set out proposals for 
public and patient engagement and consultation on the proposals. 
 
John Doyle, Major Projects Director, Ann Kenwright, Director of Secure 
Services, Transformation, and Ray Walker, Executive Director of Nursing 
and Secure Services, were present from Mersey Care NHS Trust to 
present the documents. They responded to Members’ queries on issues 
raised and indicated that they would keep this Committee informed of any 
developments on the matter. 
 
Further to Minute No. 31 (2) of 29 October 2013, the Chair thanked the 
Mersey Care representatives for the invitation to the opening of the South 
Sefton Neighbourhood Centre during late November 2013. 
 
RESOLVED: That Mersey Care NHS Trust: 
 
(1) be thanked for the information on the transformation of the Medium 

Secure Care Pathway and the information be received; and 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 8



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

28 

(2) be requested to keep this Committee informed of any developments 
on the matter. 

 
 
42. AINTREE UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST –  

UPDATE REPORT  

 
The Committee considered an update report submitted by the Director of 
Communications, Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, on 
current issues impacting on healthcare provision within the Trust. The 
report outlined details of the following:- 
 

• Quality Strategy to support improvements; 

• Aintree to launch pioneering specialist unit for elderly patients; 

• New cancer research lab announced at Aintree; 

• Open and honest care; 

• Focus on mortality improvements; 

• Urgent care and trauma centre update; 

• Aintree is named as top 100 apprenticeship employer; 

• North west alcohol conference 2013; and 

• Aintree staff flu jab record levels of uptake. 
 
Fin McNicol, Director of Communications, Aintree University Hospital 
Foundation Trust presented the update report and responded to Members’ 
queries on various issues raised. 
 
A Member of the Committee requested future updates on the Acute Frailty 
Unit. 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust be thanked for 
the update report and requested to include developments on the Acute 
Frailty Unit within future update reports. 
 
 
43. SOUTHPORT AND ORMSKIRK HOSPITAL NHS TRUST –  

UPDATE REPORT  

 
The Committee considered an update report by the Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer / Finance Director, Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS 
Trust, on current issues impacting on the Trust. The report outlined details 
of the following:- 
 

• A and E Services; 

• Quality; and 

• Public Engagement. 
 
Damian Reid, Deputy Chief Executive and Finance Director, Southport 
and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust, was present from the Trust to present 

Agenda Item 3

Page 9



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

29 

the update report and answer questions on it. The process for the 
handover of patients from ambulance crews to hospital staff was 
explained, together with possible reasons for delays in reaching targets. 
 
Rob Gillies, Executive Medical Director, Southport and Ormskirk Hospital 
NHS Trust, reported on the following:- 
 

• “never events”, including surgical errors, recently encountered by 
the Trust and actions being taken to avoid any repetitions; 

• infections encountered at Trust premises and actions being 
undertaken to prevent and control them; and 

• mortality rates at Trust premises and action on improvements. 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust be thanked for the 
update report. 
 
 
44. PRESENTATION ON MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSIONING  

 
Further to Minute No. 31 (b) of 29 October 2013, a presentation was given 
by Fiona Clark, Chief Officer for NHS South Sefton Clinical Commissioning 
Group and NHS Southport and Formby Clinical Commissioning Group, on 
the commissioning for better mental health and wellbeing. 
 
The presentation outlined the following:- 
 
The National context: 
“No Health Without Mental Health” -  

• a Department of Health strategy; 

• Published February 2011; and 

• Produced following consultation with leading mental health 
organisations including Mental Health Foundation. 

 
Six shared high-level mental health objectives had been developed, as 
follows: 

1. More people have better mental health; 
2. More people with mental health problems will recover; 
3. More people with mental health problems will have better 

physical health; 
4. More people will have a positive experience of care and support; 
5. Fewer people will suffer avoidable harm; and 
6. Fewer people will experience stigma and discrimination. 

 
Monitoring progress: 
Mental Health dashboard -  

• First national results published December 2013; 

• Indicators consistent with three key national outcomes frameworks: 
o NHS; 

Agenda Item 3

Page 10



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

30 

o Public Health; and 
o Adult Social Care. 

 
The Sefton context: 

• Prevalence of low level mental health illness at 26% - over 37% in 
most deprived areas - compared to 15% national average (Public 
Health Observatory, August 2012); 

• 24% of Sefton residents live in the top 20% of nationally deprived 
areas - largely located in south Sefton, with pockets of deprivation 
in the north; 

• Sefton Adults Mental Health Report - This maps current spending 
on adult mental health services in Sefton (March 2013). 

 
Addressing this in Sefton: 
Objective - Fewer people will experience stigma and discrimination - 
examples:  

• CCGs working with voluntary sector to promote mental health 
awareness; 

• CCGs working with voluntary sector to improve commissioned 
services – e.g. Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
(IAPTs) 

 
Sefton IAPT service: 
A range of talking therapies for mild to moderate mental health issues -  

• Recovery rates exceed those set by the Department of Health (47% 
compared to national average of 43%); 

• Majority of people seen in less than 28 days (average of 14 days for 
Step 2 treatment); and 

• New IAPT initiative being developed to address those with severe 
and enduring mental health problems, working with Merseycare 
NHS Trust. 

 
Examples of what CCGs are doing: 
Dementia -  
National and local priority due to Sefton’s age profile: 

• A&E liaison services - in Southport and Aintree hospitals; 

• Care Home liaison services – extra support for residents and staff; 
and 

• Dementia Advisers - Alzheimer's Society working with Merseycare 
to provide Post-diagnostic Community Support. 

 
Examples of what CCGs are doing: 
Other examples -  

• Children and young people – Alder Hey working to improve 
transition from Children’s to Adults Social Care; 

• New Community Asperger Services – developed with carers, set to 
start later in 2014; and 

• Supporting people back to work – working with Imagine to support 
people with mental health issues into employment. 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 11



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

31 

Working in partnership: 
Sefton Health and Wellbeing Board -  

• Sefton Strategic Health and Wellbeing Strategy - mental health and 
wellbeing a priority; 

• Mental health summit – key stakeholders came together in 
September 2013 to identify good practice and areas for 
improvement; 

• Wider Determinants Forum - tasked with leading the work to 
improve mental health; and 

• Mental Health and Wellbeing Task group - established to drive 
forward this work. 

 
Next steps: 
Sefton Health and Wellbeing Board -  

• Plan to be produced to pull together and monitor the progress of 
mental health services in Sefton against the national framework and 
local mental health strategies and plans; and 

• Mental health plan to be drafted by April 2014. 
 
Fiona Clark responded to queries put by Committee Members, including 
children’s mental health services and dementia in older people. 
 
A Member of the Committee suggested including “fewer people 
undertaking a custodial sentence” as one of the objectives, as a reflection 
of the connection between custodial sentences and reduced good mental 
health. Fiona Clarke indicated that she could consider this aspect in the 
production of Sefton’s mental health plan. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Fiona Clark be thanked for her informative presentation and the 
presentation be received. 
 
 
45. SEFTON CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUPS - UPDATE  

REPORT  

 
The Committee considered the joint update report of the NHS South 
Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group and the NHS Southport and Formby 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) on current issues impacting on 
healthcare provision within Sefton. Information was provided on the 
following:- 
 

• Winter services update; 

• Strategic planning; 

• Enhancing primary care; 

• Formby GP care home pilot; 

• New annual medicines review for care home patients; and 

• New lay member appointed. 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 12



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

32 

Fiona Clark, Chief Officer for NHS South Sefton Clinical Commissioning 
Group and NHS Southport and Formby Clinical Commissioning Group, 
was present at the meeting to present the report and respond to questions 
on it. 
 
Further to Minute No. 34 (3) of 29 October 2013, the Chair indicated that 
she had anticipated receiving information with regard to Accident and 
Emergency monitoring. 
 
In response made to a point by a Member of the Committee regarding 
community centres, Fiona Clark, emphasised the importance of 
community facilities in the development of services commissioned. 
 
RESOLVED: That 
 
(1) the Clinical Commissioning Groups be thanked for the update 

report; and 
 
(2) the relevant officers be authorised to liaise, with a view to 

submitting information regarding A and E monitoring to the next 
meeting of this Committee. 

 
 
46. STUDY OF LINKS BETWEEN HEALTH, REGENERATION AND  

ECONOMY IN LINACRE AND DERBY WARDS  

 
Further to Minute Nod. 30 and 34 (2) of 29 October 2013, the Committee 
considered the report of the Director of Public Health indicating that a 
discussion had recently been held with the Chair of this Committee and 
the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board, together with 
relevant officers, to agree the best way of scrutinising this cross-cutting 
issue.  The report provided an update from the discussion and set out the 
background to the matter, intended reporting mechanisms and planned 
next steps. 
 
Discussion took place on air pollution and health inequalities in the Wards 
affected. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be received for information. 
 
 
47. PRE-CONSULTATION FEEDBACK FROM THE  

CLATTERBRIDGE CANCER CENTRE  

 
The Committee considered three documents submitted by the 
Clatterbridge Cancer Centre on the following:- 
 

• Transforming Cancer Care; 

Agenda Item 3

Page 13



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

33 

• A pre-consultation qualitative analysis report on the reconfiguration 
of non-surgical oncology services; and 

• A stakeholder engagement pre-consultation report. 
 
The Senior Democratic Services Officer advised the Committee that the 
documents were submitted to the Committee for information purposes at 
this stage. Should any specific questions arise, the Clatterbridge Cancer 
Centre had indicated that it would be happy to send a representative to the 
next meeting. 
 
Committee Members considered that it would be useful for a 
representative to attend the Committee from the Centre, in order to fully 
explain the proposals and answer any questions on them. 
 
RESOLVED: That 
 
(1) the documents be received; and 
 
(2) the Clatterbridge Cancer Centre be requested to send a 

representative to the next meeting of this Committee to address 
Members on the pre-consultation exercise. 

 
 
48. CABINET MEMBER REPORT  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Director of Corporate Services 
submitting the most recent report by the Cabinet Member - Older People 
and Health for the period December 2013. The Cabinet Member Update 
Report outlined information on:- 
 

• Winter preparedness; 

• Flu vaccination; 

• Sefton directory; and 

• Social worker of the Year Award 2013. 
 
Councillor Cummins, Cabinet Member – Older People and Health outlined 
the main issues within the Update Report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet Member report be received. 
 
 
49. WORK PROGRAMME KEY DECISION FORWARD PLAN  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Director of Corporate Services 
in relation to the Committee’s programme of work and submitting the latest 
Key Decision Forward Plan. Since the publication of the agenda for the 
meeting, a further Key Decision Forward Plan had been published and the 
most recent version was circulated for the attention of the Committee. 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 14



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

34 

There were a total of three Key Decisions within the latest Key Decision 
Forward Plan that fell under this Committee’s remit and the Committee 
was invited to consider items for pre-scrutiny. 
 
Further to Minute No. 20 (2) of 4 September 2012, a response from 
Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust on the recommendations of the 
former Phlebotomy Working Group, established by this Committee during 
2011/12, had been received and was attached to the report at Appendix B. 
The Trust had indicated that it would not be progressing the possibility of a 
“twilight” service at this time. 
 
Fiona Clark, Chief Officer for NHS South Sefton Clinical Commissioning 
Group and NHS Southport and Formby Clinical Commissioning Group, 
indicated that she would raise the matter with the Trust. 
 
Further to Minute No. 34 (2) of 29 October 2013, a report on links between 
health, regeneration and economy had been received and had been 
considered under Minute No. 46 above. 
 
Further to Minute No. 34 (3) of 29 October 2013, Accident and Emergency 
monitoring had been discussed under Minute No. 45 above and 
information would be submitted to the next meeting. 
 
Further to Minute No. 4 (3) of 21 May 2013, the Committee discussed the 
training event that had taken place prior to the meeting of this Committee 
on draft Quality Accounts, with a view to determining how they might be 
considered in the future. 
 
Further to Minute No. 34 (5) of 29 October 2013, the Senior Democratic 
Services Officer reported that Sefton Healthwatch would be considering 
the appointment of an Advisory Member to this Committee at a meeting of 
a steering group to be held on 5 February 2014. 
 
RESOLVED: That 
 

(1) the contents of the Key Decision Forward Plans for the period 1 
January to 30 April 2014 and 1 February to 31 May 2014, be 
accepted; 

 

(2) the response from Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust on the 
recommendations of the former Phlebotomy Working Group be 
received and the Chief Officer for NHS South Sefton Clinical 
Commissioning Group and NHS Southport and Formby Clinical 
Commissioning Group be requested to raise the matter with the 
Trust and report back to this Committee on the outcome of those 
discussions; 

 

(3) the information concerning air quality control in the south of the 
Borough be received; 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 15



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) - TUESDAY 7TH JANUARY, 2014 
 

35 

(4) the progress made on Accident and Emergency monitoring be 
noted and the relevant officers be requested to submit information 
to the next meeting of this Committee; 

 

(5) the outcome of the training event on draft Quality Accounts be 
noted, and the Senior Democratic Services Officer be authorised to 
submit a report on possible proposals for the process to be 
undertaken for the scrutiny of a number of Quality Accounts from 
NHS Trusts during May / June 2014; and 

 

(6) the progress made in relation to the appointment of an Advisory 
Member to this Committee be noted. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 16



 

 

1 

Update Dec 2013 

1 

Transforming Cancer Care 

An independent review of cancer care across the region concluded that big benefits could be 
gained for patients and their families by expanding the services provided by The Clatterbridge 
Cancer Centre. 
 
Developing a new Clatterbridge Cancer Centre on a thriving biomedical campus, alongside the new 

Royal Liverpool Hospital and Liverpool University is a once in a generation opportunity to make 

cancer services in this region the very best than can possibly be. 

 
Being co-located with the Royal Liverpool Hospital and the University of Liverpool will allow The 

Clatterbridge Cancer Centre to: 

 

• Have physical links to an acute teaching hospital where patients can have rapid access to 

critical care services when they are required. 

 

• Develop its research programme further, giving patients access to a broader portfolio of 

clinical trials and leading edge treatments as soon as they are developed. 

 

• Be located at the centre of the population we serve. Around 70% of our patients currently 

travel to the Wirral site from north of the River Mersey. 

 
The proposals would see Clatterbridge Cancer Centre services expanded with the building of a new 
cancer centre for Cheshire and Merseyside next to the new Royal Liverpool University Hospital. 

Inpatient services will move from Wirral to the Liverpool site and additional outpatient services will 
also be provided.  

Only those Wirral based patients, who need more complex treatment, or an overnight hospital stay, 
will need to travel to the new centre in Liverpool, as outpatient radiotherapy, chemotherapy and 
proton therapy services for the more common cancers – such as breast or prostate – will continue 
to be provided at the Wirral site. 

The new centre in Liverpool means that for the first time Cheshire and Merseyside Cancer patients 
will have access to expert clinical services, surgery, in-patient care, radiotherapy, chemotherapy, 
critical care, outpatient clinics and enhanced research and development with clinical trials all on one 
site. 

 

 
We need to get the views of patients, families and the wider public if we are to develop services that 
fully meet their needs. 
 
We wanted to know what the public think about our proposals so we used a variety of different ways 
to give people the opportunity to share their views with us.  

Getting public feedback 

What are the proposals? 

Agenda Item 4

Page 17



 

 

2 2 

From August 2012 to March 2013 members of the public attended events, completed an online 
survey or visited our customised ‘Action on Cancer Trailer’ which we took to busy shopping centres 
across Cheshire and Merseyside for 38, three day roadshow events.  
 
Voting boxes were also placed in hospitals and a variety of community venues, cancer support 
groups and charities across both regions. 
 
Our staff spoke to members of the public about the proposals, distributed information leaflets and 
showed a short DVD before asking people: 
 
‘Having heard about the proposals do you think they are a good idea?’ 
 

We reached approximately 90,000 people; with 14,000 people accessing the Action on Cancer 
trailer and a total of 4,164 responses returned.  
 
96 visits were made to 53 unique groups across Cheshire and Merseyside to speak to patients and 
members of the public. 
 
Analysis of the questionnaires returned showed that respondents came from the following postcode 
areas: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Who responded? 

Agenda Item 4

Page 18



 

 

3 3 

 
‘Having heard about the proposals do you think they are a good idea?’ 
 

 
 
 
Responses broken down by Postcode Area 
 

 
 
CH –includes Wirral, Flintshire, Cheshire West and Chester  
 
 
 
 

What they told us 

Agenda Item 4

Page 19



 

 

4 4 

 
 
L – includes Liverpool, Sefton (including PR8 and PR9 postcodes) and Knowsley 
 
 
 

 
 
WA – Warrington, Widnes, Runcorn and St Helens 
 

 
The emerging themes identified were: 
 

• Travel  

• Accessibility 

• Cost 

• Good Current Services 

• Ill health 

• Loss of Services 

Main themes 

Agenda Item 4

Page 20



 

 

5 5 

 

 

Travel 

 

Travel is a key emerging theme. The majority of comments relating to travel came from respondents 

in support of the proposals and reflect the opinion that the existing Cancer Centre  is ‘too far’ from 

where they live and the new centre will be beneficial in terms of distance, time and money saved. 

“My family have been affected by cancer and the travel to Clatterbridge took a lot out of them when 
they were unwell. It was too far.” 
 
Costs, parking and tunnel were also key words mentioned by South Mersey residents many of 
whom stated that they were happy with the current service provision at The Clatterbridge Cancer 
Centre.  
 
Accessibility 
 
The accessibility theme covers issues of transport and travel and also includes references to the 
availability of public and private transport, parking and congestion.  
 
Those respondents in support of the plans felt that accessibility would be improved because of the 
transport infrastructure in Liverpool.  
 
“I live in Wallasey but I am sure it would be easier for me to use public transport to get to Liverpool 
rather than Clatterbridge.” 
 
In general, those people who don’t think the proposals are a good idea felt that the new centre 
would reduce accessibility for them. They consider The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre Wirral to be 
accessible as it is close to the motorway and that Liverpool would be inaccessible due to parking 
and congestion.  
 
“Clatterbridge should stay as main hospital. It has the space for development. The Royal is 
congested by area and accessibility.” 
 
Cost 
 
The majority of the cost references were in respect of the additional costs of travel, such as parking, 
taxis and tunnel fares. 
 
“A lot of cancer patients are quite elderly and cannot travel to Clatterbridge and cannot afford taxis.” 
 
Comments on cost were balanced by Liverpool postcode residents who considered it to be positive 
as they would save money on tunnel fares. ‘Yes’ voters believed that a better transport 
infrastructure would reduce the amount of taxi journeys required to the new site. 
 
 
Good Current Health Services 
 
Respondents acknowledged the benefits of the re-location and the establishment of a new cancer 

Agenda Item 4

Page 21



 

 

6 6 

centre, linked to state of the art research and treatment facilities and the development of a world 
class health campus. 
 
Many respondents also spoke of excellent services and a preference to keep services in 
Clatterbridge. 
 

“No problems with CCC so why change?” 
 
Ill Health  
 
Respondents who have had personal experience of cancer treatment reported on the difficulties of 
travelling when feeling unwell.  
 
“A new centre will provide easier access for patients at a time when they would prefer to be nearer to 
home. Travelling can be stressful especially when someone is ill.” 
 
 
Loss of Services 
 
The loss of services was a concern for a particular minority of voters. In some cases people felt that 
the proposals might lead to the ultimate closure of services and loss of jobs at Clatterbridge. 
 
“Provided the service currently available at the existing Clatterbridge site is not diminished in any way 
then the new proposal is an excellent idea otherwise not so.” 
 

 
We want to make sure that everyone in Cheshire and Merseyside can access the right cancer 
services, at the right time and in the right place. 
 
We plan to launch a formal twelve week consultation period in Summer 2014 which will enable us to 
explore the main themes identified in the pre consultation engagement work in more detail.  
 
We anticipate making a formal request to form a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held 
in June 2014 to explore your views and take advice before we seek approval to proceed with a 
formal public consultation. 
 
This feedback will then be used as we develop our Outline Business Case which we anticipate will 
be completed in the Autumn of 2014. 
 
In the meantime if you would like us to attend a forthcoming meeting to provide an update on the 
project and present the findings of engagement work so far please contact the Transforming Cancer 
Care Project Secretary on 0151 552 1823.  
 
 
 

Next steps 

Agenda Item 4

Page 22



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Comprehensive Cancer Centre Pre-Consultation: Qualitative 

Analysis Report 

June 2013 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 23



2 

 

Contents 

Executive Summary ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

1. Background ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

2. Extant Literature .................................................................................................................................... 6 

3. Methodology ......................................................................................................................................... 6 

3.1. Data ................................................................................................................................................. 6 

3.2 Methods ........................................................................................................................................... 7 

4. Key Findings ........................................................................................................................................... 8 

4.1 Emerging Themes ............................................................................................................................... 11 

4.2 Themes per area ................................................................................................................................. 14 

4.3 Themes per vote ................................................................................................................................. 17 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 ............................................................................................................ 20 

4.4 Key Postcode Analysis ........................................................................................................................ 20 

4.4.1 Accessibility ................................................................................................................................. 20 

4.4.2 Cost ............................................................................................................................................. 21 

4.4.3 Good Current Health Services..................................................................................................... 21 

4.4.4 Ill Health ...................................................................................................................................... 21 

4.4.5 Loss of Services ........................................................................................................................... 21 

4.4.6 Travel .......................................................................................................................................... 21 

4.4.7 Visits ............................................................................................................................................ 22 

5. Summary .............................................................................................................................................. 22 

6. References ........................................................................................................................................... 24 

7. Appendix 1: Word Trees ...................................................................................................................... 25 

Word Tree of Responses That Include the Word “Support” .................................................................... 25 

Word Tree of Responses That Include the Word “Links” ......................................................................... 26 

Word Tree of Responses That Include the Word “Idea” .......................................................................... 26 

Word Tree of Responses That Include the Word “Closer” ....................................................................... 27 

8. Appendix 2: Cluster Analyses ............................................................................................................... 28 

Cluster Analysis: Postcodes Clustered by Word Similarity .................................................................. 28 

Cluster Analysis: Dendrogram of Postcodes, Vote and Themes by Word Similarity ........................... 29 

9. Appendix 3: Theme Report .................................................................................................................. 30 

Theme Report: “Travel” Theme ............................................................................................................... 30 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 24



3 

 

Executive Summary 

 

Following an independent review into cancer service provision, commissioned by the 

Merseyside and Cheshire Cancer Network (MCCN) in 2008, The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre 

NHS Foundation Trust (CCC) are in the process of developing a business case to reconfigure 

the non-surgical oncology services they provide in line with the review recommendations. In 

outline, the proposal is for CCC to build a new cancer centre in Liverpool to provide all 

oncology inpatient services and associated radiotherapy, chemotherapy and outpatient 

services that the Trust is responsible for. The Trust’s Wirral site would be retained and 

continue to provide outpatient radiotherapy and chemotherapy treatments for Wirral and 

West Cheshire patients who would find it easier to access the Wirral site rather than 

Liverpool. CCC will also retain the satellite Radiotherapy facility on the Aintree site and will 

continue to provide services in the existing clinics in hospitals across the region. This report 

contains an analysis of responses, by the Centre for Public Health (CPH), to an engagement 

survey, which was carried out by MCCN as part of the development of the business case. 

The survey included a Principal Consultation Question (PCQ) to ascertain whether network 

residents were in favour of the proposed reconfiguration and the opportunity to record, in 

their own words their reasons why they were or were not. The data gathered is largely 

qualitative and therefore has been subjected to an epistemological analytic approach using 

Nvivo computer software. The survey data comprised 4,164 responses to the PCQ. This data 

also revealed that 3,755 (90%) respondents left comments to the open question within the 

survey. 

Results 

The analysis found that respondents who opposed the reconfiguration were mainly from 

areas close to the current services (‘CH’ postcode) but that overall a large majority of 

respondents supported the proposal. 

The emerging themes identified and evidenced (in alphabetical order) were: 

· Accessibility 

· Cost 

· Good Current Services 

· Ill Health 

· Loss of Services 

· Travel  

· Visits 

Agenda Item 4

Page 25



4 

 

These themes were observed across many responses but with Loss of Services, Cost and 

Good Current Services being themes particularly pertinent to No voters and to a lesser 

extent therefore, respondents with a ‘CH’ postcode.  

 

Recommendations  

Based on the analysis within this report, it is recommended that: 

· the business case records and reflects the reported benefits to the majority of 

respondents, namely reduced travel for patients and their families and a view that 

general accessibility using public transport will be improved by locating the service in 

Liverpool. 

· the business case includes a strategy for informing and reassuring those who oppose 

the proposals that the quality of service will not reduce as a result of reconfiguration. 

· the business case makes provision to comment, as far as possible, on the possibility 

of further service reconfiguration in response to concerns that this may be the start 

of a programme of service withdrawal. 

· consideration is given to how best to further communicate which patients will need 

to receive their care in Liverpool following reconfiguration and which will continue to 

be treated at the Wirral site.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 26



5 

 

1. Background 

 

This analysis has been commissioned by NHS Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral on behalf of 

themselves and NHS Merseyside.
a
 These NHS organisations together with Specialist NHS 

Trusts, Acute Hospital Trusts and Hospices make up the Merseyside and Cheshire Cancer 

Network (MCCN)
b
. 

In 2008, MCCN commissioned an independent review of how cancer services are organised 

across the region. This showed that benefits could be gained for patients and their families 

by expanding the services provided by The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation 

Trust (CCC). The review recommended the establishment of a comprehensive cancer centre. 

The establishment of such a centre would involve the reconfiguration of current services 

such that inpatient services currently provided at The CCC on the Wirral
c
 would be located 

adjacent to the redeveloped Royal Liverpool University Hospital
d
 as well as associated 

radiotherapy, chemotherapy and outpatient services that the Trust is responsible for.  

The Trust’s Wirral site would be retained and continue to provide outpatient radiotherapy 

and chemotherapy treatments for Wirral and West Cheshire patients who would find it 

easier to access the Wirral site rather than Liverpool. CCC will also retain the satellite 

Radiotherapy facility on the Aintree site and will continue to provide services in the existing 

clinics in hospitals across the region. 

Further work is being carried out in order to develop a business case for the proposed 

investment. An engagement exercise with the local populations who might be affected by 

the proposed reconfiguration has been carried out and this report contains an analysis of 

the responses to that consultation. This engagement exercise was designed to inform local 

people about the proposal, find out whether they were in support of the proposed 

reconfiguration and inform the formal consultation exercise and development of the 

business case. Local people were asked a Principal Consultation Question (PCQ): 

“After finding out about the plans to develop a new Clatterbridge Cancer Centre for 

Cheshire and Merseyside, which would be based next to the Royal Liverpool University 

Hospital, do you think this is a good idea?” 

Respondents could either answer yes, no or not sure. Respondents were then asked to 

provide comments about their chosen answer (“why do you think this?”). This analysis 

considers the responses to the PCQ in relation to where people lived and further 

investigates the themes arising from the additional question about why people responded 

to the question in the way they had. 

                                                 
a
 These organisations are due for reorganisation under NHS reforms and cease to exist at the time of publication 

b
 For a full list of network members, see http://www.mccn.nhs.uk/index.php/about_us_network_organisations  

c
 Hereafter referred to as CCC 

d
 Hereafter referred to as the Royal Liverpool 

Agenda Item 4

Page 27



6 

 

2. Extant Literature 

 

Several reports have been produced in order to understand the technical and costing 

implications of reconfiguration. These include the Baker-Cannon report
[1]

 and the Ellison-

Cottier report
[2]

. Equality issues, such as whether the reconfiguration would positively or 

negatively impact on a group with characteristics protected by law, have also been 

considered
[3]

. These reports recognise that reconfiguration will have travel implications for 

those currently living near to the current and proposed sites. The reports conclude that 

there will be some people who will experience reduced travel as a result of the proposal and 

some for whom journey time will increase. Overall, the reports find that a majority of future 

patients will experience reduced travel time based on where the burden of disease lies 

within the MCCN population. The reports also find that a relatively small population 

experience direct travel benefits from the current service location and these benefits are no 

longer realised once the public transport journey time exceeds about 15-30 minutes.       

3. Methodology 

 

3.1. Data 

This analysis is drawn from survey data taken from a survey sample of 4,164 respondents. 

Cleaned data revealed that 3,755 (90%) respondents left comments to an open question 

within the survey. The data presented was predominantly qualitative requiring an 

epistemological approach and a method based on critical realism.  

In order to provide quantitative and qualitative analyse of the data by location, respondents 

had the opportunity to record their postcode along with their responses. There was a 

variety of responses gathered with some respondents providing a full postcode, and some 

only a partial postcode. In a few cases no postcode was given (n=23). In view of this data 

inconsistency a number of geographies have been prepared to enable analysis to take place 

(Table 1) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 28



7 

 

Table 1: Postcode Geography Definitions 

 

 Geography 

Name 

Geography Definition 

1 Liverpool 

Postcodes 

Contains all postcodes beginning “L” (Liverpool postal district). It does not including “LL” which is a N Wales 

postcode district 

2 Cheshire 

Postcodes 

Contains all postcodes beginning “CH” (Chester postal district).  The CH postcode is the most coterminous  

postcode for the Local Authority Footprints of Wirral, and Cheshire West and Chester. The classification of 

‘Cheshire’ used here is purely for ease of presentation and does not include postcodes relating to the Cheshire 

East Local Authority (“CW” or Crewe postcodes) 

3 Manchester 

Postcodes 

Contains all postcodes beginning “M” 

4 Warrington 

Postcodes 

Contains all postcodes beginning “WA” 

5 Wigan Postcodes Contains all postcodes beginning “WN” 

6 Miscellaneous 

Postcodes 

Contains all postcodes not allocated to geography 1-5 above (Liverpool – Wigan). Examples include “CW” “LL”, 

“PR”, “SY”, “ST”, “SK”, “NG” and “VH” 

7 Other Area 

Postcodes 

This grouping includes all non-Liverpool postal district  (L) or Chester postal district (CH) postcodes 

11 Not Known Either no postcode was provided or location based on classifications above could not be determined 

 

3.2 Methods 

A combination of content analysis and initial evaluation using Computer Assisted Qualitative 

Data Analysis Software (CAQDAS) package Nvivo 10 was applied to the data. CAQDAS assists 

in the identification of emerging themes using textual analysis. The data analysed included 

no missing responses in respect of the overall ‘yes, no or not sure’ consultation question. 

However, the optional follow up question responses contained some missing or textual 

errors. This qualitative analysis is broadly based upon Grounded Theory and uses a process 

of open coding and axial coding to extract and distil themes from the free text responses
e
. 

Grounded Theory in its purest form is entirely data directed and presupposes no specific 

themes from the data. In this scenario, it is clear that there are some constraints on being 

able to follow a pure Grounded Theory methodology. The pre-consultation builds on the 

extant literature and is structured on a premise that the reconfiguration will cause a 

difference of opinion between local groups, most likely with differences observed between 

groups who live near to the current or proposed sites. In this respect the analysis should be 

considered semi-inductive, that is to say that the analyst will investigate some expected 

themes in relation to location.  

                                                 
e Grounded Theory involves taking raw data and systematically distilling it to form a theory. Key points in the data are coded and then these 
codes are combined to form themes and concepts which can be developed into a theory. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 29



8 

 

4. Key Findings 

 

Analysis of the PCQ shows that significantly more people voted in support of the proposed 

changes and also that there is a significant difference in the PCQ responses of different 

locations. Figure 1 illustrates that the number of people who support the proposed 

reconfiguration is greatest from locations with a Liverpool postcode.  

Figure 1: Distribution of Votes by Postcode Area 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

Figure 2 shows the percentage of votes cast in the PCQ by each postcode area. Cheshire 

postoces dominated the No vote with Liverpool Postcodes recording the highest percentage 

of Yes vote. Warrington and Cheshire postcodes make up the majority of undecided voters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Number 

of Votes 

Postcode Area 

Agenda Item 4

Page 30



9 

 

Figure 2: Percentage of No, Yes and Not Sure votes by Postcode Area 

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

A Tree Map (Figure 3) can be used to illustrate the responses at a lower geography, 

displaying what proportion of votes came from each postcode. As Figure 3 shows ‘No’ votes 

were predominant in CH postcodes with CH64, CH43, CH62, CH45 and CH63 being ‘No 

Hotspots’. Warrington Postcodes made up a substantial proportion of the votes from people 

who were undecided. ‘Yes Hotspots’ included L36, WA7, L32, L35 and L33. This report will 

go on to consider the responses from these postcodes, designated ‘Yes’ and ‘No’ Hotspots, 

in more detail (Section 4.4). 

Figure 3: Distribution of Postcodes by Vote 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

Figures 4 and 5 show how Yes and No votes were distributed across the MCCN footprint. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 31



10 

 

Figure 4: Map of the Distribution of Yes Votes across the MCCN 

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

Figure 5: Map of the Distribution of No Votes across the MCCN 

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

Agenda Item 4

Page 32



11 

 

In order to place these responses in some context the current geographical distribution of 

people attending for in-patient treatment at CCC is shown in Figure 6. Comparing the maps 

it can be seen that the No Hotspots correspond with the areas on the map with high 

representation in the in-patient treatment population. 

Figure 6: Distribution Map of Clatterbridge Inpatients 

 

 

Source: CCC data 2013 

 

4.1 Emerging Themes 

 

A basic word frequency query was used to identify the words that were most commonly 

used in people’s free text responses (e.g. detailing why they said yes, no or not sure to the 

PCQ). These words can be visually presented in a tag cloud where the size of the word is 

proportionate to the number of times it appears
f
. Figure 6 shows the tag cloud for all the 

responses.  

 

 

 

                                                 
f
 The more often a word appears the bigger  it is in the tag cloud 

Agenda Item 4

Page 33



12 

 

Figure 7: Word Frequency Tag Cloud for All Responses 

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

This word frequency investigation formed the basisof the open coding. A coding model 

(Figure 8) shows how themes were distilled from the datatset.  In this first round of coding 

33 common themes were identified. These included themes (in no particular order)  like 

Idea, Stress, Travel, Links, Distance, Visits, Treatment, Travel, Support and Time. 

Figure 8: Research Coding Model 

 

  

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

Agenda Item 4

Page 34



13 

 

The context of each theme was explored using word trees to understand more about the 

context that each word was used in. For example, the word “stress” was used 102 times 

across all the responses. Figure 4 shows the context surrounding the word. 

Figure 9: Word Tree of Responses that Include the Word “Stress” 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

From this it is possible to see that the word ‘stress’ is most commonly used in the context of 

travelling to receive treatment. A typical response is provided below: 

Reference 39  

Having Cancer is a stress in the first place. Having to travel further for a treatment only adds to the stress. 

 

Appendix 1 contains more word trees for some of the other ambiguous themes  

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 35



14 

 

The 33 initial themes were axially coded or distilled using these methods into 7 main themes 

emerging from this engagement exercise. These are:  

· Accessibility 

· Cost 

· Good Current Services 

· Ill Health 

· Loss of Service 

· Travel 

· Visits. 

Having obtained these key themes, it is possible to repeat this exercise for smaller 

populations than the overall survey sample, such as groups from the same postcode area or 

those who voted either Yes, No or Not Sure  

 

4.2 Themes per area 

 

The overall PCQ analysis showed that respondents from Cheshire Postcodes and those from 

Liverpool Postcodes tended to demonstrate different voting behaviours. Analysing and 

comparing the word frequency of these two groups makes the reasons for their different 

positions clearer. 

Figure 10a and 10b show the word frequencies for the two postcode areas. While many of 

the words are similar, suggesting that they have a similar understanding of the proposition 

and share some of the same views, there are notable differences. 

For example, the words Costs, Parking and Tunnel have a greater prominence in responses 

from Cheshire. The word Tunnel is mentioned 10 times across Liverpool responses but 29 

times in Cheshire responses (Table 2). 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 36



15 

 

Figure 10a Word Frequency Tag Cloud for Cheshire Postcode Responses 

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

Figure 10b Word Frequency Tag Cloud for Liverpool Postcode Responses 

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 37



16 

 

Table 2: Number and percentage of responses that include the word “Tunnel” 

 

 Not 

Known 

Warrington Cheshire Liverpool Manchester Miscellaneous Wigan 

Number of responses containing "Tunnel"  2 5 29 10 0 0 1 

Total number of responses 19 1,008 792 1,776 5 117 38 

Percentage of responses which contain "Tunnel" 10.53 0.50 3.66 0.56 0.00 0.00 2.63 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

Another theme that emerged with a greater prominence from Cheshire responses was 

satisfaction with current services – the prominence of words like ‘excellent’ and ‘stay’ drew 

attention to the comments about the ‘excellent’ quality of current services and the request 

to let things ‘stay’ as they are. The following comments were typical of this theme. 

Reference 38  

I am a patient who has had an excellent series of treatments at Clatterbridge Oncology Centre. It is a well organised and 

pleasant convienent hospital to attend. 

 

Reference 96  
There is already an excellent system at clatterbridge which should be further invested in 

 

Reference 105  

As long as the new centre does not replace Clatterbridge, where my father received excellent treatment 

 

Reference 12  

Because have used services at Clatterbridge and would like it to stay as it is 

 

 

Reference 18  

Services need to stay on the Wirral 

 

Reference 24  
Clatterbridge has such a good reputatuon and should stay as it is 

 

Reference 40  

Having been treated at Countess and Clatterbridge would prefer services to stay nearby 

 

Liverpool postcode responses tended to record that a service that ‘closer’ to home was one 

reason why respondents had voted the way they had. The number of comments about 

‘travel’ as evidenced by its relative size in the tag cloud reinforces this point. The idea that 

services should be based near to where the greatest need was echoed in responses from 

Non Cheshire-Liverpool postcodes (see Appendix 1 for ‘closer’ word tree)  

Figure 11 shows a cross tabulation of the key thematic content by Postcode Area. From this 

analysis it is clear that the notion of travel and accessibility whilst potentially feeling unwell 

and issues related to visiting are a common themes for Liverpool postcode respondents and 

a large majority of respondents overall. Cheshire respondents were raising concerns of cost 

and pointing out their satisfaction with current services. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 38



17 

 

Figure 11: Number of Coded Responses by Key Theme and Postcode Area 

 

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

 

 

4.3 Themes per vote 

 

It should be noted that not everyone in a particular area voted the same way. For example, 

taking the two postcodes where the number of votes for and against were highest or most 

polarised (CH64 – ‘No’ and L36 – ‘Yes’) it can be seen that voting was not unanimous. 

Table 3: Percentage of Respondents from Selected Postcodes voting Yes, No and Not Sure 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

In view of this it is appropriate to investigate the themes that emerged from those who 

indicated support for the proposal and those who opposed it. Using similar analytical 

methods it can be seen that ‘Yes’ voters were reporting travel, closeness of services and 

meeting the needs of family. ‘No’ voters reported concerns about parking, travel, 

inconvenience and commented on the excellent quality of current services (Figures 12a and 

12b). 

 % Voting 'No' % Voting 'Yes' % Voting 'Not Sure' 

Postcode = CH64 63.5 23.8 12.7 

Postcode = L36 1.0 98.0 1.0 

Number of 

Coded 

Responses 

Agenda Item 4

Page 39



18 

 

 

Figure 12a: Word Frequency Tag Cloud for Yes Responses  

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

 

Figure 12b: Word Frequency Tag Cloud for No Responses 

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

Agenda Item 4

Page 40



19 

 

 

The different perspective of the two groups is also observed in the analysis of the key 

themes. Figure 13 shows the number of comments made in respect of each theme by the 

two groups and it is striking that the number of comments relating to accessibility made by 

the Yes group outnumber all the comments relating to key themes made by the No group. 

However it is important to ensure that the total number of respondents in each group does 

not distort the picture – there were many more yes vote responses than no vote responses. 

For example,  the number of ‘cost’ comments from the ‘no’ voter group is quite similar to 

the number made by the ‘Yes’ group but as  Figure 14, which is a presentation of themes as 

a percentage of comments made by each group, shows there is a greater proportion of 

‘cost’ comments coming from the ‘no’ voter group. In this respect it is easy to compare 

which themes were particularly pertinent to each group. 

Figure 13: Number of Coded References of Key Theme By Yes/No Vote  

 

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000 3500

No Vote Content

Yes Vote Content

A : Accessibility

B : Cost

C : Good Current Services

D : Ill Health

E : Loss of Services

F : Travel

G : Visits

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 41



20 

 

Figure 14: Key Themes Expressed as a Percentage of the Yes and No Votes 

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

 

4.4 Key Postcode Analysis 

 

Having identified that there are different perspectives across groups of voters and that 

these voters were generally split by location (Cheshire/Liverpool), it is worth considering in a 

little more detail what respondents are actually saying about the key themes. In order to do 

this, analysis has been focussed on the responses of those areas with the most polarised 

views. i.e. postcodes that could be described as being ‘Yes’ or ‘No’ vote Hotspots.  

Figure 15: Number of Coded References by Theme and Vote Hotspot 

 

 A : No Hotspot B : Yes Hotspot 

1 : Accessibility 84 217 

2 : Cost 84 45 

3 : Good Current Services 38 27 

4 : Ill Health 8 40 

5 : Loss of Services 5 - 

6 : Travel 104 425 

7 : Visits 35 112 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

The themes are considered in detail below: 

4.4.1 Accessibility 

The accessibility theme is defined by issues of transport and travel, but more specifically this 

theme includes references to the availability of public and private transport, parking and 

congestion. In general, ‘No’ Hotspot responses recorded that a move would reduce 

accessibility for them and ‘Yes’ Hotspot respondents reported that accessibility would be 

improved because of the transport infrastructure in Liverpool. A detailed analysis of Hotspot 

Agenda Item 4

Page 42



21 

 

responses showed that ‘No’ vote responses considered Clatterbridge to be accessible as it 

was close to the motorway and that Liverpool was inaccessible due to parking and 

congestion. ‘Yes’ vote responses focussed on what they believed to be better public 

transport network to Liverpool.   

4.4.2 Cost 

Although cost was mentioned in several different contexts, the majority of the cost 

references were in respect of the additional costs of travel, such as parking, taxis and tunnel 

fares. ‘No Hotspot’ respondents tended to report that the tunnel costs would be additional 

to them if the service moved whereas ‘Yes Hotspot’ respondents reported that taxi fees 

were currently additional for them.   

4.4.3 Good Current Health Services 

Comments relating to this theme were made in qualification of a preference to keep 

services in Clatterbridge. Many respondents spoke of excellent services and the notion of ‘if 

it ain’t broke don’t fix it’ was expressed. 

4.4.4 Ill Health  

Respondents who have had personal experience of cancer treatment (either themselves, a 

friend or relative) reported on the difficulties of travelling when feeling unwell. Respondents 

from ‘Yes Hotspot’ postcode areas in particular commented on this issue with 40 ‘ill health’ 

references being reported against 8 from the ‘No Hotspot’.  

4.4.5 Loss of Services 

The loss of services was a concern for a particular minority of voters. This theme was 

especially linked with those who reported personal experience of current service provision 

in ‘No Hotspot’ postcodes. In some of these cases it was clear that the respondent felt that 

this might be the thin end of a wedge, resulting in the ultimate closure of services and loss 

of jobs at Clatterbridge. For example:  

Reference 2  

A devious way of closing the oncology unit at Clatterbridge, which is highly regarded for people in Wirral, Cheshire and N. 

Wales 

Two respondents made specific reference to the relocation of other health services away 

from the Wirral.    

4.4.6 Travel  

Travel is by far the most commented on theme to emerge from the responses. Travel 

comments are predominantly related to distance. Issues of general transport availability 

have been collected under the accessibility theme. However, reference to transport ‘links’ 

have been recorded within this theme. The majority of those comments relating to travel 

come from respondents with Liverpool postcodes and reflect the opinion that current 

provision is ‘too far’. Many made reference to the difficulties of travelling when ill. A typical 

response is recorded below: 

Agenda Item 4

Page 43



22 

 

 

Reference 1  
Family have been affected by cancer and the travel to Clatterbridge took alot out of them when they were unwell. It was 

too far. 

 

4.4.7 Visits 

Many respondents were clearly able to draw on personal experience of cancer treatment 

services. Analysis shows that some 75 references were made to parents who had cancer and 

had used services. Many of these comments were surrounded by reflections on travel and 

accessibility for the individuals who were receiving treatment but many also commented 

about the importance of the patient’s support network and therefore the need to make it 

easy to visit. Analysing hotspot responses in respect of this theme, it is clear that the No 

Hotspot respondents valued the proximity of current services to them and their family, 

whereas Yes Hotspot respondents reported the difficulty families had travelling to 

Clatterbridge.  

Appendix 3 includes examples of these responses. 

5. Summary 

 

The qualitative analysis identifies and evidences the following emerging themes (in 

alphabetical order): 

· Accessibility  

· Cost 

· Good Current Services  

· Ill Health  

· Loss of Service  

· Travel  

· Visits 

These themes were generally observed across the whole dataset but it is clear that different 

perspectives exist between those who voted ‘Yes’ and those who voted ‘No’. There was also 

a geographical dimension to the responses but as Figure 16 shows this was not as strong an 

association as voting behaviour.  

The Cluster Analysis (Figure 16) uses statistical methods to chart the similarity of the words 

used by the groups selected and the spatial relationship between objects in the chart shows 

how similar they are. The closer together a group the more similar the content of the 

responses. From this chart it is possible to see that ‘No’ votes are the ones most closely 

Agenda Item 4

Page 44



23 

 

associated with some of the themes like Ill health, Loss of Services , Cost and Good Current 

Services. 

Figure 16: Cluster Analysis of Themes, Votes and Postcode Area by Word Similarity 

 

 

Source: Engagement survey 2013 

Based on the analysis within this report, it is recommended that: 

· the business case records and reflects the benefits that the majority of respondents 

reported, namely reduced travel for the majority of patients and their families and a 

view that general accessibility using public transport will be improved by locating the 

service in Liverpool. 

· the business case includes a strategy for informing and reassuring those who oppose 

the proposals that the quality of service will not reduce as a result of reconfiguration. 

· the business case makes provision to comment, as far as possible, on the possibility 

of further service reconfiguration in response to concerns that this may be the start 

of a programme of service withdrawal. 

· consideration is given to how best to further communicate which patients will need 

to receive their care in Liverpool following reconfiguration and which will continue to 

be treated at the Wirral site.  

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 45



24 

 

6. References 

 

1. Baker, M.R. and Cannon, R.C. (2008) The organisation and delivery of no-surgical 

oncology services in the Merseyside and Cheshire Cancer Network: A feasibility study 

into the potential for the relocation of non-surgical oncology services from 

Clatterbridge to Liverpool, Cancer Taskforce. 

2. Ellison, T. and Cottier, B. (2009) An Analysis of Radiotherapy Services in the 

Merseyside and Cheshire Cancer Network, The National Cancer Services Analysis 

Team. 

3. Hennessey, M.,  McHale, P. and Perkins, C. (2013) Equality Considerations in the 

Development of a Comprehensive Cancer Centre, 2013, Centre for Public Health: 

Liverpool John Moores University. 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 46



25 

 

7. Appendix 1: Word Trees 

Word Tree of Responses That Include the Word “Support”   

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 47



26 

 

Word Tree of Responses That Include the Word “Links”   

 

 

 

Word Tree of Responses That Include the Word “Idea”   

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 48



27 

 

Word Tree of Responses That Include the Word “Closer”   

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 49



28 

 

8. Appendix 2: Cluster Analyses 

 

Cluster Analysis: Postcodes Clustered by Word Similarity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes Cluster 

No Cluster 

Agenda Item 4

Page 50



29 

 

Cluster Analysis: Dendrogram of Postcodes, Vote and Themes by Word Similarity 

 
The closer together items are in the tree above, the more similar their word content: For example, the responses the mention 

‘accessibility’ were most similar to responses from WA7 and WA postcodes 

Agenda Item 4

Page 51



30 

 

9. Appendix 3: Theme Report 

Theme Report: “Travel” Theme 

Appendix_Travel report (excerpt) 
 

Name Description Number Of Coding 

References 

Coded Text Percent Coverage Of 

Source 

Travel Report  0   

Travel Report Key Theme. Distilled 

from references relating 

to Travel. Includes 

Stemmed words and 

synonyms for...Distance, 

Far, Near, Journey 

1,733 A centre for the care of 

cancer patient and for 

research in to finding 

cures would be one of 

the most useful 

establishments one 

could hope for. 

Especially now that so 

many advancements 

have been made. Things 

will get better. 

0.02 % 

Travel Report Key Theme. Distilled 

from references relating 

to Travel. Includes 

Stemmed words and 

synonyms for...Distance, 

Far, Near, Journey 

1,733 A centre of excellence 

seems a good idea, as 

long as it does not take 

money and resources 

from local services. 

0.02 % 

Travel Report Key Theme. Distilled 

from references relating 

to Travel. Includes 

Stemmed words and 

synonyms for...Distance, 

Far, Near, Journey 

1,733 A city like Liverpool 

should have its own 

centre to ease the 

burden of travelling to 

clatterbridge 

0.02 % 

Travel Report Key Theme. Distilled 

from references relating 

to Travel. Includes 

Stemmed words and 

synonyms for...Distance, 

Far, Near, Journey 

1,733 A devious way of closing 

the oncology unit at 

Clatterbridge, which is 

highly regarded for 

people in Wirral, 

Cheshire and N. Wales 

0.02 % 

Travel Report Key Theme. Distilled 

from references relating 

to Travel. Includes 

Stemmed words and 

synonyms for...Distance, 

Far, Near, Journey 

1,733 a good place to go good 

bus service and train 

0.02 % 

Travel Report Key Theme. Distilled 

from references relating 

to Travel. Includes 

Stemmed words and 

synonyms for...Distance, 

Far, Near, Journey 

1,733 A layman's view. 

Provided the service 

currently available at the 

existing Clatterbridge 

site is not diminished in 

any way then the new 

proposal is an excellent 

idea otherwise not so. 

To avoid confusion the 

Liverpool site should 

have a separate name 

0.02 % 

Travel Report Key Theme. Distilled 

from references relating 

to Travel. Includes 

Stemmed words and 

synonyms for...Distance, 

Far, Near, Journey 

1,733 A long way from home. 0.02 % 

Agenda Item 4

Page 52



31 

 

Travel Report Key Theme. Distilled 

from references relating 

to Travel. Includes 

Stemmed words and 

synonyms for...Distance, 

Far, Near, Journey 

1,733 A long way to travel 

when visiting 

Clatterbridge, so the 

Royal will be good. 

0.02 % 

Travel Report Key Theme. Distilled 

from references relating 

to Travel. Includes 

Stemmed words and 

synonyms for...Distance, 

Far, Near, Journey 

1,733 A lot more research and 

treatment is needed to 

help people with cancer 

and also to help families 

come to terms with their 

diagnosis. 

0.02 % 

 

Reports\\Appendix_Travel Report (excerpt) Page 1 of 185 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 53



32 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Authors: Matthew Hennessey 

 

 

Centre for Public Health  

Research Directorate  

Faculty of Health and Applied Social Sciences  

Liverpool John Moores University  

2nd Floor, Henry Cotton Campus  

15-21 Webster Street  

Liverpool  

L3 2ET  

 

Tel:  +44 (0)151 231 4535 

Fax:  +44 (0)151 231 4552 

  

Email:  info@cph.org.uk 

Web:   www.cph.org.uk   

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 54



 

 Working Smarter for Better Health 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Comprehensive Cancer Centre for 

Cheshire and Merseyside 

 

Stakeholder Engagement  

Pre-Consultation Report 

 

November 2011 to March 2013 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

       Jacqueline Robinson       

                                                                   Head of Patient & Public Voice 

                              

                           May 2013 

 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 55



Pre-Consultation Report  

2 

 

 

Contents 
 
 
 
 
 
Background ………………………………………………………………….………        3 -   7 

 

 

Introduction ……………………………………………………………….…………        8 -   9 
             
  

 

Statutory and Legal Context for Communications and Engagement Activity …...   10  

 

   Stakeholder Involvement                                                                                         11 - 13  
           

o Target Audiences          
        

o Engagement Channels          
       

o Key Messages 
            
  

  

         Range of Activity/Methodology …………………………………………….………      14 - 17 

 

 Summary and Recommendations…………..………………..……………………      18 

            
     

      

     Appendices                                                                                                      

     Appendix 1 Analysis of Patient and Public Feedback 

     Appendix 2 Stakeholder Engagement Matrix Model 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 56



Pre-Consultation Report  

3 

 

1. Background   
 

Cancer incidence and mortality in Cheshire and Merseyside 
 

 1.1 Incidence (new cases) and mortality (death rates) represent a major challenge 

 within Merseyside and Cheshire.  For all cancers combined, the incidence of new  cancers  

   (Fig.1) and cancer mortality rates across the network are higher than the national average.   

   Breast, lung, colorectal, prostate and upper gastro-intestinal (GI) cancers account for over  

   90% of all new cases of cancer and over 75% of cancer deaths, both nationally and across   

  the NHS cluster area. 

 

1.2 The incidence of new cases of breast cancer across the cluster is lower than the national 

average.  Mortality rates for breast cancer across the cluster are lower than the national 

average except for in Liverpool. The incidence of new cases of lung cancer across the cluster 

is higher than the national average and almost twice the national rate in Liverpool and 

Knowsley. Similarly, lung cancer mortality rates across the cluster are higher than the 

national average and almost twice the national rate in Liverpool and Knowsley. 

 

1.3 The incidence of new cases of colorectal cancer and colorectal cancer mortality rates are 

higher across the cluster than the national average. The incidence of new cases of prostate 

cancer across the cluster is lower than the national average except for Sefton. Prostate 

cancer mortality rates across the cluster are higher than the national average. The incidence 

of new cases of upper GI cancer across the cluster is higher than the national average 

(Fig.13).  Similarly, upper GI cancer mortality rates across the cluster are higher than the 

national average.   

 

NB 

•  All incidence and mortality rates are per 100,000 population 

 

• Incidence data is for 2006-8 

 

• Mortality data is for 2007-9 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 57



Pre-Consultation Report  

4 

 

       

Fig.1 Incidence of new cancers (all cancers)

390.8

474.7 461.4
416.7 421.4 402.3

354.8

427.3

314.8

0.0
50.0

100.0
150.0
200.0
250.0
300.0
350.0
400.0
450.0
500.0

England Liverpool Know sley Sefton Halton & St

Helens 

Western

Cheshire 

Warrington Wirral Central &

Eastern

Cheshire

 
 

 

Current configuration of cancer services 

Hospital Cancer Services 

 

Thirteen hospital trusts provide cancer services within the Merseyside and Cheshire Cancer 

Network. Ten of these 13 are designated to provide specific specialist (tertiary) cancer 

services. Table 1 shows which hospitals host specialist teams, most of which have been 

officially designated by commissioners through the cancer network in response to NICE 

improving outcomes guidance. The table also shows which hospitals provide non-specialist 

(secondary care level) diagnostic and treatment services for their local populations 

 

Table 1: The distribution of specialist cancer services in the network 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 58



Pre-Consultation Report  

5 

 

 

A
in

tr
e

e
 U

n
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

H
o

sp
it

a
ls

 

A
ld

e
r 

H
e

y
 

C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 H
o

sp
it

a
l 

B
e

ts
i C

a
d

w
a

ld
r 

U
n

iv
e

rs
it

y
 H

e
a

lt
h

 

B
o

a
rd

 

C
la

tt
e

rb
ri

d
g

e
 

C
e

n
tr

e
 f

o
r 

O
n

co
lo

g
y
 

C
o

u
n

te
ss

 o
f 

C
h

e
st

e
r 

H
o

sp
it

a
l 

Li
v
e

rp
o

o
l H

e
a

rt
 a

n
d

 

C
h

e
st

 H
o

sp
it

a
l 

Li
v
e

rp
o

o
l W

o
m

e
n

’s
 

H
o

sp
it

a
l 

R
o

y
a

l L
iv

e
rp

o
o

l a
n

d
 

B
ro

a
d

g
re

e
n

 

U
n

iv
e

rs
it

y
 H

o
sp

it
a

ls
 

S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 a

n
d

 

O
rm

sk
ir

k
 H

o
sp

it
a

ls
 

S
t 

H
e

le
n

s 
a

n
d

 

K
n

o
w

sl
e

y
 H

o
sp

it
a

ls
 

T
h

e
 W

a
lt

o
n

 C
e

n
tr

e
 

W
ir

ra
l U

n
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

W
a

rr
in

g
to

n
 a

n
d

 

H
a

lt
o

n
 H

o
sp

it
a

ls
 

Local cancer 

services
1
 

�  �  � 
Lung 

only 

Gynae 

only 
� � �  � � 

Anal        �      

Brain & CNS           �   

Chemotherapy
2
 

Clin

ic 
  � clinic   clinic clinic 

clin

ic 
  clinic 

Children’s  �            

Head & neck �             

Liver �             

Lung surgery      �        

Neuro-

endocrine
3
 

�       �      

Ocular        �      

Oesophago-

gastrc 
�  �   �        

Pancreas        �      

Radiotherapy
.
 �   �          

Sarcoma        �      

Specialist gynae       �       

Specialist 

haematology 
       �      

Specialist skin
4
        �  �    

Teenage & 

young adult
5
 

 �  �    �      

Testicular        �      

Specialist 

urology 
       �    �  

                                                           
1
 ‘Local cancer services’ defined as diagnosing and treating most common cancers. 

2
 Clatterbridge provides out-reach clinics for daycase chemotherapy on several hospital sites. 

3
 A single neuro-endocrine specialist multidisciplinary team (MDT) is managed jointly by Aintree and the Royal. 

4
 Specialist skin MDT is hosted by St Helens & Knowsley. Associated unit is the Royal for T-cell lymphoma. 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 59



Pre-Consultation Report  

6 

 

Radiotherapy 

The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust (CCC) is the sole provider of 

radiotherapy within the Merseyside and Cheshire Cancer Network (MCCN). The centre is 

based in Bebington on Wirral and treats around 5,500 patients with radiotherapy each year.  

A course of treatment for most patients will be made up of a series of appointments during 

which they will receive fractions of their overall dose of radiotherapy. CCC delivers 

approximately 83,000 fractions of radiotherapy each year. Ninety per cent of these 

treatments are for patients living within the Merseyside and Cheshire Cancer Network area. 

 

Although 67% of the patients served by CCC live north of the River Mersey, CCC is located 

south of the river. Relative to the number of new cancers diagnosed, the PCTs on the south 

side of the river (Wirral and Western Cheshire) account for a larger number of the 

radiotherapy fractions delivered within the network, compared with patients elsewhere in 

the network, although it must be noted that the Sefton population appear to benefit from 

higher radiotherapy rates than other PCTs north of the Mersey, which might be explained by 

the higher numbers of older residents. 

 

It would appear that the patients who live closest to the radiotherapy centre benefit from 

greatest access to treatment. The effect of distance upon access may be most apparent in 

the frailest of patients.  

 

To improve access for patients, CCC opened a satellite radiotherapy unit adjacent to the 

Walton Centre in early 2011. This provides services for patients requiring radical (curative) 

radiotherapy for breast, prostate and lung cancer as well as stereotactic radio-surgery. This 

benefits around 900 patients a year (a little over a third of the total number of patients 

living north of the River Mersey who need radiotherapy). Patients needing more complex 

radiotherapy or who have other medical needs cannot be treated at a satellite unit as they 

require the full medical support only available in a cancer centre.  Thus many Cheshire and 

Merseyside residents continue to need access to the service at Clatterbridge. 

  

Chemotherapy 

Chemotherapy for haematological malignancies is delivered under the care of consultant 

haematologists in local hospitals operating within local multidisciplinary teams. Patients 

requiring specialist diagnosis and treatment are managed through the multidisciplinary 

team based at the Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust.  

Chemotherapy for solid tumours (i.e. non-haematological) is delivered under the care of 

oncologists employed by The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre. All inpatient chemotherapy is 

given at CCC’s base in Bebington on Wirral, but patients can access outpatient or day-case 

chemotherapy more locally through 11 weekly clinics operated by CCC oncologists on six 

hospital sites.  Approximately 70% of chemotherapy patients are treated in these clinics and 

this is set to rise as nearly all new chemotherapy treatments expected to come into clinical 

practice will not require an inpatient stay.  

Agenda Item 4

Page 60



Pre-Consultation Report  

7 

 

Surgical oncology 

Most patients requiring surgery for cancer are able to have their operation at their local 

hospital, under the care of a local multidisciplinary team. This is the case for many common 

cancers, such as breast and bowel, where there are sufficient numbers of patients to 

maintain the surgical skills of local teams. 

 

Patients with less common cancers, or those requiring more complex operations, will have 

their care managed by specialist multidisciplinary teams hosted in fewer, designated 

hospitals.  Largely in response to national guidance from the National Institute for Health 

and Clinical Excellence (NICE), the centralisation of specialist surgery has quickened pace 

over the last decade.  

Pathology 

With the exception of The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre and Liverpool Heart and Chest 

Hospital, each trust in the network hosts a pathology department. These departments are 

not homogenous, and they operate as a network to ensure that all patients have access to 

clinically appropriate pathology tests and expertise irrespective of where they live and what 

their local hospital can provide.  The pathology departments in each of the general acute 

trusts provide a broad range services which reflect the hospital services they provide. 

Where a trust hosts a specialist multidisciplinary team, the trust’s pathology department 

likewise develops specialist expertise. 

Radiology and nuclear medicine 

All trusts in the network have a radiology department that supports day to day clinical 

services. As with pathology departments, the radiology teams work as a network so that 

patients requiring more specialist imaging or interventional radiology procedures can be 

referred on to other trusts if their local trust does not provide the service.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 61



Pre-Consultation Report  

8 

 

2. Introduction 
 

In 2008, MCCN commissioned an independent review of how cancer services are organised 

across the region which showed that benefits could be gained for patients and their families 

by expanding the services provided by The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust.  

 

The review recommended that The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre to build a new centre in Liverpool 

adjacent to the redeveloped Royal Hospital and The University of Liverpool, to provide all oncology 

inpatient services and associated radiotherapy, chemotherapy and outpatient services that the Trust 

is responsible for.  

The Trust’s Wirral site would be retained and continue to provide outpatient radiotherapy and 

chemotherapy treatments for Wirral and West Cheshire patients. CCC will also retain the satellite 

radiotherapy facility on the Aintree Hospital site and will continue to provide existing clinics in 

hospitals across the region. 

 
 

A comprehensive pre-consultation plan was developed to inform and engage with key 

stakeholders regarding the proposals to develop a new Clatterbridge Cancer Centre.     

 

The pre-consultation was undertaken within the spirit and guiding principle that in everything 

we do we should be cognisant of the Governments commitment introduced in 2011 and 

within the 2012 Health and Social Care Act, of: “No decision about me without me”  which 

puts patients, service users and their carers at the centre of the decision making process.  

 

The aims of the plan were to ensure that decisions/recommendations are informed and 

guided by the views of stakeholders and patients, carers, and the public, which should in turn 

lead to more responsive decision-making and developing services that are more appropriate 

to meet the needs of patients now and in the future.  

 

The Plan also sought to:- 
 

o Outline the objectives for communications and engagement within the project; 

o Define the communications and stakeholder engagement strategic approach; 

o Define the development of communications and key messages; 

o Identify the stakeholder groups (key target audiences); 

o Identify the channels of communications for these stakeholders; 

o Plan communications and engagement activities;  

o Systematically record all engagement aligned to the requirements set out in 2012 

Health and Social Care Act, encompass Real Accountability standards in regard to 

“duty to consult”; and also the Cabinet Office Code of Conduct for public 

consultations. 

o To ensure that all phases of the consultation will be composite, and will be 

compliant with the requirements set out in the Service Reconfiguration 

Assurance Framework 2011. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 62



Pre-Consultation Report  

9 

 

o Define the means of monitoring feedback and evaluating the success of 

communications and engagement. 

 

The plan has adopted a management approach that identifies stakeholder communications 

and engagement as a key support function.  As with any programme of work, clear, effective 

communications should be a fundamental consideration from the outset to ensure all key 

stakeholders are informed and engaged.  The Plan underpinned and contributed to the 

achievement of the above aims by using the following two key principles:   

 

Communications as a core competency: It was agreed that we must meet the formal 

expectations for full, on-going and meaningful engagement with all stakeholders.  We 

wished to go further than simply what is required of us to ensure that this engagement is 

genuinely comprehensive and adds value to the proposals to be detailed in the Outline 

Business Care, and thereby contributing to the best possible outcomes. 

 

Excellence in planning, managing and evaluating communication: We will ensure we 

provide feedback to those we engage regarding the outcome of what has been said, where 

the feedback has made an influence, and if it has not been possible to respond to it, why 

not. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 63



Pre-Consultation Report  

10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Statutory and Legal Context for Communications & Engagement Activity 
 

The plan was supported by the Strategic Overview Board comprising senior executive 

officers from The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust, The Royal Liverpool 

and Broadgreen University Hospital Trust and NHS Cheshire and Merseyside (PCT) Clusters, 

in delivering its communications and engagement responsibilities.  There are a number of 

key specific documents that informed and shaped the plan. 
 

• Service Reconfiguration Assurance Framework, April 2011 

 

• Framework for Collaborative Agreement in Managing Service Change at         

Regional Level, NHS North of England  

 

• Major Service Change Briefing Checklist, NHS North of England 

 

• DH Operating Framework for the NHS in England 2012/13 

With specific relevance to Improve Services for Patients, in one of the four key themes 

for all NHS organisations during 2012/13: “putting patients at the centre of decision 

making in preparing for an outcomes approach to service delivery, whilst improving 

dignity and service to patients and meeting essential standards of care;  

 

• New rules on service reconfiguration Indicative evidence requirements against the 

“Four Tests’ 

Test 1 – support from GP commissioners  

Test 2 – strengthened public and patient engagement  

Test 3 – clarity on the clinical evidence base  

Test 4 – consistency with current and prospective patient  

              choice  

 

• 2012 Health and Social Care Act 

With specific relevance to “The Case for Change” in regard to “Need for 

improvement.” At its best, the NHS is world‐leading, but there are important areas 

where the NHS falls behind those of other major European countries. If we had 

cancer survival rates at the average in Europe, we would save 5,000 lives a year”.  

 

There was an absolute commitment from all partners to carry out the work with full 

engagement from all stakeholders, particularly local patients, carers, providers and 

staff and it was planned and agreed to take an integrated approach to programme of 

work  

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 64



Pre-Consultation Report  

11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Stakeholder involvement 

 
It is vital to involve a wide range of stakeholders in the debate for change.   It is advised 

that reconfiguration plans and the real and continuing benefits for patients that these 

plans are designed to bring, are shared with a wide range of stakeholders.  This ensures 

that people are informed about the reasons for the proposed changes and that they have 

an opportunity to comment on and influence these plans.   

 

NHS Merseyside, who transitioned into the Merseyside Commissioning Support Unit 

during this period, acted as the lead organisation with the Head of Engagement and Head 

of Corporate Affairs working closely with the Director of Communications and the Head of 

Patient Experience from NHS Cheshire, Warrington, and Wirral (which also became a 

Commissioning Support Unit) in having one consistent communication and engagement 

plan in place, which was inclusive of key stakeholders in the North and South Mersey 

regions. 

 

The feedback from this activity would be used to begin to inform the Outline Business 

Case.   

 

Assuming a positive response to the Outline Business Case, the plan will then be built 

upon and will inform the next stage of the process which is an extensive formal 

consultation programme expected to run for a minimum of 12 weeks beginning autumn 

2013. 

 

The 3 phases of consultation envisaged are:- 

 

• Pre-consultation as part of the development of recommendations 

• Formal consultation on the actual recommendations for change 

• Post-consultation feedback detailing how the decision is being implemented 

 

As an early involvement strategy, Cheshire and Merseyside LINks (which has now 

transitioned into Healthwatch) were brought together in October 2011 to be informed 

about the proposals and to seek their support and collaboration in ensuring local people 

are involved in the pre-consultation activity.  Representatives acknowledged and valued 

this early indicative plan and responded positively to our request for developing a 

collaborative approach to engage patients and the public in the pre-consultation process. 

 

Target Audiences     
The approach to communication and engagement aims to be comprehensive and robust.  

Our aim was to work closely with key organisations that can easily communicate with a 

range of audiences in the area, as follows: 

Agenda Item 4

Page 65



Pre-Consultation Report  

12 

 

 

o Local residents 

o Patients and Carers 

o Third sector providers 

o Voluntary Patient Groups  

o Hospital Trust Members 

o Hospital Trust Volunteers 

o Local Involvement Networks (LINks/Healthwatch)  

o Local Council for Volunteer Service networks 

o Cheshire and Merseyside NHS Cluster Boards 

o Chairs and Chief Officers of Clinical Commissioning Governing Bodies 

o GPs members across Cheshire and Merseyside 

o Chairs of Local Medical Committees (LMCs) 

o Cluster Medical Directors 

o Primary and Secondary Care Trust Communication and Engagement Leads 

o Hospital Trust Chief Executive Officers 

o Hospital Senior Operational Managers 

o Senior Consultant Cancer Clinicians  

o Associated Operational Clinicians and staff  

o Cheshire and Merseyside Cancer Networks 

o The University of Liverpool  

o Local Authority Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

o Members of Parliament for constituent localities;  

o NHS North of England 

o Year of Action on Cancer leadership and operational group 

o Local media 

 

 

Engagement Channels 
Stakeholder engagement used a range of channels to promote and explain the purpose and 

progress of the review, including:  

 

o Senior officer meetings 

o Attendance at Scrutiny panels 

o Launch events 

o Community based roadshows covering constituent PCT areas across Cheshire 

and  Merseyside 

o Local Activity Programme for 3
rd

 sector 

o Local Activity at GP practices 

o Local Activity at Hospital Trusts 

o Targeted letters and emails 

o Newsletters information within Hospital Trust membership publications 

o Web based consultation information 

o Web  based questionnaire  

 

A matrix demonstrating reach to respective groups is detailed Appendix 2 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 66



Pre-Consultation Report  

13 

 

 

Key Messages 
A consistent set of key messages ran through all communications.  These messages are 

segmented into the following themes:  

 

a) Continue to focus on making sure patients and service users receive high quality 

care that treats illness and supports people to stay healthy. 

 

b) Support staff to have the skills and knowledge needed to provide modern, 

responsive and consistently high quality care. 

 

c) Make sure organisations, and contractual arrangements between commissioner and 

providers, are focused on supporting this. 

 

It is vital that we were absolutely clear why these changes are important, what they are 

about, what the projected outcome are and that we are consistent in communicating 

this in all programme activity as well as any formal communications outputs and 

consultation activities. 

 

The following key messages will be covered in all communications to all key 

stakeholders: 

 

• The need for change 

• Why is this a local priority 

• Who will it affect 

• What are the benefits 

• What are the risks 

• What does this means to local people and services  

• How it will be implemented 

• What are the timescales  

• What can you influence 

• What are your views on this proposal 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 67



Pre-Consultation Report  

14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Range of  Activity and Methodology 

 
A range of opportunities and methods were undertaken to elicit the views of key 

stakeholders.   

 

Each NHS partner agreed a reporting schedule to relevant Trust, Cluster, and Clinical 

Commissioning Group Boards throughout the year.  The dialogue began with an update on 

the communication and engagement approach and asked for feedback on areas for 

improvement.   

 

Information updates were provided at the Strategic Overview Group meetings which had 

provider, commissioner and cancer network senior representatives in attendance.  The 

meetings were jointly chaired on a rotating system by the Chairperson from The 

Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust and the Royal Liverpool and 

Broadgreen University Hospital Trust.   

 

The pre-consultation communication and engagement plan was also shared with NHS 

North West Strategic Health Authority lead for service reconfigurations.   

 

The respective Commissioning Support Unit staff attended relevant patient/stakeholder 

meetings to share plans and ask for feedback.  

 

In order to affect a broader engagement model, communication and marketing collateral 

was developed to support the programme which partners, staff and volunteers had full 

use of to assist their support and consistency of message:- 

 

•    A cancer centre summary document was developed using lay terms outlining the 

health of the population, current service provision, and the proposal for change, 

the benefits to patients, and how to make comment on the plans.   

 

•    The booklet was complimented with response cards which could be returned via 

freepost, by visiting the roadshows, or visiting the many venues where response 

boxes were placed and is detailed later in the report.  Alternative language, fonts, 

and audio options were made available upon request. 

 

•    A customised cancer trailer vehicle was used to run the community roadshows. 

 

•    An on-line survey was created to enable virtual feedback. 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 68



Pre-Consultation Report  

15 

 

•    A website address to learn more and also feedback was used in partnership with 

the Action on Cancer initiative and the Cheshire and Merseyside Cancer Network 

website also displayed this as a link www.actiononcancer.org 

    

•    A dedicated phoneline (standard charge) was made available to receive comments 

and answer any questions rising from the information booklet. 

 

•    A frequently asked questions sheet was uploaded onto websites and provided at 

roadshows for staff and volunteers to use where necessary. 

    

•    Post boxes were places in GP practices, hospitals, carers centres, support groups,  

Charities and hospices. 

 

Marketing Collateral Images 

   Post Box for Returns                                 Post Card  for Comments   

                      
 

 

Roadshow Trailer 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 69



Pre-Consultation Report  

16 

 

Volunteer and Staff Identity materials also advertises website to find out more and 

feedback comments. 

 
 

 

Two launch events were held, the first at The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre site and the 

second at the Liverpool Medical Institute.   NHS Merseyside and NHS Cheshire, Warrington 

and Wirral Cluster commissioners opened the events to share the proposals.  Leading 

clinicians from both Trusts (Dr. Nicky Thorpe and Dr. Chris Holcombe) presented the plans 

for change along with a screening of a patient experience DVD which was produced to 

share the patient perspective of having excellent care and what the benefits of the 

proposed change would mean in terms of improving patient experience and creating 

greater positive patient health outcomes.  Key stakeholder organisations were invited to 

attend the launch events and make recommendations on how to create an inclusive and 

wide reaching engagement model, along with requesting their commitment to work in 

collaboration to help raise awareness of the proposal.  Invited stakeholders ranged from 

constituent local authorities, clinical commissioning groups, Hospital Trust Governors and 

members, locality based cancer support groups, carers groups, hospices, charities, , LINKs, 

Liverpool University. 

 

Two volunteer engagement events followed also held in the North and South of the 

Mersey to support local uptake.  The aim was to ask local groups andorganisations to be 

partners in the engagement.  Over 40 local residents, many of whom were representatives 

of local support groups, LINKs, Clatterbridge Cancer Centre Governors, and carers groups, 

were volunteers at numerous road shows.  Their commitment in extremely challenging 

weather conditions was magnificent and testament to their on-going support to improve 

cancer services for local people.  Joining in such a high profile engagement activity gave 

opportunities for volunteers to promote the groups and organisations they were affiliated 

to gain new members or raise awareness of what support is available in communities 

without the incurring the expenses associated with promotion and advertising. 

 

The customised cancer trailer vehicle was used to facilitate 38 x 3 day long roadshows 

across Cheshire and Merseyside covering Liverpool, Halton, St. Helens, Sefton, Knowsley, 

Warrington, Wirral, Chester and East and West Cheshire.  High footfall areas such as 

shopping centres, town centres, city centre areas were used to site the vehicle for three 

days per visit.  Over 84,000 people passed the vehicle, with 14,500 people stopping to 

speak to engagement staff and local volunteers to find out more about the proposal.    

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 70



Pre-Consultation Report  

17 

 

The first day of the roadshow was in September 2012 in Liverpool City centre and a 

prominent Radio Station (Radio City) presenter on seeing the trailer invited the lead 

officer from the commissioning support unit to share the information live on air that 

evening to raise awareness of the proposals and invite people to participate and share 

their views.  This programme is aired across the North West and Wales and reaches 100’s 

of thousands of listeners and was an excellent springboard to begin the process.  Radio 

City displayed contact details on behalf of the project on their website and have offered a 

further slot to feedback on the plans and would continue to help raise awareness by 

displaying the contact details on their website which has 1000’s of daily hits. Other local 

press titles also ran information regarding the roadshows. 

 

Hospitals across both regions were sent information and booklets, comment cards, 

freepost returns, voting boxes, namely those who displayed materials were: The 

Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust as well as The Clatterbridge Cancer 

Centre clinic sites across Merseyside  and The Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University 

Hospital Trust,.  District general hospitals also supported awareness at Whiston Hospital 

and, Southport and Ormskirk Hospital Trusts.  Trusts were also offered use of pop up 

display materials to use where space permitted. 

 

Every GP practice across Cheshire and Merseyside was sent poster information and 

booklets, and where possible displayed post boxes for comments on site.  Freepost 

materials and website access were also advertised and made available. 

 

Formal links with the Action on Cancer (AoC) campaign were made which enabled our 

work to be highlighted at alongside AoC specific events.  AoC team members were 

provided with the marketing and information material as additional activity to use at 

events across region, for example a men’s health event held at Liverpool Football Club. 

 

Throughout Cheshire and Merseyside the Macmillan Centres provided support, the John 

Holt Foundation, Cancer Research centres, Faith organisations, the Healthy Communities 

Collaborative and the Brain Tumour Support Group all helped raise awareness of the 

proposals and displayed the marketing collateral and had post boxes on site. 

 

Local cancer support groups, carers groups, young carers, local involvement networks 

(LINks) hospices and charities across Cheshire and Merseyside all supported and engaged 

with the process and were invaluable in getting the message across to local people and 

patients in their respective settings.  Similar use of marketing collateral was used and the 

commissioning support unit staff delivered and collected all the collateral across both 

Cheshire and Merseyside. 

 

The pre-consultation programme yielded 4,164 responses made on-line or through postal 

returns which were uploaded by NHS Merseyside and NHS Wirral staff.  

 

The analysis of the feedback was conducted by John Moores University and can be found 

in Appendix 1. 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 71



Pre-Consultation Report  

18 

 

 

6. Summary and Recommendations 

The methodology used for this pre-consultation phase was wide ranging.  Using a network 

approach enabled local ownership, andwider reach into communities both in terms of 

communities geographically and communities of interest.   

The additional benefit this model achieved was the inclusion of hard to reach members of 

the population affected by cancer, whose only contact can often be community support 

services such as support networks, clinicians in communities or faith network groups. 

Using a matrix model of engagement such as roadshows, events, networks, and meetings 

created extensive opportunities of reach and yielded a high volume response rate which 

has rich, insightful soft and hard data results.  This collective model of insight has 

culminated in key thematic areas being identified which The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre 

can consider in regard to mitigating issues of concern raised during the process and 

learning what works well and should be built upon.   

Using the stakeholder database developed for this programme of work creates strong 

foundations to feedback and demonstrates how The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre has 

listened to patients, public and key stakeholders and creates further opportunities for on-

going dialogue during the formal consultation and indeed the potential implementation 

period.  This will effect a model of continuous engagement for the life of the new build 

project and after.   

Clearly, concerted efforts to hold north and south Mersey activity is essential to ensure 

patients and potential users of services can comment as the plans become clearer and the 

timelines for the new build are realised, particularly following the announcement that the 

new Royal Liverpool Hospital has received Treasury support to proceed with its new build 

and the benefits which the adjacency and connectivity to the planned new bio-campus 

offers to residents of Merseyside and Cheshire. 

The three developments create an exciting campus of health care and research, which 

until now,.  The formal consultation process needs to reflect the synergy of its co-location 

to other capital developments as the public views are “we are one NHS” not separate 

entities and therefore the benefits of a campus model of care could be viewed positively 

both in terms of the health economy working in partnership, but also the local economic 

regeneration such developments will bring. 

The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust is strongly advised to focus its next 

stage of consultation using the insightful feedback from stakeholders to share what can be 

mitigated in the short, medium and long term.  It needs to be transparent in its 

communication in relation to what cannot be mitigated and why, and the Trust can also 

Agenda Item 4

Page 72



Pre-Consultation Report  

19 

 

use the formal process to consider areas where there is a information/knowledge gap 

from a patient perspective, which did not get covered in stage one, but which the Trust 

would value having clarity and understanding of at this next stage of the process.   

Overall this pre-consultation stage provides the Trust the opportunity to reflect on the 

feedback and plan for the future in a timely manner. 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 

Briefing Report 
 

 

Purpose: To update the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Health 
and Social Care, Sefton on performance and key service 
developments within Mersey Care NHS Trust. 

 
Meeting Date: 4th March 2014   

 

 

1. PERFORMANCE 
 

 The trust continues to deliver all of its statutory financial duties and is 
forecast to achieve a £4.75m surplus at the year end. This surplus will 
be used to fund additional capital schemes in 2014/15, improving the 
trusts buildings and estate for the benefit of patients and staff. 
 

 Key contact: Andrea Chadwick, Corporate Director of Finance and 
 Estates Email:  Andrea.chadwick@merseycare.nhs.uk   
 

2. FOUNDATION TRUST APPLICATION UPDATE  

 The trust remains in the final stages of the Trust Development Authority 
(TDA) phase of the NHS foundation trust application process.  
 
Following the board to board meeting with the TDA in August 2013 the 
trust is taking the opportunity to refresh the integrated plan and this will 
be submitted in July 2014. Following this, and with TDA approval for 
our application, we should be able to apply to Monitor for the final 
phase of the NHS foundation trust application process. We will at this 
stage also be able to hold elections for our council of governors. Our 
members council will continue to meet until such time that we are able 
to convene a council of governors.  
 
Our NHS foundation trust application timetable however remains 
subject to change as we are awaiting confirmation of the date for the 
new style Care Quality Commission inspection of hospitals which must 
take place before the trust can apply to Monitor.  
 
The trust anticipates being authorised in 2015.  
 
Thank you for your on-going support for our application and if you are 
not already a member of the trust we would like to encourage you to 
join. The trust now has in excess of 12,200 members but work is on-
going to ensure we recruit and retain a representative membership.  

 
 Key Contact:  Rachel Hurst, FT Project Manager 
 Email:  Rachel.Hurst@merseycare.nhs.uk 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 75



 2 

3. Local Services Division Update Report 
 

 Over the last four months over 400 local clinicians, service users, 
carers and other stakeholders have taken part in a number of meetings 
to review how Mersey Care provides local mental health services and 
what improvements we need to make over the next five years in order 
to achieve better outcomes for our service users, which will support our 
ambition to be the best provider of mental health, learning disability, 
brain injury rehabilitation and addictions services.  Our clinicians also 
reviewed national and international evidence and took time out to visit 
a number of Trusts in the UK and talk to national experts. 

 
On the 29th of January 2014 Mersey Care’s Trust Board approved our 
proposed plans to significantly improve services over the next five 
years.  We have called our proposal a “Care Strategy”.   
 
We are now very keen to talk to more people about our proposed 
plans.  To make sure the changes we think we need to make really 
address what service users, carers, staff, and GP’s told us is wrong 
with current services.  We will be spending the next few months 
meeting with stakeholders to discuss our plans and we will also be 
preparing user friendly written and electronic information to support our 
communications.   We plan to present our communication and 
engagement plan to the Committee in the next few months. 
  
As part of the Care Strategy we reviewed our future inpatient 
requirements and this included a review of the Trusts TIME Project.  
The review concluded the new Clock View Hospital, which will open in 
March 2015, should become, over the long term, a “centre of 
excellence” for adult, acute inpatient care, e.g. psychosis.  By 
consolidating our expert workforce into a modern environment at Clock 
View we believe service user outcomes will improve in the following 
key areas; patient experience; quality of care and treatment and better 
flow and throughput. 
 
This “centre of excellence” strategy  directly addresses the ambitions of 
NHS England’s five year strategic plan, published in December 2013, 
entitled “Everyone Counts: Planning for Patients 2014/15-18/19”.  It 
also resonates with the newly launched mental health plan 'Closing the 
Gap: Priorities for essential change in mental health (January 2014). 
 
In order to deliver a new acute hospital at Clock View we are proposing 
to move our current Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU) and our 
Mental Health Act Section 136 Assessment Suite from Rathbone 
Hospital to Clock View Hospital.  During the move we will also increase 
the number of PICU beds provided by the Trust, in order to care for all 
patients who require PICU locally, rather than, as currently is the case, 
sending a small number of people out of area for PICU treatment.  
Moving the PICU to Clock View strongly aligns with both national 
guidelines and local clinical opinion as providing a PICU adjacent to 
other adult acute wards has been shown to improve service user 

Agenda Item 7

Page 76



 3 

outcomes compared to providing a PICU as a “stand alone” unit, which 
is currently the case. 
 
Unfortunately in order to accommodate the PICU unit at Clock View we 
are no longer able to accommodate the Trust’s Learning Disability 
inpatient ward at Clock View Hospital.  The Learning Disability Ward is 
currently accommodated at Mossley Hill Hospital.  This difficult 
decision is disappointing news for the service users, carers and staff 
from the learning disability ward as they were looking forward to 
moving into a new, purpose built environment.  Weighing up the 
advantages and disadvantages of moving the PICU Unit or the 
Learning Disability Unit to Clock View the Trust believes from a clinical 
evidence base and from an improving patient outcomes perspective 
the PICU Unit is a much better model of care fit with our “centre of 
excellence” plan.  We have already started conversations with the 
Learning Disabilities Team to understand what alternatives we can 
offer the service and we are exploring opportunities of aligning the 
Learning Disability Ward to other learning disability services rather than 
aligning the ward to mental health services. 
 
Additional to Clock View Hospital the care strategy recommends we 
extend the hours and the accessibility of current local community 
services, and keep them based in local areas.  We also move forward 
with our plans to provide additional modern inpatient hospitals based in 
Liverpool and Southport.   More information will be provided in the next 
few months. 
 
A copy of our care strategy is attached for your information. 
 
   
Notes: 

• Mersey Care NHS Trust’s Local Division is comprised of local adult 
and older people’s mental health, learning disability, addiction and 
brain injury rehabilitation, community and inpatient services, 
operating in Liverpool, Sefton and Kirby. 
 

• TIME Project (Time to Improve Mental health Environments).  A 
Trust strategic project that plans to deliver new, modern inpatient 
hospitals, with single en-suite bedrooms, privacy, dignity, comfort, 
safety and access to outside space for people living in Liverpool, 
Sefton and Kirkby.  The project will deliver the new Clock View 
Hospital in Walton that will open in March 2015 and care for people 
from Sefton, Liverpool and Kirkby. 

 Key Contact: Sam McCumiskey, Major Projects Deputy Director    
 Email:  Sam.McCumiskey@merseycare.nhs.uk 
 

Joe Rafferty  
Chief Executive  
20th February 2014   

Agenda Item 7

Page 77



Page 78

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Service Division – Care 
Strategy ( 20 14 -1 8 / 1 9 ) 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Current service and the future service images developed by a group of Mersey 
Care service users and carers in December 2013 

 

 
1 

Agenda Item 7

Page 79



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

2 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Contents: 
 

1. Introduction Page 2 
2. Case for Change Page 4 
3. Our Aim: Pursuing Perfect Care and Well-being Page 4 
4. What is perfect care? Page 5 
5. Key principles Page 6 
6. How will we deliver perfect care Page 6 

 6.1 A New Assessment and a Immediate Care Service Page 7 

6.2 New Assessment Suite for adults with Mental health problems 
Page 8 

6.3 New Re-organised Local Division Community Recovery and Wellbeing 
Service Page 9 
6.4 IM&T and Lean Approaches are Critical to Improve Productivity Page 17 

7. Future Direction of Specialise Services within the Local Division Page 17 
7.1 Addictions Page 17 
7.2 Learning Disabilities (LD) Service (including Asperger’s) 
Page 18 
7.3 Brain Injury Rehabilitation Service Page 20 

8. The right type and number of inpatient beds Page 20 
8.1 Clock View Page 22 
8.2 Learning Disabilities STAR ward no longer moving to Clock View 

Page 23 
8.3 Non-adult acute parts of the division’s bed stock and new partnership 
Working Page 25 
8.4 Adult and older adult mental health acute recovery beds Page 25 
8.5 Specialist inpatient assessment beds Page 25 
8.6 Planned beds for detoxification, rehabilitation, crisis and respite 

Page 25 
8.7 What is the right bed capacity for the future Page 26 
8.8 Future bed requirement summary Page 28 
8.9 How does our future bed capacity plans compare with other NHS Trust’s 
in England? Page 29 

9. Business Development Page 30 
10. Evidence, Evaluating and Learning Page 32 

11. What is the Impact of Delivering our NEW Care Strategy on Caseload; 
Workforce, Estates, and Financial Plans Page 32 

11.1 Workforce and Organisational Development Plan Page 32 
11.2 Local Division Estate and Facilities Requirements Page 35 
11.3 Financial & Cost Improvement Plans Page 38 

12. Next Stage Governance & Implementation Page 39 
12.1 Impacts and Benefits Analysis Page 41 
12.2 Next Stage Programme Governance & Implementation Plans Page 41 
12.3 Significant Change Programme Page 41 

13. Communication, Engagement & Consultation Page 42 
14. Benefit Realisation & Quality Plan Page 43 

15. Risk Register Page 43 
16. Programme Structure, Key Milestones & Implementation Plan Page 43 

16.1 Key Milestones Page 47 
16.2 Resources Required to Deliver Stage One of the Programme Page 45 

17. Recommendations Page 46 

Agenda Item 7

Page 80



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

3 | P a g e 

 

 

 

1. Introduction: 

This report will describe Mersey Care’s exciting care strategy for its Local division1. 
Namely how and what services the division will provide in the future; what 
improvements the strategy will deliver to service users and carers and how we plan 
to get there over the next five years. The report will provide a strong case for 
investment in the following critical areas in order to deliver the new strategy i.e. the 
division requires investments: 

 

 
 

• To amend the Clock View business case to include the psychiatric intensive 
care unit (PICU) and a mental health act Section 136 assessment suite at 
Clock View instead of the trust's learning disability inpatient unit (the STAR 
unit). This will require additional investment of £500,000 and work can 
commence following the January board meeting as a matter of urgency to 
avoid further costs. 

 
• New acute recovery inpatient accommodation in Liverpool and Southport to 

accommodate at least 127 beds that will be required (additional to Clock 
View) over the next five years. The trust’s investment and performance 
committee included both schemes in its investment framework approved in 
July 2013. 

 
• Four new community recovery and wellbeing centres (hubs) and a number of 

sessionally booked clinical venues (spokes) in Liverpool and Southport. This 
is based upon the new South Sefton recovery centre that opened in 2013 
which has already had very positive outcomes in relation to staff efficiency 
and effectiveness e.g. seven community teams have become one new 
integrated team. 

 
• Enabling IM&T projects such as the Care Programme Approach (CPA) 

project, clinical information system project, technology, and business 
intelligence solutions, as described in previous reports to the trust board by 
the Director of Informatics and Knowledge Management. 

 
• Deliver this non-recurrent programme, on-going training and project resource 

to ensure the division has the capacity and skills required to deliver this 
complex programme of change. 

 

 
 

The programme leads have spent the last four months talking to hundreds of 
stakeholders, e.g. staff, patients, service users, carers, commissioners, voluntary 
sector and local GPs, about the changes that are detailed in this report. 
Implementing the plans described in this report will support the trust to achieve its 
vision of “becoming the leading provider of mental health, learning disabilities and 

addictions services, with quality, recovery and wellbeing at the heart of 
everything that we do”. 

 
 
 

1 
Mersey Care’s Local division is made up of all the trusts “local services”, that is adult and older adult 

mental health, dementia, learning disability, addiction, Asperger’s and brain injury services that care for 

people mainly who live in Liverpool, Sefton and Kirkby (although some services cover a wider 
geographical area). 

Agenda Item 7

Page 81



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

4 | P a g e 

 

 

 

2. Case for Change: 

 
The trust board, executive team, clinical senate and local division  senior 
management team have spent a considerable amount of time over  the last six 
months understanding the changing environment and reviewing current service 
provision and plans in light of this changing landscape. It is clear we cannot longer 
simply carry on delivering services in the same way, due to factors such as: 

• Rising mental health need and demand; local population changes; and 
customer expectations e.g. choice, access times, 

• Service user and carer insights and the need for improvements in the quality 
of care we provide 

• The need for parity of esteem for mental health services.2
 

• The need to make cost improvements / savings year on year. 

• The need to improve the productivity of our staff i.e. efficiency and 
effectiveness and their ability to spend time on what matters most to service 
users and carers. 

• Delivering our strategy, Good to great’ consultation – creating two clinical 
divisions. 

• Reviewing the need for a second TIME project. 

• Implementing payment by results for mental health and over the long term 
moving to cost and volume contracts based on national rules to support the 
introduction of choice in mental health services from April 2014. 

• Anticipated funding changes that may adversely affect the local health 
economy. 

 
The trust board received and approved a report in September 2013 that described 
the detail of the case for change, and so this report will not repeat the details within 
that report. 

 
3. Our Aim:  Pursuing Perfect Care and Well-being: 

 
Our vision is simple. It is to provide perfect care every time, which means getting all 
the key areas of care right at the same time (i.e. the fundamental things service users 
and carers tell us are key), so we as a staff group, can feel proud of the care we 
provide and we can honestly say we would be happy for our family members to be 
cared for by Mersey Care. 

 
The statement “perfect care” is not meant to give the impression we think we will 
never make mistakes, in fact the opposite is true. An organisation that pursues 
perfect care accepts that mistakes will happen, what it does not accept are those 
mistakes happening over and over and ensures lessons are learned. 

 
We do need to spend more time with service users, staff and commissioners 
translating what we mean by pursuing perfect care into actual practical team goals 
and objectives that we can deliver each year. However it is important to set our 
aspirations out at the beginning of this journey as we simply believe having such a 
high aspiration will help us focus on what’s important and drive us to try our best 
every time. An aspiration of perfect care also clearly articulates to the rest of the 
local healthcare and social care system that we expect “parity of esteem” for mental 
health services as there is “no health without mental health”. It also resonates with 
the newly launched mental health plan 'Closing the Gap:  Priorities  for  essential 

 
 

2 
No health without Mental Health Department of Health, 2011 

Agenda Item 7

Page 82



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

5 | P a g e 

 

 

 

change in mental health’ (January 2014) which highlights 25 key areas where change 
must take place to increase access to mental health services, integrate physical and 
mental health care, starting early to promote mental well-being and prevent mental 
health problems, improving the quality of life of people with mental health problems, 
and making mental health everybody's business. 

 

A good example of what we can achieve by having “perfect care” 
aspirations… 

 
The trust’s “no force first project”. This project set itself the ultimate goal of 

reducing incidents of restraint on inpatient wards to zero, i.e. to fundamentally 
change inpatient ward culture to create coercion free environments.  Early 

results, (March to September 2013), show evidence of a sustained reduction in 
physical restraint overall in three local division pilot wards, with a 50% reduction 

from the mean at the end of September 2013. 
 
 

4. What is perfect care? 

 
We have spent a good deal of time discussing what perfect care could mean for our 
service users and carers and we have looked at evidence from other organisations 
and other countries, e.g. from Detroit in the USA in particular. For us, we think 
perfect care is focusing on delivering all of the bullet points below (not just 
concentrating on one or two of them): 

 
• Safe – avoiding injuries to patients from the care that is intended to help them 

• Effective – providing services that are based upon scientific knowledge to all 
who could benefit and refraining from providing services to those not likely to 
benefit (avoiding underuse and overuse) 

• Patient-centred – providing care that is respectful of and  responsive  to 
individual patients preferences, needs and values, and ensuring that patient 
values guide all clinical decisions 

• Timely – reducing waits and sometimes harmful delays for both those who 
receive and those who give care 

• Efficient – avoiding waste in particular waste of equipment, supplies, ideas 
and energy 

• Equitable – providing care that does not vary in quality because of personal 
characteristics such as gender, ethnicity, geographic location, and 

socioeconomic status. 3
 

 

 
Table 1 below illustrates how we will measure whether we achieve perfect care, and 

includes quality outcomes and benefits. We aim to reduce the number of targets and 

outcomes the division and teams are expected to deliver. We have developed nine 

benefits/outcomes for perfect care (i.e. nine local division transformational targets). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 
Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century ( 2001) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 83



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

6 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Table 1: Nine Local Division targets / outcomes for perfect care: 
Perfect care 

means 
Benefits and Outcomes (metrics) 

Safe care No suicides, homicides, incidents, falls or errors  (i.e. using 2012/13 as the baseline) 

Effective care 
– recovery 

• Reduce the amount of time people have to spend in hospital. i.e. using 2012/13 as the 
baseline) 

• Support more people to gain employment (i.e. achieving the national adult target of 8%, in 
2012 3% of people being cared for by adult mental health services had a job) 

Positive 
service user 
experience 

100% satisfaction from surveys (i.e. 2013 baseline of inpatient surveys show a range from 83% 
to 91%, community surveys show a range from 85% to 94%) 

Equitable care • 100% standard assessment and care packages, simple, integrated pathway with less 
transition / handover points (i.e. count number of transition / handover points in 2013, plus 
audits in relation to variation of CPA) 

• Parity of esteem for inpatient environments, e.g. single en-suite bedrooms as the norm 
(using 2012/13 as baseline 95% of accommodation does not have single bedrooms) 

• No one having to go out of area to receive care (no OATs) 

Efficient care Achieve our cost improvement plans, and staff productivity plans with improved information 
system and technology to increase the amount of time clinicians spend on clinical work 
compared to administration ( i.e. 2013 baseline average amount of time community staff spend 
face to face clinical work and other work) 

Timely care One contact point 24/7, waiting times for urgent referrals 2 – 24 hours and for routine referrals an 
average of 1 – 3 weeks. 

Note: The Local Division targets fit within the Mersey Care NHS Trust Strategic 
Framework 2013/14. 

 
5. Key principles: 

 
We have also spent time agreeing what the key principles are that will underpin any 

changes we make and help us deliver perfect care. The seven key principles are: 

 

• Place quality of care above everything else, by focusing on individual needs, 
recovery and outcomes. 

• Make the best use of our financial resources. 

• Have simple; integrate (connected) pathways and co-ordinated  services  that 
maintain continuity of care, using shared technology across the whole pathway. 

• Support clinically led, multi-disciplinary team working and care planning by 
investing time and effort in staff and team development. 

• Develop new partnerships with organisations that support recovery and 
integrated pathways. 

• Have clear clinical accountability with experienced clinicians responsible for all 
assessments and treatment of people with the most complex needs. 

• All systems and processes must be designed to support clinicians in their day to 
day clinical practice, for example successfully deliver the new electronic patient 
records system. 

 
6. How will we deliver perfect care? 

 
We are at the beginning of a large scale programme of change which we anticipate 
will take five years to fully implement. Clinical expertise and leadership is crucial to 
successful delivery of our plans and this programme of change will be led by 
clinicians, working closely with service users (using a model of co-production), and 
the new trust centre for perfect care and well-being to deliver changes in  the 
following key areas, as illustrated in diagram 3 below. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 84



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

7 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Diagram 1: 

 

The following sections give more detail of the changes proposed in each key area. 
 

6.1 A New Assessment and Immediate Care Service: 
 

We will deliver a new assessment and immediate care service that will provide one 
local division “front door” (single point of access) into all local division services. This 
service will be led by senior clinicians and will be open twenty-four hours a day, 
seven days a week. It will offer advice and help to service users and families, 
consultancy to GPs, triage and assessment, brief interventions and signposting to all 
referrals received by the division. 

 
Seven days a week: up until 8pm assessments and brief therapy will take place in a 
variety of settings across the patch, for example, dementia services in a person’s 
home; early intervention services in schools and colleges; adult services in safe 
interview rooms in community recovery and well-being centres, GP centres or other 
community centres. 

 
Out of hours only: urgent assessments will take place at the new assessment suite in 
Clock View or (or as is the case currently in A&E departments) depending on the 
needs of the service user. This is to ensure senior clinicians are available for 
assessments and assessments take place in safe and comfortable interview rooms. 
Mental health act assessments will continue to take place in a variety of settings 

including a person s home. 

The division has yet to determine which group of staff will deliver non-urgent 
assessments and short-term brief intervention (but this is less likely to be medical 
staff). The aim is to signpost service users who require brief intervention to the right 
service in a timely manner. These decisions will be made at the detailed planning 
stage of the programme. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 85



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

8 | P a g e 

 

 

 

 

Service user example 1: the new assessment and immediate care service will 
mean someone like Yvonne will have quick and easy access to a service that 

integrates mental health and addiction expertise 

 
Yvonne had been a service user within mental health services in Mersey Care for many 
years, having inpatient stays on both Broadoak Unit and Stoddart House in relation to 

her mental Health state and self harming. She was assessed numerous times by  
services both in the community and as an inpatient. Yvonne had alcohol and drug 

problems while on the wards and had social services involvement and her children were 
taken into care because of her chaotic life style. She started committing crime to fund  

her drug and alcohol habit and eventually her probation officer referred Yvonne into 
addiction services. Yvonne was assessed for a drugs rehabilitation order but deemed too 

chaotic at the time and refused an order but was given an appointment for the  
community drug service (Brook Place) who liaised with mental health services. Yvonne 
said things then happened quite quickly. Yvonne was admitted into the Kevin White Unit 

and completed a full detox. Now Yvonne is a recovery mentor for addictions services, 
supporting others through recovery. One of her roles is working with the new pathway 

team from the drug action recovery team (DART), supporting people from Broadoak into 
Addiction services. Yvonne feels very passionately, that if she was referred sooner to 
addictions or if mental health and addictions worked more closely, she may not have 

needed as many mental health admissions. Yvonne was surprised to learn addictions 
and mental health services are all the same Trust. 

 

 
 

6.2 A New Assessment Suite for adults with mental health problems: 
 

We will deliver a new assessment suite which will be a comfortable and safe space to 
triage, assess and start treatment for adults who have been identified as potentially 
needing inpatient care. This new space will give senior clinicians, service users and 
families the space and time (up to 12 hours) to help a person who is experiencing a 
mental health crisis but does not necessarily need to be admitted. They may in fact 
need a safe place to be with staff whilst a community care package is put in place. 
We plan to locate the new assessment suite at Clock View because our existing 
clinical environments struggle to provide the level of safety, space and comfort 
required for this new service. 

 

 

Service user example 2: the new assessment suite will reduce the need for people to be 
admitted to an inpatient bed. 

 
A young woman attended A&E with her mum late Friday evening. Both were really worried, 

anxious, frightened and angry at each other. The young women said she wanted to kill herself 
and would not go home with her mum. The mum said she had had enough and didn’t want her 
daughter to live with her anymore. The mum said she couldn’t cope with her daughter’s illness 
anymore and she didn’t get any support. The young woman was admitted to an inpatient ward. 

The following day the women and her mum had calmed down and were able to talk with staff and 
organise a community care plan that allowed the women to be discharged back home and 

supported by a community team. The new service would mean the young women would not have 
to be admitted. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 86



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

9 | P a g e 

 

 

 

6.3 A New Re-organised Local Division Community Recovery and Wellbeing 
Service: 

 
Current community services provide support to highly complex people who present 
with assessed significant risk and without the expertise of our community staff would 
inevitably find themselves in more acute areas of the health and social care system. 
The following case example gives a flavour of this complexity: 

 

Staff example 1: Manager in Liverpool services 

 
I have worked in the past in London with drug users, in probation and in mental health 

services, but in terms of the sheer difficulty of working with challenging people, one example 
sticks out in my memory. I went out last year with a CPN from Windsor House. I was just 
shadowing for a morning of three visits to give depot injections. ‘We should be finished by 

10.30 am at the latest’ was my internal thought. Oh how wrong I was. The first service user 
had trashed his home and was too drunk to be given a depot. The second was not at home 
and we eventually traced him to a friend’s flat following which he refused his depot. At the 
third home, the service user was also intoxicated. It became apparent that someone was 

upstairs. This someone turned out to be his niece and her friend – both under 16 who should 
have been in school. They were still in bed and had reportedly drunk alcohol the night 
before…. So the outcome of the morning was we got back at 12.00 to the office with a 

shedload of work to do – referral to children’s services, safeguarding referral, panel 
application for deep clean of flat and liaison with endless other organisations. This was 

before the afternoon’s depot clinic and the need to sandwich the three missed depots in the 
next day! 

 
 
 
 
 

What happens today: 

There has been a great deal of service improvement/development work over the last 
few years resulting in: 

• The development and implementation of enhanced acute hospital liaison 
mental health services based on the national best practice model (RAID) in 
our three local acute provider hospitals (£1.3 million new recurrent 
investment). 

• The development and implementation of enhanced acute hospital liaison 
mental health services for population of West Lancashire in conjunction with 
Lancashire Care (new investment non recurrent £200K). 

• The development and implementation of new care home in reach services in 
Sefton (new recurrent investment). 

• The development of an enhanced service for people requiring Section 136 
assessments (additional investment of non-recurrent £350,000). 

• The refurbishment of the new South Sefton Recovery and Wellbeing Centre 
providing integrated community based services to the population of South 
Sefton (capital investment of £1.6 million). 

• Development of eating disorder services including partnership with University 
Hospital Aintree NHS FT. 

• Development of liaison and diversion services which enhance mental health 
provision in police custody and court settings (new investment £1 million non- 
recurrent). 

• Development of a new community alcohol services (LCAS) with University 
Hospital Aintree NHS FT. 

• Implementation of guidelines to support staff working with people with a 
diagnosis of borderline personality disorder. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 87



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

10 | P a g e 

 

 

 

There are currently 31 community services (structured in 4 CBUs) in the local 
division, with a total budget of £36,681,274 and approximately 850 community staff. 
In general, the difficulties include: 

 
• Limited access to out of hours care 

• Variable staffing arrangements 

• Unclear leadership and managerial arrangements 

• Variable performance levels in each area e.g. access points and referral 
routes 

• Cumbersome transition between services 

• Multiple assessments and transition points 

• Inflexible services and generic functions 
Lack of outcome focus/ use of evidence-based practice in some areas 

 
What will happen in the future? 

 
We plan to integrated, co-locate and refocus our community services to deliver: 

 
• Four integrated community recovery and well-being centres and teams across 

the division. Each centre will provide standard services to a locality based on 
local need. The number of centres will be determined after an analysis of 
local need, the trust's geographical patch and future working practices and 
caseload number, to enable perfect care to be delivered 

• Personal and adapted recovery focus for learning disability services - service 
users will to be supported to live a valued life despite their disability. 

• A workforce that is consistent, equitable and makes the best use of discipline- 
specific skills/ knowledge 

• Evidenced based, person-centred interventions and the ambition to create 
world leading research and development opportunities with partners and our 
Centre for Perfect Care and Well-being. 

• Support independence not long-term dependence.  Time-limited collaborative 
work – developing personal autonomy, working with hope, making sense and 
establishing meaning 

• Personal care not paternalistic care 

• Single line management structure in the recovery centres – with clinical leads 
for each professional group (co-leadership) 

• Improved performance in all areas/value for money 

• Effective communication and enhanced working relationships in place 

• Smooth transition through service user care pathway and reduced waiting 
times 

Agenda Item 7

Page 88



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

11 | P a g e 

Diagram 2 shows the new, re-organised community service will deliver 
significant improvements in the following areas: 

Service User: 

• I can be seen by the same staff when I 

need to be seen 

• I can be seen in the evenings or weekends 

without going to A&E 

• I can be seen in my house or somewhere 

local to where I live 

 
Staff: 

 
• I am part of one integrated team 

were I can communicate and share 

problems with my colleagues 

• I am to use my specialist skills and 

knowledge 

• I can go to the recovery college 

• When I am really unwell I don’t always 

have to be admitted as staff support me to 

stay at home 

Together we feel empowered 
and recovery focused 

• Technology helps me to do my job 

wherever I am 

• My Service has strong clinical 

leadership 

• The service is about me and my family and 

takes into account my recovery goals and 

aspirations. 

• I feel more hopeful for the future 

• I feel supported and enjoy my job. 

• I can manage my caseload 

Commissioners GP: 

• I get value for  money 

• I have noticed improved 

performance and quality 

• Care is outcome focused 

• People report their positive 

experiences in Mersey Care. 

 

• I have one number to ring to access a full 

range of mental health services 

• There is a hub in my area, so I know the 

mental health staff who support my 

patients 

• I can ring for advice any time 

• My relationship manager comes to see 

me on a regular basis to see me 

• If I have a concern about a patient I know 

it will be dealt with quickly and I will find 

out what has happened. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 89



 

 

The re-organised service will use an approach based on the Flexible, Assertive, Community 
Treatment Model, which we know from evidence works well, and we have examined 
international and national examples to inform our work (Netherlands, Newcastle and 
Nottingham). Consequently, a number of key principles were developed and we have noted 
below for consideration: 

 

Integrated: We will provide service users with access to integrated services.4 This will 

mean that all community services 5, are delivered via four integrated teams resulting in added 
value for service users and staff through sharing of information, reducing waits, enhanced care 
planning and focusing on recovery. 

 

Hub and spoke: We will use a hub and spoke model. 
6 

Building upon shared care 
principles we will provide specialised, single line managed (with additional clinical professional 
lead support) multi-disciplinary teams in four centres that provide GPs, service users, families 
and other care providers with specialised assessment, consultation, education and support, 
time-limited direct treatment and brief interventions for service users in a community setting. 

The settings will either be in a person s home; in a recovery centre; in a primary care or local 

authority setting or other community setting (spoke site) to ensure access and choice of care as 
close  to home for the individual service user and best use of scarce resources.  Staff will be 
provided with the tools to do their jobs virtually (technological aids). Some services, such as 
Early Interventions will be hosted in one or two hubs but will cover the whole division in terms of 

response. The example noted below of how this is in working practice. 
 
 

 

Staff Case Example 2– the benefits of working in a purpose built community recovery and wellbeing 
centre i.e. the new South Sefton Recovery Centre, which opened in October 2013 

 
“I have found the move to the new South Sefton Recovery Centre to be a very positive experience. I began  

working for the Maghull CMHT as a Social Worker/AMHP a couple of weeks before we moved to the new hub. I 
was based in a small office with another social worker and although the team were very supportive I felt a little 

isolated form other practitioners. The move to the new hub has completely transformed that. I am working on a 
daily basis alongside both nurses and social workers, which promotes integration to the highest level. This also 
enhances peer supervision in the true sense. Everyone is on hand and more than ready to give advice or to just 

listen for a moment if you just had a bad experience at a home visit. Because the agile working room is full of staff 
from different areas offering multi-disciplinary working, many skills and talents, this also promotes effective ways of 

working, solutions and idea, which most people are happy to provide if needed. Again, I have found the whole 
experience to be excellent, supportive and enjoyable. The building offers a fresh, clean and comfortable 

environment to work within with excellent technology to make our sometimes difficult staff roles easier. As a new 
starter I feel positive for the future and am sure this move will empower staff to provide, enhanced care and clinical 

excellence for the service users.”  Pauline McKenna, Social Worker/AMHP 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

The organisation and management of our services so that people get the care they need, when they need it, in 
ways that are user-friendly, achieve the desired results and provide value for money World Health Organisation 
(2008); Mersey Care 24/7 Project Final Report Higgo & McGuinness( Dec 2012) 
5 

Early intervention, adult, older adult, personality disorder, psychotherapy, eating disorder, addictions, learning 
disability, homeless outreach, assertive outreach, home treatment. 
6 

An Emergency Treatment Hub-and-Spoke Model for Psychiatric Emergency Services, Psychiatric Services , 
December 2003 Vol. 54 No. 12 

Agenda Item 7

Page 90



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

13 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Mental health services will be recovery focused and will include the following as central 
components (and not as marginal or novel additions): 

 
• The Recovery College 

• Peer workers. 

• Personal health budgets 

• Employment pathways 
 

There is a strong and growing evidence base for recovery focused care, with the key 
components not only delivering health and well-being outcomes for service users, but also 
delivering benefits in relation to service costs and value for money e.g. reductions in the use of 
medication, in use of community mental health services, lengths of stay. 

 
Service Example 1: Mersey Care NHS Trust initiated the use of individual recovery budgets and 
was a partner in the Merseyside DH PHB Pilot, the national evaluation of which reported that: 

 
“…there is a widespread potential for personal health budgets to lead to improvements in health and 

wellbeing. The majority of people with a personal health budget benefited through both improved health 
outcomes and increased satisfaction levels. Increased self-confidence, reduced use of GP services and 
prescriptions and better relationships with health professionals were among the other reported benefits” 

(DH 2013) 
The DH evaluation’s main findings state that 1) PHBs were most cost effective for Mental Health and 
Continuing Health Care. 2) Inpatient costs decreased for these cohorts. 3) PHBs were more effective 

when the resource level was known and there was maximum flexibility and choice about how they 
could be used.4). The main benefits for service users were improvements in the care related quality of 

life and psychological well-being. 
 
 
 
 
 

Service User’s Example 3: who have used a Recovery College Quotes 
 

“I wouldn’t be here if it wasn’t for the College.” 
 

“What a positive and helpful approach. This type of course should have started years ago.” 
“I can study in a safe place so I don’t have to worry if it goes pear-shaped If I get unwell – I can be 

safe, learning.” 
 

 
 
 
 

Out of Area Treatments (OATs): 

 
Local CCGs have a small number of people who are currently placed out of the local area to 
receive treatment for mental health and learning disability needs. For example, Liverpool CCG 
currently has approximately 15 people placed out of area, in placements for, mental illness 
rehabilitation, personality disorder, mother and baby care, eating disorder or PICU. Liverpool 
CCG has the largest number of OATs. The division has been negotiating with Liverpool CCG for 
the last two years, to transfer the OATs budget to Mersey Care to enable the division to bring 
back current OATs and stop future OATs by using the budget to invest in local services. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 91



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

14 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Liverpool CCG has agreed to transfer £2.585 million per annum to Mersey Care, starting this 
financial year. The division plans to bring all OATs back over the next two years (all individual 
service user needs and future placement requirements have been identified) and then invest 
savings in personality disorder community services and additional revenue costs for increasing 
the number of PICU beds from 8 to 12. The division is also currently part of a project reviewing 
LD OATs with Liverpool City Council and the CCG. 

 
Personality Disorder (PD): 

 
Current Department of Health and commissioning guidelines set out the need for mental health 
services to develop effective services for people who are diagnosed with PD. Presently service 
users with PD within Mersey Care do not benefit from having a full range of specially designated 
services, and capacity and skills issues within mainstream mental health services can result in 
continued marginalisation. Additionally, the current lack of a coherently integrated clinical 
pathway for service users with PD is resulting in a perverse utilisation of services, where they 
struggle to access ongoing care in the community whilst having a higher proportion of inpatient 
unit admissions, especially on the female wards. A contributing factor is that the risks posed by 
service users with PD, and the resulting anxieties created in the professionals caring for them, 
work against clinicians taking appropriate risks. Longer admissions promote further regression 
and can culminate in referrals to a higher level of inpatient security (i.e. PICU, Low and Medium 
Secure Units) as clinical teams look to external services for “transformational” care. There are 
currently no female PICU or Low Secure beds within the trust and requests for OATs are 
expensive. Local money spent out of area subsequently depletes the local economy of 
resources to develop better services. Often these OATs provide little more than containment, 
because they are geographically isolated from local pathways where more integrated and 
longer-term work might be undertaken to help recovery. 

 
The establishment of the PD Hub service two years ago to provide psychological interventions 
and training was a significant initial step in the development of an integrated community PD 
pathway within the trust. However, its existence has highlighted both the current low level of 
engagement of service users with PD within community settings and the disproportionately high 
level of use of inpatient settings. 

 
The division plans to re-develop the PD pathway by using current OATs budgets to invest in PD 
community services and so prevent both OATs and admissions to local inpatient services. A 
local audit completed in 2012 indicated up to 30% of admissions to female adult mental health 
wards would not be needed if specialist PD clinicians, within perhaps a small crisis unit or a 
small therapeutic community setting, supported service users. 

 
To help illustrate the current poor fit between service user’s needs and available pathways a 
case study is presented below (service user example 4). 

Agenda Item 7

Page 92



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

15 | P a g e 

 

 

 
 

Service User example 4: 
Gail’s first contact with secondary mental health services was in 2008. Prior to this she and her husband had 
successfully raised a family of three. During this period Gail had also been employed as a care assistant to 

the elderly, a job she cherished. Although low mood and postnatal depression had been a feature of her 
contact with primary care service prior to 2008 Gail had led what she describes as a rewarding life.  This was 

despite serious and sustained sexual and psychological abuse during her childhood. 
 

A change in her personal circumstances and marital breakup prompted a return to low mood. Low levels of 
self-esteem were also prompted by rumination about her difficult childhood experiences. This felt unbearable 

and she attempted to obliterate such memories with alcohol whilst also finding some relief in self-harming 
behaviour, which involved cutting her thighs and stomach with knives. 

 
During 2009 Gail was referred to primary care counselling services for her low mood but this had little positive 
benefit, as was also the case with antidepressant medication.  The escalation of her alcohol consumption led 

to referral to a detoxification programme with limited success. Continuing alcohol consumption and active 
attempts of suicide led to several presentations at Accident and Emergency often accompanied by police.  

This culminated in Gail’s first inpatient admission. 
 

Five more acute admissions have followed, each longer in duration than the preceding one. Initially during 
such periods Gail has some relief in feeling contained and safe from her own thoughts of suicide. This 

subsequently gives way to anxiety about her future discharge and what this will mean. In turn she 
experiences ward staff as uncaring and unresponsive to her needs, reproaching them if she feels they are 
withholding contact with her. This has led to a strained relationship with ward staff and other service users. 

During the last two admission periods this has escalated into serious violence towards nursing staff and 
destruction of property, for which Gail is being prosecuted. 

 
Along with issues of violence, further deterioration in Gail’s mood and ability to undertake all but the basic 

element of self-care have led to further referrals to local low secure services. Such a placement was deemed 
inappropriate, as Gail did not fit the criteria deemed necessary for this increased level of security. With local 
therapeutic solutions exhausted, at the end of a long inpatient stay a request to local commissioners for an 

OAT placement was requested. Consequently referral was made to a private sector provider, the outcome of 
which Gail awaits. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Eating Disorder Service: 
Originally, the service was commissioned as a small outpatient psychological therapy service. 
Due to continued increased demand, the service has worked with local commissioners over the 
last few years to develop an expanded its model of care, increasing access and throughput, and 
enabling it to meet the 18 week to treatment key performance indicator. The new investment 

from local commissioners was a non-recurrent sum of 55,000 and a recurrent investment of 

120,000 per annum. The service has partnered with University Hospital Aintree NHS FT to 

successfully secure contracts for two specialist services, the Liverpool Obesity Support Service 
and the Aintree Bariatric Consortium (now extended to cover the Cumbria and Lancashire

regions). These are fixed term contracts with a current annual value of 150k. Therefore, in the 

last two years the service has doubled its income through successfully competing in the local
healthcare market. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 93



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

16 | P a g e 

 

 

 

The service has two core objectives: 1) to facilitate sustainable recovery for people with eating 
distress and 2) to reduce risks to physical health and psychological well-being. The community 
model has now expanded offering psychological assessment, formulation and a range of 
therapeutic interventions recommended in the NICE guidance. The new Maudsley model of

Collaborative Caring in Eating Disorders has been adopted, involving carers in skills training to 

become part of  the solution, contributing to the recovery process alongside mental health 
professionals.  The service also offers indirect work, case conceptualisation and consultation to
Mersey Care services and outside agencies. 

 
The eating disorder service has two clear directions for the future: 

 
• Enhance the quality, service user experience and outcomes of our community outpatient 

service by: adding a more multi-disciplinary approach, including dietetic interventions 
and support work, to the current psychological therapy process. This would enable a 
more intensive support, offering daytime support activities, home treatment and a case 
management approach, which could avoid and reduce the length of in-patient 
admissions; and provide earlier intervention, working pro-actively with schools and other 
service providers for young people, strengthening the interface between child and adult 
services. We also aspire to develop the focus on family and systemic interventions. 

 
The following case vignette illustrates how these developments could benefit service users 

 

 
 

Service User’s Example 5: 
Annie first presented to our service when she was 17 years old with a (Body Mass Index) BMI of 13. Given 
her low weight and her levels of distress inpatient treatment was sought. Annie’s weight was restored and 

following her discharge she engaged with out-patient services. She maintained a healthier weight for  
several months and was discharged when she moved abroad. Unfortunately her weight was not maintained 
and Annie returned home several months later and again presented to our service at a severely low weight,
a BMI of 12. Annie has repeated this pattern 4 times and during her fourth admission she was discharged

with a BMI of 16 because health professionals in the inpatient unit felt that she was not engaging 
meaningfully with inpatient treatment. Annie has a complicated family history where she has often felt 

rejected and overlooked by key figures in her life, understandably she has difficulties building trusting and 
supportive relationships. Her presentation is complex, she experiences low mood, anxiety and engages in 
lots of rituals and obsessions which are enmeshed with her eating difficulties and she has a compulsion to

hoard food. Given the complexities and the longstanding nature of her difficulties an intensive bespoke 
outreach approach in the community is necessary to prevent a further admission, and to help Annie make 

sustainable progress in the community. 
Following her discharge her weight dropped form a BMI of 16 to 13; positively she continued to engage with 
out-patient eating disorder service and her local CMHT. She meets with her social worker and is attending
weekly out-patient appointments and has managed to prevent a further admission and increase her weight 

to a BMI of 14 however in order to sustain her progress intensive support in the community would be 
beneficial 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Pursue opportunities to improve care pathways for people with obesity. We currently 

provide a psychological therapy element to weight management and bariatric services and so 

Agenda Item 7

Page 94



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

17 | P a g e 

 

 

 

we are ideally placed to provide psychological assessments prior to referral for bariatric surgery. 
7 

 

 

The division has identified the Eating Disorders Service as a key business development area. 
The service is keen to work with corporate services to further develop care pathways and its 
business strategy, this includes reviewing current accommodation in order to protect its current 
service and expand in the future. 

 
6.4 IM&T and Lean Approaches are Critical to Improve Productivity: 

 
We will make the best use of current staffing resources by the adoption of new IM&T and Lean 
workforce approaches. Through audit and consistent staff feedback, we understand at least 
30% of staff time is spent on data inputting, travel, meetings, and administration duties that do 
not support them in their clinical work. Over the next five years we to plan to eliminate wasteful 
tasks to ensure we have productive teams and services. 

 
Trust wide IM&T projects are critical to the division to improve the productivity of its workforce. 
The benefits / outcomes we plan to deliver via the new care strategy will not be delivered 
without the successful delivery of the following Trust projects: 

• Improving the CPA process. 

• Improving EPEX in the short term and purchasing a new clinical information system in 
the medium term. 

• Delivering new technology at scale to support agile and remote working 

• Delivering new business intelligence systems that teams and managers will use in real 
time to manage resources. 

 
7.1 Future Direction of Specialist Services within the Local Division: 

 
The majority of local division services care for adults and older adults who have mental health 

problems. As a result, the new care strategy mostly focuses on adult and older adult mental 

health services, although the specialist teams  have been involved in discussions  and are 

generally support of the plans and direction described in the new care strategy. This section of 

the care strategy addresses future developments in our specialist services. It is vitally important 

we continue to acknowledge the specialist nature of these services and for the trust board to 

continue to invest in these services and support clinicians to step forward and lead local 

strategic developments. 
 

7.2 Addictions: 
Since 1980, Mersey Care has been delivering drug and alcohol services across Merseyside and 
has developed some of the first harm reduction services in the country. Our clinical experience 
includes firmly grounded research and development and we are currently involved in national 
and  international  research  projects  that  allow  us  to  adapt  our  service  delivery  based  on

 

 
7 

On 17 January 2014 the BBC headlined a report commissioned by the National Obesity Forum along with the Royal 
College of Surgeons that states millions of pounds are lost in England by the failure of the NHS to provide more 
obesity operations.  About 1 million people meet the criteria for bariatric surgery but last year there were just 3,600 

operations carried out. The Office of Health Economics 1.3 billion could be saved over 3 years if a quarter of eligible 

patients got treatment -  through more people working and fewer demands on the NHS. This health and economic 
priority could lead to the development of this care pathway for which psychological assessment is essential to identify 
and enable those who can make best use of surgery. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 95



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

18 | P a g e 

 

 

 

outcomes and best evidence. Our experience in delivering comprehensive treatment 
interventions in a variety of treatment settings (inpatient, Criminal Justice (CJ), outpatient, 
prison, acute hospital setting, shared care, partnership with voluntary agencies) gives us the 
strength, knowledge and capacity to deliver the high quality of care expected by service users 

and their families.  8
 

 
Addiction services across the country have been subject to retendering for many years and we 
have gained experience in the procurement and tendering process. It is not uncommon for a 
high proportion of tenders to be awarded to non-statutory agencies and in order for us to be 
competitive. We require support to become more business focused and to ensure we tender for 
the right business with the right partners. Over the next few months, the division needs to review 
the addictions market in more detail to determine which part of the addictions market we plan to 
expand into, for example, Liverpool has signalled their intention to tender all Liverpool drug and 
alcohol services in the next couple of years. It is our aim to be ready and position ourselves 
positively for this opportunity, whilst continuing to consider other opportunities for growth as 
either lead providers or a sub-contractor. An example of how we may do things differently is the 
recently submitted proposal as part of the Project Parnham service innovation forum. 

 
We continue to develop into a recovery-focused service, whilst also continue to manage the 
most complex members of our community with drug and alcohol problems. As a service, we 
need to identify and develop our “Unique Selling Point” (USP) and build on this to market our 
services. One USP is being part of a large Trust, which can offer treatment and support to 
individuals and their families in the right place at the right time. The challenge for Addictions is 
to retain the specialism, yet provide an integrated service. Flexibility will be key to this, as we 
will continue to treat individuals with a drug and alcohol as their primary problem and people 
with a dual diagnosis. Addictions can only enhance mental health services provision and can 
bring experience and knowledge to the table. 

 
7.3 Learning Disability (LD) Service (including Asperger’s): 

 
The Learning Disabilities Award-Winning Service remains at the forefront of the provision of 
specialist, innovative, person-centred care which has been recognised  nationally and 
internationally and has been cited in best practice documents for the past 20 years. The 
service provides a focused and progressive service for adults in Liverpool and Sefton who have 
additional, substantial and complex health needs. The service also works with people in 
transition. The areas include specialisms of mental health (dual diagnosis), autistic spectrum, 
disorder (including Asperger’s syndrome), challenging behaviour, complex physical health 
needs (including dementia and epilepsy), offending/forensic behaviour and personal 
relationships, parenting and sexuality. Services are delivered through an acute LD bed-based 
service, short term respite care, supported living service and specialist community LD teams. 
The teams are multi-disciplinary in nature with specialist clinicians leading each area. 

 
 
 

 
8 

Our portfolio of services includes: 

Drug & Alcohol Dependency Unit, HMP Liverpool. 
Drug and Alcohol Recovery Team, Central Liverpool (DART) 
Brook Place Recovery Team, North Liverpool 
Liverpool Community Alcohol Service (LCAS) 
Drug Rehabilitation Requirement Team, Liverpool 
Kevin White Unit (Inpatient unit, drug/alcohol) 
Windsor Clinic (Inpatient Unit drug/alcohol) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 96



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

19 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Specialist Learning Disabilities services within Mersey Care provide a range of human rights 
based approaches that are comprehensive, person-centred and which provide the expertise 
required to support people with the most complex needs to lead ordinary lives. The service 
supports these principles by striving to reduce the health inequalities experienced by people 
with LD. 

 
LD Specialist Community Teams should ensure that they remain specialist in nature and 
continue to carry out the following: 

 
• Health facilitation and support to primary care on the implementation of health checks 

and health action plans 

• Support to secondary care to ensure reasonable adjustments are in place to allow 
people with learning disabilities to access services 

• Teaching, advice, and support to both mainstream and specialist services including 
access to those responsible for wider health and wellbeing issues such as housing and 
employment 

• Service development and health promotion 

• Direct support to people and their families when their needs cannot be met by 
mainstream services alone, including liaison with mainstream and other specialist 
services including children’s services/transition 

• Assessment and formulation of needs to inform support needs 

• Planned, evidenced based interventions including a variety of adapted treatments and 
therapies 

• Support to service providers and others in the provision of longer term support for people 
with complex and continuing health needs 

• Emergency support, sometimes in partnership with mental health colleagues 

• Continue to successfully support people in returning from out of area placements to 
avoid reliance on inappropriate hospital placements. 

 
Specialist services must continue to ensure that there is an overarching care pathway outlining 
the process from referral to assessment, intervention and discharge which will be linked to 
future nationally developed performance indicators and clear outcome measures so that the 
service can demonstrate excellence in the provision of care and use of resources. Interventions 
by the team will be time focused, specific and with objective measures of outcome. A number of 
Department of Health, Royal College of Nursing, British Psychology Society and Royal College 

of Psychiatry documents9, strongly recommend the need for LD services to remain distinct and 
specialist in nature. 

 
Based on the information and evidence presented within this document, it is clear that the LD 
Service is in a unique position to capitalise on current government policy and expand and grow 
our service. In order to do this effectively and maintain our competitive advantage, it is key that 
the service remains distinct and specialist and does not become absorbed by the wider mental 
health service reconfiguration and also reviews it cost base to ensure all services are affordable. 

 

 
• Improving the Health and Wellbeing of People with LD; an Evidenced Based Commissioning Guide for Clinical 

Commissioning Groups November (2013) DoH Winterbourne View Review Concordat (2012) The Revised 
Challenging Behaviour Best Practice Guidelines (to be published 2014)Death by Indifference, 74 Deaths and 
Counting (Feb 2012) Six Lives Progress Report (2013) Transforming Care – A National Response to the 
Winterbourne View Hospital (2012) DoH Statutory Guidance on Joint Strategic Needs Assessment & Joint 
Health & Wellbeing Strategies (2013) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 97



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

20 | P a g e 

 

 

 

 

7.4 Brain Injury Rehabilitation Service: 

 
This service specialises in the assessment and rehabilitation of people who have received an 
acquired brain injury during their adult life. The service aims to support each person, as well as 
their families, to adjust to their injury and to maximise their quality of life. The service is unique 
and one of only a handful of specialist services across the country. It has recently been 
successful in expanding both its inpatient service (planned expansion from 8 to 12 beds in 
January 2015) and recently winning a tender to expand its community service. The brain injury 
service is seen by commissioners, service users and families and other providers as an 
essential specialist service within the wider care pathway. 

 
8.1 The right type and number of inpatient beds: 

 
Diagram 3 below highlights the current number of inpatient wards across the Local Division. 

 

 
 

 
 

You can see from the diagram above the division has 20 inpatient wards, based on 11 sites, 
and a current total of 351 beds (255 of them are adult and older adult). These wards cover a 
range of needs and diagnosis, from the most acute and intensive e.g. PICU and adult mental 
health inpatient wards, to dementia, learning disabilities, brain injury, drug and alcohol 
detoxification, rehabilitation beds, crisis beds and a small number of respite beds e.g. Heys 
Court and Wavertree Bungalow. 

 
The TIME Project (To Improve Mental health Environments) was a key strategic trust project to 
deliver new inpatient environments that comply with national standards, for local division 
services, in phased developments. The project has been running for the last six years and will 
deliver the new Clock View facility in March 2015. Plans for a second new inpatient facility (in 
Liverpool) were paused by the trust board early in 2013 in order for the new division to review its 
future model of care and bed requirements in light of significant internal and external changes 
over the last five years. This pause had implications for existing services that had planned to

Agenda Item 7

Page 98



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

21 | P a g e 

 

 

 

move into the second inpatient facility, such as the PICU ward, that is currently located at 
Rathbone Hospital in temporary accommodation, waiting completion of the second inpatient 
facility at the Fairfield site, Prescot Road, Liverpool. Therefore, the division needed to consider 
the best solution for PICU in light of this pause. 

 
We plan to re-organise and stratify the functions of all our current inpatient wards, crisis and 
respite beds  over the next five years, and accommodate wards with the same or  similar 
functions in the same locations. This delivers what NHS England five year strategic plan, 
published in December 2013, stated as “specialised services concentrated in centres of 
excellence”. These “centres of excellence” will support significant improvements in quality, 
safety and workforce efficiency and are the preferred model of many other mental health and 
non-mental health NHS Trusts in England e.g. South London & Maudsley NHS Foundation 
Trust, Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust, etc. A key challenge the division will face 
when implementing our new model is how to ensure services remain as accessible and as 
personal as they can, whilst also having specialist inpatient services in fewer geographical 
locations. For example, only having adult mental health assessment beds at Clock View means 
people from Speke and Southport would have to travel to Clock View for admission. Alternatives 
to admission are clearly a critical part of the new care strategy. 

 
Our clinicians in adult mental health services also strongly support the idea of separating the 
“assessment” and “acute recovery” functions of current adult mental health wards. Therefore, 
we plan to create, one new, division-wide adult assessment ward (at Clock View) and a number 
of adult acute recovery wards. This again will allow clinical teams to specialise and improve the 
quality of care they provide. There is evidence from other NHS Trusts in England that this 
separation can also have a positive impact on reducing length of stay, e.g. evidence from South 
London & Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust. 

 
Diagram 4 below illustrates the divisions approach to bed stratification. 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 99



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

22 | P a g e 

 

 

 

8.2 Clock View: 

 
The trust’s new Clock View facility on Rice Lane, in Liverpool, will open in March 2015 and will 
accommodate 85 beds, divided into 5 wards (each ward can be further sub-divided); shared 
interview, activity and therapy rooms; a café; meeting and learning space; family rooms; multi- 
faith room; tribunal suite and second floor accommodation for agile staff working. A key part of 
the new design was it to be very flexible in order to accommodate any mix of service user group 
in the future. 

 
The trust board approved a Clock View final business case (LIFT stage 2 business case) in 
November 2012. The business case specified the facility would accommodate adults and older 
adults and the learning disability STAR (Specialist Treatment, Assessment and Recovery) ward 
(currently located at Mossley Hill Hospital). The local division has since reviewed its model of 
care and developed a new care strategy that stratifies beds. This new care strategy will 
potentially change the function of Clock View from a mixed facility that provided both 
assessment and treatment for a range of mental health and learning disability needs, to a new 
acute inpatient centre. That over the long term will provide assessment and treatment for adults 
in an acute phase of their illness, the majority of whom will have a psychotic illness. This means 
the services below would need to be accommodated at Clock View: 

 
• A new assessment and immediate care service and assessment suite as described in 

section 6. 
• A new inpatient adult assessment ward for males and females, we plan to develop a 

local division adult mental health only assessment ward, which  will triage all adult 
mental health inpatient admissions, for up to seven days and further reduce lengths of 
stay. 

• The trust's psychiatric intensive care ward (PICU) and Section 136 suite (currently 
located at Rathbone Hospital and regarded as clinically isolated from adult wards). The 
new PICU ward at Clock View will accommodate both male and female service users 
and will have 12 beds (the current PICU has 8 male beds). Commissioners currently 
pay for out of area treatment for a small number of male and female service users who 
cannot be accommodated at the current Rathbone PICU (generally up to 2 male service 
users and up to 2 female service users at any one time). The new PICU will be able to 
accommodate current out of area PICU placements and the trust already has plans in 
place for this out of area budget to be transferred from Liverpool CCG  2014/15. 
Bringing the PICU into Clock View would be a significant step forward in delivering a 
new centre of excellence for acute care. 

 
• A new adult acute recovery ward, we plan to develop adult mental health acute recovery 

wards that will be better able to focus on recovery, therapy, activity and discharge than 
our current wards. This separation of acute and recovery will give more clarity to 
service users and staff who work with the acute client group. 

 
The care strategy recognises that the older adult and the dementia ward currently 
accommodated at Stoddart House will move into Clock View, until the next phase of the 
division’s capital inpatient programme is delivered. As part of the land sale deal for the Clock 
View site, Mersey Care needs to give Stoddart House back to University Hospital Aintree NHS 
FT in 2015. This means the division must vacate Stoddart House, so the older adult and 
dementia ward need to move out. The division’s programme board considered the options 
available to move both wards to another trust site rather than Clock View e.g. move the two 

Agenda Item 7

Page 100



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

23 | P a g e 

 

 

 

wards to the Broadoak Unit and then move two adult wards from the Broadoak Unit to Clock 
View.  The Broadoak option has many implications, such as: 

 
• Capital costs and timescales at Broadoak to change the wards into an older adult and a 

dementia ward, e.g. fixtures, fittings and furniture.  This change would be temporary until 
a long-term decision about the Broadoak unit is made. 

• The amount of stakeholder engagement e.g. CCG, staff, etc. required to gain approval to 
move a dementia ward that cares for people from North and South Sefton, Kirby and 
North Liverpool to a more central Liverpool site without any real additional benefits to 
service users, such as single bedrooms, purpose built environments or the creation of a 
specialist dementia centre. 

• Additional revenue costs e.g. staff travel, without any real additional benefits to service 
users. 

 
The programme board decided the costs outweighed the benefits of this option and so decided 
the best option was to move both wards to Clock View on a temporary basis until purpose built
inpatient accommodation for Liverpool and Southport has been delivered. 

 

 
 

8.3 Learning Disability STAR ward no longer moving to Clock View: 

 
Unfortunately, there are not enough single en-suite bedrooms at Clock View to accommodate 
the learning disability STAR ward, based at Mossley Hill Hospital, and all the wards described in 
section 6.1 above. Therefore, the division’s programme board and the Executive Committee 
considered whether the STAR ward should move to Clock View (as originally planned) or should 
the PICU ward (and Section 136 assessment suite) move into Clock View instead. 

 
• The STAR unit is a 9 bedded learning disability inpatient ward based at Mossley Hill 

hospital, in accommodation that is not “fit for purpose”. The STAR unit does not require 
additional beds to serve current populations and currently has no plans to expand 
beyond its current population. 

 
• The trust's 8 bedded (male only) psychiatric intensive care inpatient unit (PICU) is 

currently in accommodation that is not “fit for purpose” and is isolated from the rest of the 
mental health care pathway i.e. best practice recommends that PICUs are placed next to 
adult inpatient units to improve patient flows and support safety. The trust also regularly 
places a small number of service users requiring PICU (male and female) in other PICUs 
away from the local area. 

• The trust also has a number of Section 136 places of safety based in A&E departments 
and one attached to the PICU ward at Rathbone Hospital. There are problems with the 
Section 136 environments at the A&E departments, both in relation to  design and 
difficulties of connecting with other adult mental health services. 

 
This decision is a difficult one, as there are advantages and disadvantages to both wards being 

accommodated at Clock View. A summary of these, set against key criteria, is described in 

table 4 below. Ultimately, the decision needs to focus on the best fit with the new care strategy 

(model of care) in terms of safety and quality, moving forward. The proposed decision is to 

move the PICU and Section 136 suite into Clock View and leave the STAR ward at Mossley Hill 

Hospital, and include it in future plans to provide purpose built inpatient accommodation for 

Agenda Item 7

Page 101



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

24 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Liverpool and Southport. The PICU / Section 136 suites clearly fit with the division’s future 

model of care for Clock View to be the acute and intensive adult inpatient “centre of excellence”. 

Early discussions with learning disability clinicians and managers indicate that a future model of 

care for learning disabilities might suggest the STAR ward aligns itself more closely with other 

residential and community parts of the learning disability care pathway and not necessarily other 

trust mental health inpatient services. The division is keen to talk to third sector organisations 

about developing new partnerships as soon as it can and will include this work in the care 

strategy’s implementation plan. We hope a new partnership arrangement will provide a much 

more sustainable future for the Star ward. 
 

It will cost an additional £500,000 of capital investment to change Clock View to 

accommodate the PICU unit, with an additional £30,000 per week if a decision is not 

made by the end of January 2014. Additional revenue costs will be afforded through the 

current Liverpool CCG OATs/PICU budget that is planned to be transferred to Mersey 

Care this financial year. 
 

Table 2: Key criteria regarding decision to move the PICU/Section 136 into Clock View 
rather than the planned STAR Unit: 
Key Criteria STAR ward remains in Clock View 

plans 
PICU & Sec 136 suite move to Clock View 

Which option best 
fits with new care 
strategy? 

The STAR Unit is intensive and acute 

ward. 
Generally, LD has more in common with 
physical and social care (some dual 
diagnosis with MH). 

PICU has strong care pathway connections with 

adult acute services, both inpatient and 
assessment services. 
PICU is intensive and acute care. 
This fits with Clock View being the acute mental 
health specialist centre. 

The move will stop OATs and grow the PICU 
service. 

Will it improve As planned, purpose built facility will A purpose built PICU adjacent to acute wards 
service user improve quality, safety and outcomes. will improve quality, safety, outcomes and 
outcomes and experience. There are also significant 
experience? problems with current sec 136 accommodation 

in A&E departments and again a purpose build 
facility would considerably improve SU 
experience 

What about access 
and travel times? 

Clock View’s very central location, so 
improves STAR ward access. 

Clock View’s very central location, improves 
PICU / 136 access. 

Will it improve 
safety? 

A purpose build unit will improve safety. 
Being part of a larger facility will improve 
safety. 

A purpose built unit will improve safety.  In 
addition, the current PICU is isolated so moving 
it next to adult wards will improve.  The TDA 

have raised the fact that the PICU is isolated 
from other adult wards with the trust in 2013. 

Will it improve 
workforce 
efficiency? 

Being part of a five-ward facility will 
improve workforce efficiency. 

Being part of a five-ward facility will improve 
workforce efficiency. 

How will the option 
affect the trust’s 
estates plans? 

Estates plans do not change i.e. move 
STAR ward off Mossley, leave PICU at 
Rathbone 

Estates plans would change i.e. STAR ward 
would stay at Mossley.  Free PICU ward at 
Rathbone. 

Will the CCG’s and 
others support the 
option? 

All CCGs and other stakeholders support 
this plan.  It is likely there will be a 
negative reaction from LD commissioner 
and LD external organisations. 

Likely, as its fits with best practice although 
discussions will have to take place. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 102



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

25 | P a g e 

 

 

 
Will the option be 

supported staff, 
service users and 
carers? 

The plan is well known and is generally 
supported by staff, service users and 
carers. 

It is potentially a positive change for PICU staff. 
It is likely there will be negative reactions from 
LD staff, users and Carers. 

Is there a Plan B? Would   remain   on   the   Rathbone  site 
unless a new alternative can be found. 

Would remain at the Mossley site until a new 
alternative could be found. 

 

 

8.4 Non-adult acute parts of the Division’s bed stock and new partnership working: 
 

Over the long-term, all the division’s adult acute beds will be located at Clock View. There will 
remain a significant number of others beds, that still need to be accommodated in purpose built 
inpatient facilities and they are: 

 
8.5 Adult and older adult mental health acute recovery beds: 

• These new wards will be better able to focus on recovery; therapy; activity and discharge, 
than they do currently. This separation of acute and recovery will give more clarity to 
service users and staff who work with the acute client group. 

• These wards will still need to be provided by the trust in safe and comfortable purpose built 
inpatient accommodation, as although they are recovery wards the service user group will 
continue to have complex and challenging needs that require specialist mental health 
inpatient accommodation. 

 
8.6 Specialist inpatient assessment beds: 

• Dementia wards that offer assessment and post diagnostic support for service users with 
complex, challenging and multiple needs 

• The learning disability STAR ward that offers assessment for service users with complex, 
challenging and multiple needs 

• The brain injury ward will be moving into a new and expanded purpose built environment at 
the  new Walton NHS Foundation Trust centre soon. This ward offers assessment for 
service users with complex, challenging and multiple needs. 

 
8.7 Planned beds for detoxification, rehabilitation, crisis and respite: 

• Drug  and  alcohol  detox  wards,  which  offer  planned  short  stay  detoxification  and 
stabilisation for service users with complex, challenging and multiple needs. 

• Sherbrook unit in Southport that has a small number of adult mental health crisis beds 
for very short stay. 

• Rathbone  rehabilitation  ward,  which  offers  rehabilitation  for  adults  with  severe  and 
enduring mental health needs over a 1-2 year period. 

• Heys Court offers long-term accommodation to older adults with mental health needs. 

• Wavertree Bungalow provides respite care for adults with learning disability. 
 

The division has yet to consider how to provide the beds identified in sections 11.5 and 11.6, 
over the long term, in any great detail (apart from the brain injury ward). More discussion needs 
to take place to determine specific strategies (models of care) for each service line and what 
role the trust and inpatient services have within each strategy. For example, where does the 
learning disability STAR ward and other trust services fit within the wider learning disability 
strategy? 
Building on from the work the trust can then determine whether it would be a better model to 
deliver some of the beds in partnership with other organisations and/or no longer provide beds

Agenda Item 7

Page 103



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

26 | P a g e 

 

 

 

such as rehabilitation or respite beds. There are many forms of partnership arrangements from 
leasing accommodation to joint service delivery, e.g. a number of mental health trusts in 
England West (Manchester, 5 Boroughs) have developed partnerships with third sector 
organisations to jointly deliver rehabilitation, respite, crisis and step down accommodation. A 
good example of a recent new partnership is with the Walton NHS Foundation Trust and Mersey 
Care to accommodate an expanded brain injury rehabilitation centre in a new Walton Centre. 

 
8.8 What is the right bed capacity for the future? 

 
The division has worked with trust management consultants to review its bed capacity plans. 
Table 5 below illustrates current Local Division bed numbers, i.e. 255 adult and older adult beds 
including PICU, Sherbrook crisis unit and dementia wards, with a total number of Local Division 
beds at 351. 

 
Table 3: 
Ward Site Description Speciality 

Mental health = MH 
No.  Beds as at 

2013 

Albert Broadoak Unit Adult MH 24 

Brunswick Broadoak Unit Adult MH 18 

Harrington Broadoak Unit Adult MH 24 

Windsor House Windsor House Adult MH 24 

PICU Rathbone Hosp. Adult MH 8 

Alexandra Aintree Hosp Adult MH 20 

Gladstone Aintree Hosp Adult MH 24 

Park Unit Hesketh Centre Adult MH 22 

Sherbrook Unit (crisis beds) Hesketh Centre Adult MH 2 

Adult & PICU sub total   166 

Acorn (dementia) Mossley Hill Hosp. Older Peoples MH 15 

Oak (functional MH) Mossley Hill Hosp. Older Peoples MH 20 

Boothroyd (mixed) Boothroyd Ward Older Peoples MH 20 

Clarence (dementia) Aintree Hosp Older Peoples MH 17 

Sandon (functional MH) Aintree Hosp Older Peoples MH 17 

Older adult sub total   94 

ADULT & OLDER GRAND TOTAL   255 

Kevin White Drug Detox. Unit Sefton Gen Hos. Addiction Services 17 

Windsor Clinic – Alcohol Aintree Hosp Addiction Services 16 

Addictions sub total   33 

Brain Injury Unit Rathbone Hosp. Brain Injury 8 

Rathbone Rehabilitation Centre (mental 
illness) 

 
Rathbone Hosp. 

 
Rehabilitation 

 
25 

STAR learning disability unit Mossley Hill Hosp. Learning Disability 9 

Wavertree Bungalow Wavertree Lodge Learning Disability 5 

Heys Court (long term rehabilitation) Garston Older Peoples MH 16 

Other sub total   61 

LOCAL DIVISION GRAND TOTAL   351 

Agenda Item 7

Page 104



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

27 | P a g e 

 

 

 

 
 
 

The division reviewed its future bed requirement by working with a group of senior clinicians and 
the trust management consultants to examine the issue from three key perspectives, i.e. 

 
• NEED – in relation to the impact of the new model of care, wider population changes e.g. 

aging population, unmet need e.g. dementia, psychological distress and the impact of wider 
societal / economic changes e.g. changes to local authority funding. 

 
• WANT – in relation to the quality of care clinical services want to deliver moving forward e.g. 

no out of area treatments, the right level of caseloads and significant improvements in 
outcomes for services users. 

 
• WHAT WE CAN AFFORD – in relation to the division’s 20-25% cost improvement plan over 

the next five years. 
 

The group reviewed bed capacity using the trust’s payment by results cluster caseload 
information for 2013 and the group established the following assumptions, which the work is 
based on: 

• The payment by results cluster data used as a baseline has only been established for 12 
months and so is not 100% accurate, therefore a 10% margin of error needs to be built into 
all future plans. 

• The clusters only cover adult and older adult mental health beds and so do not include 94 
beds providing care for specialist services not covered by payment by results. 

• The caseload remains the same, as the group have not yet fully analysed needs / future 
demand information to determine its impact on future bed numbers. This analysis is not 
straightforward. For example, a growing need for dementia services does not necessarily 
mean an increase in the number of dementia beds provided by the trust. It’s is also difficult 
to determine the likely future impact of local authority budget cuts on the divisions inpatient 
services, e.g. it is likely the cuts will increase the rate of delayed discharges, but by how 
much. 

• The division has to make a 20-25% cost improvement over the next five years. 

• The baseline caseload does not include the small number of out of area treatments that fall 
into two categories; 1) over-spill from adult mental health acute inpatient services that will 
affect future bed numbers; 2). OATs for specialist mental health and learning disability 
treatments that may affect inpatient services such as PICU, or may affect community care 
packages such as personality disorder or learning disability OATs. 

• The bed capacity does not take into account any future new inpatient business opportunities 
such as the brain injury inpatient service increasing its bed numbers from 8 to 12 in January 
2015; extending inpatient service provision into West Lancashire; or expanding service 
areas such as PICU (from 8 to 12). 

• The plans assume 100% delivery of the new care strategy outcomes and benefits in relation 
to reductions in admission rates and lengths of stay. We need to consider building in a 
margin of error, or periodic reviews of our future plans following keys implementation stages. 

• The review does not take into account future policy initiatives or treatment / therapy / 
technological innovations. 

• The work does not sub divide into specialities, age or gender. This has implications for 
delivery plans. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 105



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

28 | P a g e 

 

 

 

8.9 Future Bed Requirement Summary: 

 
Table 4 below illustrates a future bed capacity with a lower and upper range based on work 
completed to date of 172 beds to 212 beds (with a current bed base of 255 – this includes 8 
beds for PICU). The group identified reductions in admission rates and lengths of stay for a 
number of key cluster groups once the new care strategy has been fully implemented, i.e. the 
most significant changes are: 

• Generally  no  inpatient  stays  for  people  in  clusters  1-3  (although  very  occasionally 
admissions may be necessary) 

• A reduction in both admissions and length of stay for cluster 4 and 8 

• A reduction in length of stay for clusters 5, 11, 12 and 14. 

Table 4: 

 Scenario 1- Base Case (90% Occupancy) 

Activity Area           
Local Services     Admissions ALOS Upper ALOS Lower 

 

 
 
 
 

PBR 

 

 
Caseload 

 
 

Status 

Quo 

Admissions 

core 

scenario 

90% Occ 

&No LOS 

adjustment 

 
 
 
 

AVLOS 

Core 

 

 
 
 
 

Upper 

 

 
 
 
 

Lower 

 

 
 
 
 

Upper 

 

 
 
 
 

Lower 

 

 
 
 
 

Upper 

 

 
 
 
 

Lower 

0 – Variance 140 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.8 5.1 4.6 

1 - Common Mental Health Problems 

(Low Severity) 
282 3.9 0 0 0 0 0 

 
2 

2.1 
 

1.9 

2 - Common Mental Health Problems 

(Low Severity with Greater Need) 
387 5.4 0 0 0 0 0 

 
2.7 

2.9 
 

2.6 

3 - Non Psychotic (Moderate Severity) 1526 18.4 0 0 0 0 0 9.2 9.7 8.8 

4 - Non Psychotic (Severe) 937 21.1 17.9 14.4 13.5 15.2 11.8 15.2 13.3 17.1 

5 - Non Psychotic (Very Severe) 178 6.8 6.8 5.4 5.7 5.1 5.3 6 5.5 4.8 

6 - Non Psychotic Disorders of 

Overvalued Ideas 
208 2.9 2.9 2.9 3.1 2.8 3.1 

 
2.9 

2.9 
 

2.6 

7 - Enduring Non-Psychotic Chaotic 

Challenging 
766 4.6 0 0 0 2.3 0 

 
0 

2.4 
 

2.2 

8 - Enduring Non-Psychotic Disorders 

(High Disability) 
438 12.5 10.6 7.4 7 7.9 6.5 

 
7.5 

7.3 
 

8.4 

10 - 1st Episode in Psychosis 517 14 13.3 11.9 11.3 12.6 10.7 11.9 11.9 13.3 

11 - On-going or recurrent psychosis 

(Low Symptoms) 
2095 19.4 17.4 11.3 10.7 12 8.2 

 
13.2 

9.2 
 

14.7 

12 - On-going or recurrent psychosis 

(High Disability) 
1397 21.1 19 12.4 11.7 13 9.5 

 
15.2 

10 
 

16.1 

13 - On-going or recurrent psychosis 

(High Symptoms & Disability) 
678 15.1 14.3 12.9 12.2 13.6 11.6 

 
12.9 

12.8 
 

14.3 

14 - Psychotic Crisis 132 32.2 30.6 21.4 20.3 22.6 18.9 21.8 21 24.2 

15 - Severe Psychotic Depression 60 8.3 8.3 8.3 8.7 7.9 9.1 8.3 8.3 7.5 

16 - Dual Diagnosis 186 4.9 4.9 4.9 5.1 4.6 4.9 5.4 4.9 4.4 

17 - Psychosis & Affective Disorders 

Difficult to Engage 
313 12 11.4 10.3 9.7 10.8 9.2 

 
10.3 

10.2 
 

11.4 

18 - Cognitive Impairment (Low Need) 1830 8.9 0 0 0 4.4 0 0 4.7 4.2 

19 - Cognitive Impairment or 

Dementia Complicated (Moderate Need) 
1856 8.2 0 0 0 4.1 0 

 
0 

4.3 
 

3.9 

20 - Cognitive Impairment or 

Dementia Complicated (High Need) 
695 12.7 12.7 11.5 12 10.9 11.4 

 
12.7 

10.3 
 

11.5 

21 - Cognitive Impairment or 

Dementia (High Physical or Engagement) 
266 4.5 4.5 4 4.2 3.8 4 

 
4.4 

3.6 
 

4 

97 - Not Assessed & Not Clustered & 

Assessed Not Clustered 
1149 23.7 23.7 23.7 23.7 23.7 23.7 23.7 23.7 23.7 

  265.4 203.1 167.5 163.7 182.1 152.7 190.1 186.1 206.2 

Agenda Item 7

Page 106



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

29 | P a g e 

 

 

265.4 203.1 176.6 172.3 191.8 164.3 194.4 199.6 212 

 

 
 

TOTAL Bed numbers – range 

 

 

SUMMARY: The division proposes to use the upper range of 212 beds for future adult and 
older adult plans, as this will include a sufficient margin of error, as the assumptions listed 
above had not yet been taken account of in the capacity model. This means a reduction of 43 
adult and older adult beds once the new care strategy has been fully implemented. Therefore, 
in total the Local Division’s future bed capacity is shown in table 5 below. 

 
Table 5: 

Service line Future 
number of 
beds 

Comments 

Adult & older adult including 
dementia 

212 Planned decrease of 43 beds once care strategy is fully 
delivered, plus increase of 4 PICU beds in March 2015 

Addictions (drug & alcohol) 33 More work needed to review future plans 

Brain Injury Unit 12 Increasing from 8 -12 in January 2015 

Rathbone rehabilitation unit 
(mental illness) 

25 More work needed to review future plans 

STAR learning disability unit 9 More work needed to review future plans 

Wavertree Bungalow (LD 
respite) 

5 More work needed to review future plans 

Heys Court (long term older 
peoples rehab) 

16 More work needed to review future plans 

TOTAL 314 43 bed reduction in adult and older adult; plus 4 bed 
increase for brain injury; plus 4 bed increase in PICU 

Note: Following more detailed review of specialist beds (described in section above there many 
well be further reductions in bed capacity planned for). 

 
8.10 How does our future bed capacity plans compare with other NHS Trust’s in 

England? 
 

Comparing our beds numbers to other NHS Trust’s is difficult, as different benchmarking tools 
draw different conclusions, as shown in the latest benchmarking information, in table 6 and 7 
below, e.g. table 6 puts our current adult beds in the upper quartile of beds provided per 
100,000 population whereas table 7 puts our adult beds in the lower quartile. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 107



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

30 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Table 6: 
Latest NHS 
benchmarking Club 
Information      (2013) 
per                100,000 

population 

Variation across 
NHS per 100,000 
population 

Median per 100,000 
population 

Lower  quartile  per 
100,000 population 

Upper  quartile  per 
100,000 population 

Adult mental health 
Mersey Care has 31 
beds in 2013 

11 beds to 63 beds 21.7 beds 19 beds 29 beds 

Older mental health 
(65+)  Mersey  Care 
has 70 beds in 2013 

Mean rate 73 beds 60 beds 45 beds 76 beds 

 

Table 7: 
Benchmarking 
ourselves  against  a 
bed number per 
100,000 weighted 
population 

Variation across 
NHS per 100,000 
population 

Median per 100,000 
population 

Lower  quartile  per 
100,000 population 

Upper  quartile  per 
100,000 population 

Adult mental health 
Mersey Care has 19 
beds in 2013 

11 beds to 63 beds 22.6 beds 20 beds 28 beds 

Older mental health 
(65+)  Mersey  Care 
has 56 beds in 2013 

Mean 61 beds 57 beds 43 beds 73 beds 

Note: weighted population denominators use the Department of Health’s exposition book which 
highlights the impact of mental health weightings for a variety of factors including population age, sex, 
ethnicity, deprivation and prevalence. The trust has received feedback from the external management 
consultants helping us determine our future bed capacity in terms of adult acute beds, that the DH had 
revisited the Mental Weighting Formula as part of its Fundamental Review of Allocations Policy (FRAP) in 
2013 and this makes using the Exposition Booklet weightings no longer accurate. 

 
9. Business Developments: 

 
We find ourselves in a fast changing and economically pressured environment so our plans for 
the future need to be a combination of transforming our services and growing our services. This 
section of the care strategy focuses on how the division will grow its business over the next five 
years. One key question the division’s senior management and clinical team has spent the last 
four months considering is what business/s the division should be in, moving forward. 

 
This question needs to be set within the context of: 

 
• The division’s mental health, addiction, learning disability (LD) and brain injury (BI) 

services being significant parts of wider health and social care pathways, that span 
ordinary life and include transitions from one part of a pathway to another (that are often 
the most stressful and difficult parts of the pathway). 

• The current level of capacity, competency and priority primary care and CCG colleagues
(i.e. our key customers) have in mental health, addictions, LD and BI. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 108



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

31 | P a g e 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Diagram 5 
 
 

 

The division plans to be the lead provider in local mental health, addiction, LD and BI pathways 
moving forward and is in the unique position of being the only local organisation that has a 
critical mass of skills, expertise, experience and services to achieve this ambition. The two 
specialist parts of the pathway are clearly our business. We also plan to take opportunities in 
the first two parts of the pathway to improve outcomes for people with mental health, addiction, 
LD and BI problems and disabilities and to gain parity of esteem for mental health. 

 
We already have agreed and robust plans that will be implemented in the next year to receive a 
transferred out of area treatment budget from Liverpool CCG of £2.585 million to bring back 
adult mental health OATs and prevent future OATs; community and inpatient expansion of BI 
services and expansion of inpatient PICU services. 

 
Future expansion plans include: 

• Develop a NEW help, advice, consultancy, triage, assessment, brief intervention and 
signposting service, which will allow the division to be clearer with its customers as to 
what services we provide and grow elements of this service e.g. expand consultancy to 
GPs. Expand into Sefton and Liverpool IAPT services; take on the wider single point of 
access role in Liverpool, Recovery Colleges at a primary care level. 

• Support other specialist services such as LD and dementia to continue to grow and 
shape the strategic direction locally. 

• CAMHS10: Build on the work to date and support the division to expand into child and 
adolescent mental health services. Internationally there is recognition that the traditional 
CAMHS and adult split does not serve young people well. An International Declaration 
of  Youth Mental Health was launched in 2013 to address the needs of this group; 
reducing suicide, promoting good mental health, and ensuring that all young people can 
access specialist mental health assessment and intervention, in youth friendly locations, 
when they need them, with continuity of care as they move through  emerging 
adulthood. It is recognised Young People need to be a part of the redesign of services 
for  the future. There are models of Youth Mental Health services emerging globally, 
involving increased participation across the tiers of the health and social care system, 

 

 
 

Most mental health problems emerge in adolescence, and these are the main health problem for this age group. 
Young people are often poorly served by mental health services,

10 
with problems transitioning from Child and 

Agenda Item 7

Page 109



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

32 | P a g e 

 

 

 

with development of specialist Youth Mental Health services  that can support and 
contribute to this work. We want to make the aspiration of the International Declaration 
on Youth Mental Health a reality for Young people in Merseyside, working to develop 
new collaborations and models of care, alongside research to evaluate effectiveness, 

and hope this can be a major area of development in the new local division.  11
 

• Agree a similar OATs plan with Sefton and Knowsley CCG and for LD services as part of 
the national Winterbourne plan. Re-invest the OATs income into personality community 
services and further expand this area of business. 

• Consider the feasibility of providing an eating disorder inpatient service and expanding 
into other parts of the pathway.  Commissioners have indicated they are interested in 
this development. 

• Expand services into West Lancashire, where commissioners to see if we would be 
interested in providing in-patient beds to ensure local access have approached the trust 
on a tentative basis. 

 
10. Evidence, Evaluating and Learning: 

 
In developing our new care strategy, we have worked with the library team to review national 
and international evidence in each key service area. Some of our clinicians have also visited 
and talked to a number of other trusts in England to understand how they are developing 
services. This new care strategy is based on the latest evidence and aligned to latest health 
policy. Some areas have a stronger evidence base that other areas, e.g. there is a strong 
evidence base for 7 day working; for the most senior clinicians providing assessment; for hub 
and spoke models, and for Lean working. The division will plan future evaluation and research 
of the new care strategy with the new Centre for Perfect Care and Well-being. 

 
11. hat is the Impact of Delivering our NEW Care Strategy on Caseload; Workforce, 
Estates, and Financial Plans 

 
11.1 Workforce and Organisational Development Plan: 

 
The division will produce a detailed workforce plan over the next few months, which will be 
underpinned by the trust's People Plan (which is a 4-year workforce strategy 2014- 2018). The 
plan will set out the workforce requirements to enable the division to meet both current and 
future workforce needs in support of the trust's overarching strategy. It will also set out the key 
enablers, barriers and mitigations, as well as addressing the required cost improvement targets. 
Our workforce plan will ensure we maximise overall productivity in a cost effective way whilst 

 
11 

Adolescent to Adult services. Under 25s are underrepresented in adult services, meaning services are failing to 
engage, when problems may be most effectively treated. Liverpool and Sefton have a complex commissioning 
structure for Young people, split between Alder Hey Children’s Hospital, Mersey Care NHS Trust and Cheshire and 
Wirral Partnership Trust, with additional provision from the Third Sector. There have been local serious adverse 
incidents involving transitions within Liverpool and Sefton. 
Over 2013-14 we have been working on a joint CQUIN with Alder Hey, local providers of child and adolescent 

services. We have been able to work to understand the landscape for young people, and recognise gaps in 
provision. We have explored transitions through audit recognising good work, but also that for most young people 
transition is less than optimal. We have examined referral, activity, and caseload and DNA data by age group to 
compare Mersey Care with evidence around the difficulties with engagement and early intervention for this group. 
Data from 2010-13 shows highest referrals for 16-25 group (23-24%), with contacts substantially lower (12-13%) and 
caseloads lowest of all age groups (9-10%). Do not attend (DNA) rate also appears significantly higher than other 

age groups. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 110



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

33 | P a g e 

 

 

 

ensuring, that safe levels of staffing are maintained and ensure that we are employing the right 
workforce to meet the needs of current and future patients. 

 
Starting position and revision of workforce numbers 
A table showing the projected workforce figures will be developed as the Care Strategy for Local 
Services progresses and will consider demand trends projected over the coming years and will 
link in with commissioner intentions. In order to assist with this analysis, the trust's finance team 
have produced information based on budgeted establishment and indicates the Whole Time 
Equivalent numbers of staff within each staff group across the Local Division, see Diagram 5 
below. 

 
Diagram 5: Whole Time Equivalent staff numbers at present in the Local Division 

 

 
 

The next stage of the process will take into account the following key issues: 
 

• We need to apply CIP savings to the base case. 
• How the  changes  to  services  affect  the  workforce,  e.g.  IMT&  productivity  gains;  agile 

working; 7 day working; review of skill mix; new recovery roles;. 
• We need to define the Quality Quotient impact assessment of clinical standards, minimum 

staffing levels and training requirements. 
• The effect of national issues will need to be assessed around the Future Hospital Forum 

report, Southampton School of Nursing review of staff to patient ratios, reforms to the 
probation and prison services etc. 

• There is a common consensus that in the longer term we require a formulation of the 
strategic issues facing all professional groups and how will these impact our workforce 
plans. 

• In order to calculate proposed staffing numbers, we will require current detailed activity and 
proposed activity for the new Care Strategy model. We need to understand what the patient
base is that Mersey Care serves now and what it will look like or how will it change in the 
future. Work is being undertaken to define caseload activity and this data will evidence and 
support the workforce plans to be established once this work has been validated within the
Local services division. 

• We will need to consider how the new care strategy will impact upon current medical work 
plans, working hours and contracts, as well as all other professional groups.

Agenda Item 7

Page 111



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

34 | P a g e 

 

 

 

• We need to consider supervision, minimum staffing and risk reduction in conjunction with 
the recommendations from the Francis report. 

 
Strategic Workforce Risk Factors: 

Together with the above elements, it will be critical to take account of the ensuing risk factors 
that will also impact on the future workforce profile of the Local Services division. 

• Turnover rate/stability Index 
• Retirement rate 
• Mental Health Officer status 
• Maternity Leave and Return rate 
• Sickness and Absence rates 

We will also need to consider skill mix reviews, the impact of MARS, improvements in 
technology, agile working and the future Estates Strategy. All of this information will need to be 
triangulated  to  provide  assurance  for  the Workforce  plan.  Assurance  processes  regarding 
workforce processes will be provided via external review and scrutiny and that any review of 
professional groups/ departments undertaken are 

 
Organisational Development (OD) 

 
It is essential the implementation of the care strategy focuses equally on the values, attitudes 
and behavior of individual staff as well as supporting teams to be “high performing”. Diagram 8 
below highlights the importance service users and carers put in this area. A group of service 
users and carers produced the diagram in December 2013 to describe how the future Local 
Division service will look in terms of staff values and behavior. conducted using robust 
methodology including the use of national tools (where appropriate). 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 112



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

35 | P a g e 

 

 

 

 

The draft new trust organisational effectiveness plan (2014) talks about the growing evidence 
base for delivery of high quality care through cohesive, high performing teams across the care 
pathway. We need a team development process that aims to facilitate transition and alignment 
to the new model of care and underpins quality and integration through the establishment of a 
community of teams. Multi-professional team working has become an increasingly important 
feature when organising work in all sectors. However, this is especially poignant in health as 
high performing teams are integrally linked to the delivery  of high quality  care. Research 
conducted in a health context by Professor Michael West and colleagues at Aston University 
identifies that effective team working impacts on a number of significant factors, which include: 

 
• Reduced hospitalisation and costs 
• Increased effectiveness and innovation 
• Increased well-being of team members 
• Implementation of higher quality innovation 
• Decrease in patient mortality 
• Reduced error rates 
• Reduced turnover and sickness absence 
West’s research differentiates between ‘real’ and ‘pseudo’ teams. ‘Pseudo’ teams are teams in 
name; however do not have the attributes of a ‘real’ team, which are: clear, shared objectives; 
working  closely  together  to  achieve  objectives,  and  meeting  regularly  to  review  team 
effectiveness and how it could be improved. The OD team will support division managers to 
apply a consistent methodology for regular team development activity within the new care 
strategy implementation plans. 

 
11.2 Local Division Estate and Facilities Requirements: 

 

The division has translated its new care strategy model of care into estate requirements for 
assessment, community and inpatient services. The standards described in the following 
sections will ensure we: 

 

• Protect current services from competitors and provide parity of esteem for mental health 

e.g. single bedrooms with en-suite is now the norm in the healthcare (and mental health) 
markets. 

• Protect  current  services  from  the  risk  of  service  users  choosing  other  providers,  as 
customers now expect comfortable environments that offer privacy. 

• Work more efficiently using evidenced based design e.g. minimal internal corridors, sight 
lines, access to outside space without staff escort, minimises  energy use and carbon 
emissions, etc. 

• Achieve 100% service user experience, as current environments negatively affect how 
service users experience current services. 

 
Assessment and Community Services Minimum Design Standards: 
The division has agreed minimum design standards for all assessment and community services. 
These standards are applicable to accommodation owned, leased or rented by the trust, i.e. any 
accommodation the trust provides services from: 
• When service users are not able to be treated at home, they will be treated as close to 

home as possible, in an environment that is safe, comfortable and offers privacy (adequate 
sound proofing), dignity and hope. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 113



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

36 | P a g e 

 

 

 

• An external and internal appearance that describes what Mersey Care stands for, e.g. hope 
and recovery; welcome and transparency; reducing stigma and social inclusion. 

• All  staff  will  be  expected  to  undertake  their  duties  within  new  agile/remote  working 
arrangements and so all staff will be provided with the tools to enable them to work on 
agile/remote working basis. Staff need the facility to access and update patient records in 
all rooms and buildings. 

• There will be different sized interview and group therapy rooms that will, wherever possible,
be multi-functional and utilised through a booking system. They will accommodate face to 
face and group treatment and therapy, as well as joint care planning and data inputting. 
Rooms used for assessment and treatment need to be comfortable, private, safe and have 
the facility for staff to access and update patient records. 

• Entrances, waiting areas and exits needs to be open, comfortable and welcoming, with 
access to appropriate toilets and refreshments. 

• Environments will need to be open extended hours, over seven days, and allow for partner
organisations and local community groups to use them. 

• Visual access to views (nature), natural light, and access to fresh air is a requirement for 
rooms used by staff or service users for more than half an hour. 

• Attention should be paid to public transport routes, external access into the building (way 
finding) and access to car parking. E.g., staff working within an agile model will need 
access to car parking.  E.g. Service users and carers attending for appointments need to 
easily find the right service. 

• Access to basic staff facilities that support team working i.e. rest rooms, formal and informal 
meeting spaces, access to showers, lockers and food. 

• The cost of accommodation needs to be value for money. 

• The experience gained from developing and operating the South Sefton Neighbourhood 
Centre will be taken into account in all future work. 

 
Inpatient Services Minimum Design Standards: 

The division has agreed minimum design standards for all new inpatient environments. As 
these standards comply with basic national guidelines, customer expectations and the practice 
of all neighbouring Trusts and most NHS/independent sector mental health organisations in 
England, the design standards cover all parts of the new stratified inpatient service, including 
beds provided in partnership with third sector organisations, i.e. planned admissions, 
rehabilitation, crisis and step down. 

 
• An external and internal appearance that describes what Mersey Care stands for, e.g. 

hope and recovery; welcome and transparency; reducing stigma and social inclusion. 

• Single bedrooms with en-suites, to ensure privacy, dignity, safety, comfort and control. 

• All users will have access to views (nature), natural light, and fresh air and outside 

space, as specified by Department of Health ASPECT guidelines. Access to outside 

space will be on the same level as the rest of the inpatient ward. 

• Clinical, therapy, assessment, office and activity rooms on and off the ward to support 
recovery. 

• Basic staff facilities such as staff rooms, facilities to shower, lockers and access to food. 

• Easy and efficient ergonomics, way finding and adjacencies to support staff to work 
effectively. 

• Sustainable build which will ensure that carbon emissions, energy usage and FM costs 
are minimised. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 114



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

37 | P a g e 

 

 

 

• Internal design that gives a sense of space, freedom, progression along the recovery 
journey, comfort and control whilst at the same time provides accommodation that is 
safe and secure (including the most up to date safety standards). 

 
Capacity Requirement: 
The trust estates team recently conducted an extensive mapping exercise to identify current 
estate capacity to use as a baseline for future estate changes, using Liverpool and Sefton 
Health Partnerships (LSHP). The exercise highlighted the following observations which have 
been used to inform future local division estate requirements. 

 
• There is an opportunity to transform the estate due to the poor condition of the majority 

of the division’s current facilities. 

• We need to improve the efficiency of how we manage our estate, for example by 
potentially reducing the number of properties we own and reinvesting capital into 
purpose built accommodation. 

• The new Clock View facility is the blue print for the future. 

• Local division Inpatient beds are utilised 92% of the time, which is higher that the trust 
target of 85%. 

• Clinical community rooms are currently under utilised. 
 

The division requires four community recovery and well-being centres (buildings) to support 

its community services in the future. This plan is based on the following assumptions: 

 

• Staff will continue to need safe and comfortable interview and treatment rooms within 
close proximity to a critical mass of other staff, to care for a significant minority of service 
users whose risks and/or vulnerability mean they cannot be cared for at home or in 
smaller clinic situations. 

• A reduced staff number of 680 (20% less than current community staff) over the next five 
year and a reduced team number from 31 to 4 integrated community recovery and 
wellbeing teams. 

• 30% of future community activity taking place in the four community recovery “hubs” and 
70% of activity taking place in a at home or in community “spokes”. Community “spokes” 
are smaller clinical venues within local communities, booked on a sessional basis and 
we would need to look at the split as we move forward. 

• Traditional outpatient clinic arrangements will reduce over the next five years. 

• Approximately 3 to 5 community spokes per geographical area, so approximately 15 – 
25 spokes in total. 

• The four community recovery centres and 15 – 25 community spokes do not have to be 
owned by the trust and ideally need to be a partnership with other local organisations, for 
example primary care, or community organisations. Local people should be encouraged 
to use the hubs for activity wider than mental health out of hours in negotiation with 
clinical services. 

 
To summarise, the future inpatient capacity requirements for the Local Division will be as shown 
in Table 8. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 115



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

38 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Table 8: Forecast Local Division bed numbers 
212 Adult and older adult beds including PICU and Dementia (85 of which will be provided at 

Clock View) – a reduction of 43 beds 

12 Brain injury rehabilitation beds (already being constructed at the new Walton Centre) 

9 Learning disabilities beds 

33 Addiction (drug & alcohol) beds 

25 Rathbone rehabilitation unit (mental illness) 

5 Wavertree Bungalow (LD respite) 

16 Heys Court (long term older peoples rehab) 

314 TOTAL 

 

• Clock View will accommodate 85 beds, so for adult and older adult services a further 127 
beds are required. 

• Most of the remaining 127 adult and older adult beds need to be located in a central 
Liverpool location, in an area with high mental health need and also in an area that is 
accessible via public transport for service users from other parts of Liverpool. 

• A small proportion of the remaining 127 adult and older adult beds are required in Southport 
e.g. approximately 25.  However if the service expands into West Lancashire then the bed 
number could double. 

• A new Walton BI Centre, being constructed by the Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust, 
will accommodate 12 brain injury beds. 

• More detailed planning work is required to determine the final number of addiction, learning 
disability, rehabilitation and respite beds required in the future. Currently the division has 88 
beds.  The service is keen to consider future bed provision for some of these services in 
partnership with other organisations anticipating bed numbers will fall to support more 
community provision. 

 

 
Estates and Facilities Requirements Summary: 

 
The division now has agreed estates design requirements and capacity projections for 
community and inpatient services i.e. four community recover and well-being centres with 15-25 
community spokes and 127 additional adult and older adult beds and other specialist beds. In 
order to fully realise the division’s aim of pursing perfect care these requirements need to be 
delivered as soon as they can. The next step is to complete an option appraisal and feasibilities 
studies on short listed options in order to determine a how and when the division’s future 
estates and facilities requirements will be delivered. 

 
11.3 Financial & Cost Improvement Plans: 

 
The division has to deliver its CIP targets for the next five years. The targets are detailed in 
table 9 below.  Table 9 Local Division CIP targets 2014-19. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 116



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

39 | P a g e 

 

 

 

CIP Targets 2014/15 - 2019/20 
 

CIP Targets 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Addiction 457 401 399 397 284 195 2,133 

Rebuild 860 755 752 747 534 366 4,014 

Liverpool 1,468 1,290 1,284 1,276 912 626 6,856 

Positive Care Partnership 1,393 1,223 1,218 1,210 865 593 6,502 

Total 4,178 3,669 3,653 3,630 2,595 1,780 19,505 
 

The division has robust plans to deliver the first two years CIP plans and it also has longer term 
plans for the remaining years. Implementation of the new care strategy will deliver CIP plans 
from 2015-16 in the following key areas: 

 
Community services redesign: 

 
• Integrating teams, functions, clinical leadership and line management 

• Review of skills mix across the division, e.g. standard roles, roll out of recovery model 

• Productivity gains through lean thinking and improved IM&T 

• Medical staffing and prescribing budget reduction 

• Savings in estates and facilities 

Inpatient and acute care services redesign: 

• Reduced admissions and lengths of stay 
• Productivity gains through lean thinking and improved IM&T 
• Savings in estates and facilities 

 

 
12. Next Stage Governance & Implementation: 

 

The division has developed new governance plans that will enable the Local Division to 
implement its new care strategy 2013-18 whilst maintaining safe, high quality services and 
increasing the productivity of staff by significantly reducing the number of meetings (i.e. from 40 
to 6 meetings). Essentially the task was to bring four separate ‘CBU’ governance structures into 
one revised integrated framework that is underpinned by the concept of triangulation, setting the 
foundations for ‘perfect care’ with quality running throughout. 

 
A mapping exercise involving the respective services included in this piece of work identified 
that there were at least 41 separate governance meetings/forums across the four areas, with at 
least another 21 corporate governance type meetings for services to attend. 

 
Staff attending these meetings, many of them senior, felt that they were too performance 
focused and appeared reactive rather than quality focused and proactive as was the initial 
intention. There are many reasons for this for which it wasn’t the remit of the work-stream to 
analyse but it should be noted that the organisation must have some form of governance of its

Agenda Item 7

Page 117



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

40 | P a g e 

 

 

 

governance i.e. meetings have often been created to fill a perceived gap without attempts to 
rectify the initial problem or utilise other methods of sharing information. 

 
The proposed Governance framework for the Local Services division is based on the principles 
of the Monitor’s Quality Governance framework and has quality at its heart. The main aims of 
the framework are: 

 
• Ensuring required standards are achieved 

• Investigating and taking action on sub-standard performance 

• Planning and driving continuous improvement; 

• Identifying, sharing and ensuring delivery of best-practice 

• Identifying and managing risks to quality of care. 
 

One of the core principles of the structure is triangulation, ensuring that no meeting is designed 
to look at one specific governance element in isolation and key items are considered with other 
related elements in mind. 

 
The new structure proposes that there will be three main governance meetings across the 
division. The meetings will cover the three elements of quality: Safety, Effectiveness and 
Experience. 

 
Critical to the success of this proposal is the development of information systems that will 
provide staff at all levels of the organisation with the right level of detail. It is the intention that 
there will be a clear flow of information from and to frontline staff and the divisional board. This 
will begin with clear, concise and appropriate information being available to teams across the 
division that will enable discussion with operational managers that will help the teams to 
understand how they are performing against each of the domains of quality. 
Exception reports will be produced for each of the three governance meetings. This is discussed 
further in the ‘transition’ section of the paper. 

 
The governance forums will analyse the exception reports, similar to the Board’s Care at a 
Glance report, with the purpose of: 

 
• Anticipating any potential risks or future issues 

• Predicting future events/situations 

• Promoting high quality care 

• Sharing best practice 

• Learning lessons across the division 

• Ensuring areas of weakness are addressed immediately 

• Assuring the divisional  board that  effective governance arrangements are in 
place 

 
To give the Board assurance, the work-stream have considered Monitor’s Quality Governance 
Framework from the outset and these proposed governance arrangements will support the trust 
in complying with the framework. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 118



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

41 | P a g e 

 

 

 

12.1 Impacts and Benefits Analysis: 
 

 

The main benefits from the proposed, streamlined governance framework are: 

 
• Supports a model of Perfect Care and the Quality Governance Framework (Monitor 2013)

• Adopts a Ward to Board approach with support of the “Care at a Glance” reporting system. 

• Reduces the duplication using LEAN principles by moving away from 40 CBU separate 

meetings to 6 focused meetings. 

• Shifts the focus to a quality driven framework, centred on the 3 quality domains for 

continuously improving patient care. 

• Fits with the suggested Strategic Framework for 2014 for the Mersey Care NHS Trust. 
 

 
 
 
 

12.2 Next Stage Programme Governance & Implementation Plans: 

 
The Local Division has a project initiation document (PID) that sets out the proposed work 
programme and change and programme management arrangements for the implementation of 
the Local Division care strategy. This section of the care strategy paper highlights key areas of 
work from the PID. 

 
12.3 Significant Change Programme: 
It is important to appreciate that the new care strategy is a significant and strategically important 

change management programme and so it must be understood within an integrated model of 

organisational change intrinsically linked to other key trust programmes, and for example not 

simply as a structural project. Diagram 6 below illustrates the trust's model of organisational 

change and highlights the equal priority the local division programme board will give to the 

behavioural, structural and technical aspects of the change. 
 

Diagram 7:  Mersey Care NHS Trust’s model of organisational change: 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 119



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

42 | P a g e 

 

 

 

13. Communication, Engagement & Consultation: 
 

The programme has a communication and engagement plan and this plan is reviewed at every 
stage of the programme. The plan separates key stakeholder groups and appreciates the range 
of understanding, interest and acceptance there will be in every stakeholder group and therefore 
provides appropriate communications relevant to each group, in the most appropriate format. 

 
Internal Stakeholders: 

We have engaged with over 400 clinicians, managers, service users and carers in developing 
our plans for the future. Our plans have been developed by local division clinicians and so are 
fully supported and signed off by them. Our plans have also been presented to the Clinical 
Senate at two recent meetings and have received support. We need to “step up” our 
engagement in the next stage of the programme, reaching all local division staff and service 
users and carers, so they can help us to develop more detailed plans and also so each person 
can understand how the changes will affect them. 

 
External Stakeholders: 

We have communicated with key GPs, commissioners and other mental health organisations 
over the last four months do we need to say something here about communication prior to the 4 
months i.e., community . This communication has been at a senior level. We have had positive 
feedback and general support for our plans. We need to “step up” our communication over the 
next few months in order to gain formal approval of our plans from health and social care 
commissioning groups and organisations. 

 
Service Users and Carers: 
We have engaged approximately 40 service users and carers in the development of our plans, 
for example service user representatives have attended most meetings and we have held 
specific service user focus groups. Should we say here that there are service user/carer reps on 
the work streams as they helped us develop our thinking Moving forward we are determined to 
adopt a co-production approach and give equal priority to the views of service users. So this 
will mean all projects and working groups will have clinical, managerial and service user/carer 
leadership. 

 
Formal Consultation: 

Local division programme leads have reviewed the NHS England recently published guidance 
titled “Planning and delivering service changes for patients” (Dec. 2013) to understand 
requirements for formal consultation. The following issues are key: 

 
• We need to separate the decision to move the PICU to Clock View (and not the learning 

disability STAR ward) from the wider decision about whether we need to consult on the 
new care strategy. We do not need formal consultation in relation to amending the 
Clock View business case. We do need to carefully communicate this change to local 
overview and scrutiny committees, local mental health and social care commissioners, 
staff, service users and carers and the local residents who live next to Clock View. We 
need to deliver this communication early February 2014. Plans are in place to deliver 
this communication. The decision to make design and construction changes to Clock 
View cannot be delayed by communication issues. 

• Whether or not we need to formally consult about our new care strategy needs further 
discussion. The division’s implementation and resource plan assumes we will need to 
formally consult. A local CCG will need to lead the consultation process and so the 
division will require 1-2 months planning with the CCG, and then the consultation will 

Agenda Item 7

Page 120



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

43 | P a g e 

 

 

 

take 3 months. Prior to consultation the new guidance states the division will need to 
have completed a Department of Health gateway review 0/1 ( this may will take 1-2 
months to organise and deliver) and also the CCG has the right to organise for a 
external review of the new strategy prior to consultation. The key question is what will 
we consult on? What will we ask people to agree or disagree with? 

 
14. Benefit Realisation & Quality Plan: 

A high level benefit realisation and quality plan is available via the PID and will be developed 
into a detailed plan during the next stage of the programme. The programme board has 
responsibility for its delivery 

 

15. Risk Register: 
A high level risk register is available via the PID and will be developed into a detailed plan 
during the next stage of the programme. The programme board has responsibility for its review, 
update and monitoring. 

 
16. Programme Structure, Key Milestones & Implementation Plan: 

 

The trust Board approved a stage 1 programme structure at its meeting in September 2013. 
Stage 2 of the programme will focus on delivering detailed plans and implementation and so the 
programme structure needs to change to reflect a shift from planning to delivery. 

 
Diagram 8 illustrates the programme structure for Stage 2. This structure is still being 
developed and will be agreed in the next few months. 
Diagram 8: Programme structure stage 2: 

 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 121



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

44 | P a g e 

 

 

 

The programme structure will ensure: 
• Each project has a clinical lead, a service user/carer lead and a project manager to assure 

quality and deliverability. 
• The programme successfully integrates with other trust strategic projects i.e. IM&T projects, 

secure services and corporate services. 
• Each  project  integrates  as  a  whole  programme  to  realise  benefits  across  the  overall 

programme and use resources more efficiently. 
 

The programme board has terms of reference from the trust Executive Committee and reports 
to the Executive Committee regularly. Each project will also have terms of reference from the 
programme board. 

 
16.1 Key Milestones: 

 

The programme will be managed in stages, over five years, and the following table10 illustrates 
the key changes that will take place and at what stages they will be delivered. 

 
Table 10: 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4 Stage 5 

Sept 13 – March 14 April  14  –  March 
15 

April  16  –  March 
17 

April  17  –  March 
18 

April  18  –  March 
19 

Develop  and  agree 
new care strategy 

New community 
services   goes   live 
from Autumn 2014 

 Evaluate  impact  of 
new services 

 

Develop detailed 
plans 

New assessment 
and immediate care 
service   goes live 
from Autumn 2014 

   

Communicate and 
engage 

New assessment 
suite goes live from 
March   2015   (risk 

issues means 
needs purpose built 
accommodation) 

   

 Clock View opens 
March  2015  -  Go 

live with new adult 
assessment and 
recovery wards – 
March   2015   (risk 

issues mean needs 
purpose built 
accommodation) 

   

  

 
 

 

 
 

Deliver new models 
of other inpatient 
services and open 
new bed stratified 
accommodation 

Deliver new models 
of other inpatient 
services and open 
new bed stratified 
accommodation 

 Roll out of improved 
EPEX system 

New clinical 
information   system 
implemented and 

step up productivity 
gains across 
services 

Roll   out   of   new 
clinical information 
system 

 

 Utilise new 
technology at scale 
in services and step 

Roll out utilising 
new  technology  at 
scale in services 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 122



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

45 | P a g e 

 

 

 
 up productivity 

gains 
and step up 
productivity gains 

  

No benefits realised Minimal benefits 
realised 

Partial benefit 
realisation 

Partial benefit 
realisation 

Full benefit 
realisation 

Notes: 
Notes: The first stage (year 1) covers the period from September 2013 until the end of March 
2014. Stage 1 is focused on agreeing and communicating the new care strategy; developing 
detailed  service,  workforce,  estate,  IM&T,  financial,  benefit  realisation,  quality  assurance, 
organisation  development,  service  specifications  and  evaluation  plans;  and  wide  scale 
communication and engagement activities with internal and external stakeholders. 
Stage 2, from April 2014 until March 2015 will focus on implementing plans.  The programme 
does have a detailed implementation plan that is regularly reviewed by the executive committee 
via the project management office and by the local division programme board. 

 

 
 

The table below, table 11, illustrates key milestones in stage 1 and stage 2 of the programme. 
The table below, table 11, illustrates key milestones in stage 1 and stage 2 of the programme. 

 
Table 11: Key Milestones 

 Key Milestones From January 2014 – March 2015   Date  
Trust Board approval of new care strategy Jan 14 

Change design and construction of Clock View to include PICU / 136 suite As soon as 
possible start Feb 
2014 

Communicate Clock View changes to internal and external stakeholders Feb 14 

Communicate and engage internal and external stakeholders Feb – April 14 
and ongoing 

Detailed planning of all aspects of care strategy e.g. delivering future bed capacity, 
workforce plans 

Feb – May 14 

Formal staff consultation – all professional groups June – Aug 14 

Gateway 0/1 May / June 

Formal public Consultation July - Sept 

Test elements of new care strategy April 14 – Feb 15 

Go live with new community recovery and wellbeing services Start date 
Autumn 14 

Go live with new assessment and immediate care service Start date 
Autumn 14 

Go live with new assessment suite and adult assessment ward and recovery wards 2015 (Clock View 
opens) 

 

 

16.2 Resources Required to Deliver Stage One of the Programme: 
 

 

The programme will require the following resources in table 12 to ensure successful delivery of 
the programme. Full costs will be provided to the trust Board at its next meeting. Programme 
leads still need to determine which posts can be supported by the division’s management re- 
structure and which posts will require new non-recurrent funding. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 123



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

46 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Table 12: 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4 Stage 5 

Sept 13 – March 14 April  14  –  March 
15 

April  16  –  March 
17 

April  17  –  March 
18 

April  18  –  March 
19 

Communication lead full time for stages 1 
and 2 

   

Workforce lead full time plus OD lead full 
time for stage 2 (a resource to support a 
change in working practice, attitudes, 
behaviours as well as services) 

OD lead full time   

Programme support officer full time band 6 for all stages, plus band 3 programme assistant post 

 3 project managers 
full time band 8a 

1 project managers 
full time band 8a 

1  project  manager 
full time band 8a 

 

Roll out recovery at scale: i.e. Continued funding for Recovery College Lead post (currently funded until Oct 

2015); ImROC Programme Manager Vocational Services Manager full time 8A; 2.0wte Recovery clinical / social 
care trainers for recovery college; 4.0 wte Band 5 Peer Trainers funding from 2014/15; 1.0 wte Band 4 Recovery 
College Administrator/PA. Band 7 Peer Lead in the organisation to deliver on-going recovery readiness training 
with teams and provide professional supervision to Peer and 1.00wte Band 3 Peer Support Worker post in every 
team/part of the pathway. £150,000 per annum recovery non pay budget: for personalisation budget; IMROC 
membership; payment of trainers/sessional workers/volunteers; evaluation; publicity/comms/travel; peer support 
worker training; IM&T; venue hire; course materials. 

Budget  for  external 
consultants  to 
support delivering 
future  inpatient 
capacity  –  run  into 
next financial year 
1) £100,000 for 
option   appraisal   / 
feasibility studies 
2) £50,000 to 

deliver new 
partnerships 

Invest to Save 

-Investment to move senior clinicians to 
front of pathway in short term (medical 
posts). 
-Investment to start therapeutic/psycho- 
social recovery and discharge pathway for 
people in outpatient clinics across the 
division (band 6 and 7 posts, back filling 
medical posts) 

  

 Budget for evaluation linked into the Centre for Perfect Care 

 

 

17. Recommendations: 
 

This report has provided a detailed description of the Local Services Division care strategy 
2014/19. It proposes significant changes to the entire local services for the first time, integrating 
the resources and planning for best use of staff and facilities. It is a clinically designed and 
supported strategy which has been developed with services users and carers and with key 
stakeholder input. The board is asked to approve the following recommendations: 

 
• To approve the Local Services Division care strategy 2014/19 

• To amend the Clock View business case to include the psychiatric intensive care unit 
(PICU) and a mental health act Section 136 assessment suite at Clock View instead of 
the trust's learning disability inpatient unit (the STAR unit). This will require additional 
investment of £500,000 and work can commence following the January board meeting 
as a matter of urgency to avoid further costs. 

 
• To approve the following developments, subject to further scrutiny: 

 
• New  acute  recovery  inpatient  accommodation  in  Liverpool  and  Southport  to 

accommodate at least 127 beds that will be required (additional to Clock View) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 124



Local Service Division – Care Strategy 

47 | P a g e 

 

 

 

over the next five years. The trust’s investment and performance committee 
included both schemes in its investment framework approved in July 2013. 

• Four new community recovery and wellbeing centres (hubs) and a number of 
sessionally booked clinical venues (spokes) in Liverpool and Southport. This is 
based upon the new South Sefton recovery centre that opened in 2013 which 
has already had very positive outcomes in relation to staff efficiency and 
effectiveness e.g. seven community teams have become one new integrated 
team. 

• Enabling IM&T projects such as the Care Programme Approach (CPA) project, 
clinical information system project, technology, and business intelligence 
solutions, as described in previous reports to the trust board by the Director of 
Informatics and Knowledge Management. 

 
• Deliver this non-recurrent programme, on-going training and project resource to 

ensure the division has the capacity and skills required to deliver this complex 
programme of change. 

 

 
 

DF 20/01/14 

Agenda Item 7

Page 125



Page 126

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

V7 Building  

Kings Business Park 

Prescot 

Merseyside  

L34 1PJ 

19
th

 February 2014 

 

The Chair 

Sefton OSC 

Health Care and Safeguarding Select Committee 

Town Hall  

Southport 

  

 

Dear Chair 

Transforming the Secure Pathway – Medium Secure Development 

Thank you for inviting us to attend the OSC meeting on 7
th

 January 2014. I am writing to update you 

on current position.  At that meeting we indicated that we would begin our  public consultation on 

the 15
th

 January 2014, however following a review we have delayed the process as we need more 

time for approval to proceed, to be given by the commissioners and TDA  and will advise you when 

we are about to recommence.  The process regarding the public consultation will remain unchanged. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Ann Kenwright 

Director of Transformation Secure Services 

Tel: 0151 473 2861 

Mobile: 07971 477948 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 127



Page 128

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

19 February 2014 
 
 
AINTREE UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL NHS FT – UPDATE REPORT 
 
 

1. Quality Strategy 
 
Aintree’s vision is to provide world class services for all its patients. Aintree will 
achieve this through a collaborative effort by everyone at the hospital from frontline 
staff to the Trust Board of Directors. 
 
To support this, Aintree has developed a three-year Quality Strategy setting out 
actions to achieve the aspirations for services. This addresses improvements based 
on the three elements of the definition of ‘quality’: 
 

- Care that is safe - working with patients and their families to reduce 

avoidable harm and improve outcomes. Aintree’s staff will focus on reducing 

harm and avoidable mortality  

- Care that is clinically effective - not just in the eyes of clinicians but in the 

eyes of patients and their families. Aintree’s staff will focus on the delivery of 

reliable care 

- Care that provides a positive experience for patients and their families. 

Aintree’s staff will focus on improving the delivery of patient and family 

centred care 

 
The Quality Strategy was developed following engagement with patients and staff, 
and will include a range of projects to ensure that the hospital delivers the three 
elements above. Staff will focus their work on projects that will have a significant 
impact on the delivery of their quality goals.  
 
A short presentation will be given to Committee members on Aintree’s Quality 
Strategy. 
 
 

2. Excellent outcomes for emergency patients to be showcased at 
international conference 

 
Aintree’s specialist trauma and emergency surgeons have been selected to present 
their pioneering work on emergency surgery at the European Congress of Trauma 
and Emergency Surgery in Frankfurt in May 2014 
 
They will share their experiences in Aintree’s Emergency General Surgery Unit 
(EGSU), a dedicated unit which has improved outcomes for patients, reduced length 
of stay and reduced mortality of patients who may present at A&E and via GPs with 

Agenda Item 8

Page 129



2 
 

unexpectedly serious problems that require immediate surgery such as appendix or 
bowel problems. Many hospitals use on-call surgeons from other disciplines who 
may not have the specialist trauma skills to deliver the most positive outcomes. 
 
Aintree’s approach is believed to be unique in the North West and there are just a 
handful of similar systems in UK hospitals. The research shows that the 
concentration of expertise, with specialist surgeons dealing with emergency and 
trauma cases on a daily basis, has led to the improved outcomes.  
 
 

3. National regulator praises quality of Aintree medical training 
 
Health Education North West gave Aintree a positive report in its recent annual 
Assessment Visit on education and training for trainee doctors. The report was 
particularly positive and said “the trainees were happy with high levels of satisfaction 
both with the job and training perspectives; and most of them without exception 
would recommend the training provided by Aintree to their peers and colleagues.”  
Among a range of support, trainee doctors at Aintree are encouraged to lead their 
own quality improvement projects, which has helped improve patient care. 
 
 

4. Aintree staff flu vaccination campaign best in the country 
Aintree’s staff flu immunisation campaign for 2013-14 was the best in the country.  
More than 83% of frontline staff had the flu jab before the campaign officially closed 
on 31st January 2014, the highest figure in the country. The jab protects patients, 
staff and families from the expected winter flu bugs. The success of the 2013/14 
builds on the previous year, when Aintree was named Flufighters of the Year in the 
national NHS Employers awards. 
 
 

5. Aintree consultant selected for nationwide leadership programme 
 
Mr Chris Barben, Colorectal Consultant, is one of only 18 NHS staff nationally to be 
chosen for GenerationQ, a pioneering leadership programme from the Health 
Foundation, an independent healthcare charity. The fellowship has a track record of 
developing leaders who understand how complex health systems work and who 
inspire others to transform healthcare quality and bring about sustainable, system-
wide change and improvements. 
 
 

6. New Tinnitus research project 
 
Aintree University Hospital has teamed up with the University of Liverpool to take 
part in a pioneering study on tinnitus.  Researchers will try to gain a better 
understanding of how the brain reacts in different tinnitus patients.  Tinnitus is a 
condition in which means individuals hear a constant noise in their ears or head and 
affects one in 10 people in the UK. There is currently no cure but effective 
management conditions can help. The study will investigate brain structure and 
function in people who have tinnitus including Aintree patients and look for 
differences in the way individuals cope with the condition. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 130



3 
 

 
7. Care Quality Commission inspection visit to Aintree 

 
Aintree will be inspected by the Care Quality Commission(CQC) on 5-6 March 2014 
as part of the ongoing national inspection programme. The inspection will include 
visits to wards and departments and a public and patient listening event. In addition, 
an unannounced visit will take place. 
 
The inspection team will look to see if Aintree is safe, effective, caring, responsive to 
patients’ needs and well-led. Following the visit a rating of either outstanding, good, 
requiring improvement or inadequate will be given. Staff have been closely involved 
in the preparations for the visit, which will fully support the work that is already 
underway to further improve the quality of care for patients and achieve Aintree’s 
common purpose of getting it right for every patient, every time. 
 
A listening event has been arranged by the CQC to seek the views of patients, 
service users and members of the public on Tuesday 4 March at 6.30pm at The Park 
Hotel, Dunningsbridge Road, Netherton, Liverpool, L30 6YN.  Full details are at 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/public/listening-events 
 
 

8. Urgent Care and Trauma Centre update 
 
Work on the foundations for the new £35million Urgent care and Trauma Centre is 
progressing well in preparation for the erection of the steel frame for the building 
later in the Spring.  The project will transform the hospital’s emergency and urgent 
care services, creating one of the most modern emergency departments in the 
region and offering state-of-the-art facilities for patients. The building project will be 
completed in 2016.  
 
 

9. NHS Change Day 
 

NHS Change Day is a national initiative taking place on Monday, 3 March, which 
aims to inspire staff, patients and the public to do something better together to 
improve care. Those taking part make a pledge to do something that will make a 
difference, no matter how big or small.  As part of NHS Change Day at Aintree, the 
Board of Directors will be shadowing frontline staff. Staff are being encouraged to 
make their own personal pledges. 
 

ENDS 

Agenda Item 8

Page 131



Page 132

This page is intentionally left blank



Southport & Ormskirk Hospital 
                Clean, Safe and Friendly                                                                                   NHS Trust 

_________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Report to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Health and Social Care) 

March 2014 
 

a. Pathology 

 

The Trust is proposing to agree a partnership arrangement with St Helens & Knowsley NHS Trust. 

 

Although the move will save money, the main driver is quality.  Southport & Ormskirk’s pathology 

directorate is simply too small to be viable on its own.  We have long-standing consultant vacancies 

in both cellular pathology and biochemistry that have proved impossible to fill, and we are also 

struggling to maintain scientific staffing levels in the blood science department.  As well as 

economies of scale, a larger laboratory will allow greater subspecialisation and also bring the 

professional benefits of a larger pool of colleagues. 

  

Currently, it is expected that the microbiology and cellular pathology departments at Southport & 

Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust (SOHT) will physically move to Whiston Hospital some time during 

2014-15.  The blood sciences department (biochemistry, blood transfusion and laboratory 

haematology) and the mortuary and bereavement service will remain physically based at SOHT.  

 

There should be no impact on services received by primary care or consultants within the Trust. 

  

 

b.  Care Closer to Home 

 

The Local Health Economy has continued to work on improving services for patients 

through the Winter, including strengthening Intermediate Care and community 

Emergency Response Teams: 

  

CCtH patient 
flow.pdf

  

The Trust has maintained A&E 4 hour services through the Winter and aims to maintain this 

standard through February and March. 

 

 

c.  Nurse Staffing 

  

The Trust is continuing to improve permanent nurse staffing levels.  A second round of 10 

nurses has recently been recruited from Portugal and our Nurse Director Liz Yates has 

agreed to support 2 cohorts of preceptorships with Edge Hill University. 

 

 

Damian Reid 

Deputy CEO/Finance Director 

February 2014 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 133



Page 134

This page is intentionally left blank



 CARING FOR YOURSELF 
AT HOME 

HOSPITAL CARE 

G
P

 
C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

Y
 

E
M

E
R

G
E

N
C

Y
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 T
E

A
M

 
(C

E
R

T
) 

9
9
9
 E

M
E

R
G

E
N

C
IE

S
 

M
u
lt
i-
s
k
ill

e
d
 t
e
a
m

 w
o
rk

in
g
 

w
it
h
 o

u
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
rs

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

R
e

s
p

o
n

d
s
 w

it
h

in
 2

 h
o

u
rs

  
o
f 
c
a
ll.

 G
a
te

k
e
e
p
e
rs

 f
o
r 

In
te

rm
e
d
ia

te
 C

a
re

 
T
e

l 
0

1
7

0
4

 7
0

4
7

0
5

 

P
H

A
R

M
A

C
Y

, 

V
O

L
U

N
T
A

R
Y

 

a
n

d
  

A
D

V
IC

E
 

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
 

IN
T

E
R

M
E

D
IA

T
E

 C
A

R
E

 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 b

e
d

s
; 
re

h
a

b
ili

ta
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
b
e
d
s
 f
o
r 

p
a
ti
e
n
ts

 n
o
t 

n
e
e
d
in

g
 h

o
s
p
it
a
l 
b
u
t 
n
o
t 
re

a
d
y
 f
o
r 

h
o
m

e
; 
2
4
-h

o
u
r 

n
u
rs

in
g
 c

a
re

; 
a
ls

o
 

a
lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

 t
o

 h
o

s
p

it
a

l 
a

d
m

is
s
io

n
 

D
IR

E
C

T
 G

P
 R

E
F

E
R

R
A

L
S

 

C
A

R
E

 C
O

O
R

D
IN

A
T

IO
N

  

D
E

L
IV

E
R

IN
G

 C
A

R
E

 C
L

O
S

E
R

 T
O

 H
O

M
E

: 
W

IN
T

E
R

 2
0
1
3
/1

4
 

D
IS

C
H

A
R

G
E

S
 

N
O

N
- 

C
O

M
P

L
E

X
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 w
it
h

 l
o

n
g

-t
e

rm
 

c
o
n
d
it
io

n
s
. 
Im

p
ro

v
e
s
 p

a
ti
e
n
t 

q
u

a
lit

y
 o

f 
lif

e
 a

n
d

 a
v
o

id
s
 

h
o

s
p

it
a
l 
a

d
m

is
s
io

n
s
 

T
e

l 
0

1
7

0
4

 7
0

5
2

6
6

 

C
A

R
E

 A
N

D
 

S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 135



Page 136

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
 

 
 

Update for Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Health and Social Care) 

March 2014 
 

If you would like more information about any of the items contained in this update, if you 

have any questions about local health services, or any particular issues you would like to 

raise, please call 0151 247 7051.    

 

 

Mini Chats focus debate about long term health plans   

 

NHS Southport and Formby Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS SFCCG) and NHS South 

Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS SSCCG) held their first Mini Chats in 

February, inviting public and partners to get involved in the debate about their five 

year strategies for local health services. Both CCGs hold regular Big Chats, to update 

people about their work and to gain feedback. The new Mini Chats are more focused 

events, providing people with the opportunity to give their views about specific health 

topics, which they may be particularly interested in. So, whilst the first round of Mini 

Chats give an overview of each CCG’s strategic plan, people can hear more about the 

main workstream areas and comment on the ones that interest them. These are 

cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease, diabetes, cancer, mental health, primary 

care, children and support for end of life patients, with unplanned or urgent care 

considered in each programme area. The next Mini Chats will take place on 18 March 

in Southport for NHS SFCCG and 27 March in Bootle for NHS SSCCG. These will both be 

evening events, 6pm-8.30pm, venues to be confirmed. Anyone wishing to attend and 

would like to find out more should register their interest by calling 0151 247 7068 or 

emailing communications@sefton.nhs.uk  

  

 

Commissioning Policy Review – extended 

 

The initial engagement period for responses to the Commissioning Policy Review has 

been extended to full consultation and people will now be able to comment on the 

draft policies until 7 April 2014. This gives the CCGs more time to raise awareness of 

the review amongst those people who may wish to give their views about the two 

CCGs’ policies for a number of very specific conditions, such as infertility treatment 

and varicose veins, conditions which generally affect small groups of patients with 

specific needs.  

Agenda Item 11

Page 137



2 

 

A review of clinical evidence for these procedures was carried out by Cheshire and 

Merseyside Commissioning Support Unit on behalf of a number of CCGs in the region. 

The findings have been used to create an updated Commissioning Policy for these 

procedures, and now we are asking people to give their feedback about the proposed 

changes set out in that draft document. To see the proposals and submit your views 

online visit www.southportformbyccg.org.uk or www.southseftonccg.org.uk You can 

also call 0800 218 2333 for more information.        

             

 

Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust  

 

At the end of January, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) published inspection 

reports focusing on three Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust (LCH) services - 

Ward 35 (the intermediate care ward), the Community Equipment Service and District 

Nursing. The reports concluded that LCH must make improvements in order to comply 

with national quality and safety standards. We are amongst a number of CCGs who 

commission services from LCH. We have received assurances from LCH that whilst 

there is more work to be done, since the initial inspection the trust has already made 

significant progress. The trust is confident that the next CQC inspection will reflect 

this. We are working closely with LCH and other CCG commissioners to monitor 

progress made in improving these services. LCH’s response to the report can be found 

on its website www.liverpoolcommunityhealth.nhs.uk along with links to the full CQC 

report.  

 

 

Pharmacy at Litherland 

 

NHS SSCCG has begun a review of the pharmacy service at Litherland Walk in Centre. 

This pharmacy has a restricted licence and limited opening times on weekday evenings 

until late, weekends and Bank Holidays. It is currently run by Liverpool Community 

Health. Since 1 April 2013 and a change in legislation through the Health and Social 

Care Act, pharmacy services have been commissioned by NHS England. This means 

that the CCG needs to look at alternative commissioning arrangements for Litherland 

pharmacy.   So, NHS SSCCG is carrying out an assessment of this service to determine 

if it provides value for money, mapped against current usage of the service, patients’ 

needs, wider pharmacy provision near to Litherland Town Hall Health Centre and 

current legislation.               

 

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 138



3 

 

Southport and Formby practices go to vote  

 

Elections are taking place this month amongst the GP practice membership of NHS 

SFCCG. These are the first elections to have taken place since the CCG became a 

statutory body on 1 April 2013. All CCGs are required to hold elections to ensure that 

the voices of their member practices are represented in the organisation’s decision 

making forum – the Governing Body. The frequency of Governing Body elections and 

the term of office for those elected to this board are detailed in each clinical 

commissioning group’s (CCG’s) Constitution. This document sets out the governance 

arrangements for each CCG, and it must be agreed by every member GP practice. The 

results of the elections will be known later this month and the new Governing Body 

will be in place from 1 April 2014. The last meeting of the current Governing Body 

membership takes place on Wednesday 26 March. NHS SSCCG will also shortly be 

asking its members to vote for a replacement Governing Body member who stepped 

down at the start of 2014 to take up a job outside south Sefton. NHS SSCCG’s next 

Governing Body meeting is on Thursday 27 March. Anyone wishing to attend either 

CCG Governing Body meeting is asked to call 0151 247 7000 for times and venues. 

Agendas and papers are available from the CCGs’ websites prior to the meetings at 

www.southportformbyccg.org.uk and www.southseftonccg.org.uk. 

 

 

 

 

           

Agenda Item 11

Page 139



Page 140

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee Date of Meeting: 4 March 2014 
  (Health and Social Care) 
 
Subject: Cabinet Member Report 
 
Report of: Director of Corporate Services  Wards Affected: All 
 
Is this a Key Decision? No  Is it included in the Forward Plan? No 
 
Exempt/Confidential No  
 

 
Purpose/Summary 
To submit to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee a recent Cabinet Member Report. 
 
 
Recommendation 
That the report be received. 
 
 
How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community  √  

2 Jobs and Prosperity  √  

3 Environmental Sustainability  √  

4 Health and Well-Being √   

5 Children and Young People  √  

6 Creating Safe Communities  √  

7 Creating Inclusive Communities  √  

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

√   

 
Reasons for the Recommendation: 
 
In order to keep Overview and Scrutiny Members informed, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member Reports to be submitted to 
appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? N/A 
 
Implications: N/A 
 

Agenda Item 12

Page 141



The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 
Legal 
 

Human Resources 
 

Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 

 
Impact on Service Delivery: N/A 
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? N/A 
 
The Head of Corporate Finance and ICT has no comments on this report because the 
contents of the report have no direct financial implications for the Council. (FD: No. 2829). 
 
The Head of Legal Services has been consulted and has no comments on this report. 
There are no legal implications arising from the contents of this report. (LD: No. 2135). 
 
Are there any other options available for consideration? N/A 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision  
 
Immediately following the Committee meeting. 
 
Contact Officer: Debbie Campbell 
Tel: ext. 2254 
Email: debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers: 
 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 
 
1. Introduction/Background 
 
1.1 In order to keep Overview and Scrutiny Members informed, the Overview and 

Scrutiny Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member Reports to 
be submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

 
1.2 Attached to this report, for information, is the most recent Cabinet Member report 

for the period December 2013 to January 2014 for the Older People and Health 
portfolio that falls within the remit of this Committee. 

√ 

 

 

Agenda Item 12

Page 142



 
2. Recent Developments 
 
2.1 At its meeting on 30 August 2011, the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

proposed that, in future, Cabinet Member reports will be published on the Modern 
Gov library and an e-mail alert will be sent to Scrutiny Chairs. In the event that 
Chairs identify any issues they would like to raise for discussion at their next 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, they should alert the appropriate officer and 
this will enable appropriate officer attendance at that meeting. 

 
2.2 The Cabinet Member update report attached was e-mailed to the Chair of the 

Committee on its availability. The Chair has indicated that she would wish the 
update report to be included on the agenda, for general information for Committee 
Members and to enable them to raise any issues. 

 
2.3 The Committee is requested to receive the report. 
 

Agenda Item 12

Page 143



Page 144

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
CABINET MEMBER UPDATE REPORT 

 

Councillor Portfolio Period of Report 

 
Paul Cummins 

 

 
Older People and 

Health 
 

 
December 2013- 

January 2014 

 

 
 
JAMES HORRIGAN COURT – EXTRA CARE HOUSING SCHEME 
 
James Horrigan Court is a 71 bed scheme which provides 24 hour extra care 
support.   The care element of this was provided by Arena Housing (now renamed 
Your Housing Group) who served notice to terminate the contract of the 31st March 
2014.  Procurement has now taken place, and there will be a new provider of care 
services for this scheme. 
 
 
THE CARE BILL 
 
As Cabinet Member, I was provided with a report on the Care Bill and some of the 
detail. 
 
The Bill, currently making it’s way through Parliament, is the most significant piece of 
legislation in adult social care since 1948.   It will replace existing adult social care 
legislation and introduce a range of duties as well as implementing the funding 
reforms laid out in the Dilnot report.   Whilst the proposed legislation is subject to 
consultation and provision of greater detail, the breadth and complexity of the 
associated issues and the proposed timescales for implementation indicate that the 
Council needs to begin to carefully consider the financial and other implications, 
opportunities and associated risks and begin to prepare to manage these in the 
context of reductions in funding for local Government services and a raft of other 
social care initiatives.   It is anticipated that the Government will implement the 
changes in two phases :- 
 

• April 2015 for the changes to assessment and eligibility and deferred payments 

• April 2016 for cap on care costs and changes to thresholds 
 
Under the Care Bill, local authorities will take on new functions.  In summary, people 
who live in Sefton will need to receive advice and support that prevent their care 
needs from becoming more serious.    
 
The Care Bill aims to clarify when people will be provided with care and support.  The 
aim is to ensure that the law focuses on the needs of people rather than what is seen 
as the present legislative focus on providing particular services. 
 
The Care Bill outlines the Local Authorities responsibility to carry out an assessment, 
taking into account a person’s need and other circumstances.   There will be 
increased focus on involving people and their carers in determining their care 

Agenda Item 12

Page 145



packages.  The stated aim is to build a care and support system around the 
individual. 
 
There are other parts to the Bill, and information, and as Cabinet Member, I will 
provide updates in the future. 
 
 
MARKET POSITION STATEMENT 
 
The new Care Bill also places a duty on local authorities to influence and support a 
market that delivers a wide range of sustainable high quality care and support 
services that will be available to their communities.  
 
The production of a Market Position Statement (MPS) is the first stage of a number of 
market influencing activities and sets out to summarise important intelligence 
explaining how we intend to strategically commission, and encourage, the 
development of high quality services to suit our residents. 
 
It is intended that this will be a living document regularly updated by the 
commissioning team and the product of ongoing dialogue between the Council and 
other stakeholders, particularly service providers.  
 
The document is now in final draft form and will shortly be circulated to providers and 
other stakeholders before being published in March later this year. 
 
 
BETTER CARE FUND 
 
The Better Care Fund, previously known as the Integration Transformation Fund, 
was announced by the Government as part of spending review in 2013.  The purpose 
of the fund is to support Council’s and Clinical Commissioning Groups to work 
together to produce a joint plan for integrating health and social care in the next five 
years, whilst protecting adult social care services.  The Government have issued 
guidance and a Better Care Fund template which Councils and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups must complete as a first version by the 14th February 2014. 
 
NHS England and the LGA will manage the assurance process for the fund, with 
revised versions of the plan having to be submitted to Government by the 4th April 
2014.  There are a range of national conditions and metrics associated with the 
Better Care Fund, with the ability for local areas to choose one local metric from a 
national basket of indicators or for one to be locally defined.  The Better Care Plan 
must be signed off by the Health and Wellbeing Board on behalf of the Council and 
the Clinical Commissioning Groups.  The Better Care Fund is subject of a report to 
the Health and Wellbeing Board on the 19th February 2014 and Cabinet on the 27th 
February 2014. 
 
 
WINTERBOURNE – STOCKTAKE OF PROGRESS 
 
I was presented with a report regarding the present status of the implementation of 
the Winterbourne Report.  The stocktake outlined strengths within Sefton. The 
stocktake showed that there is a clear database across Health and Social Care to 
identify individuals on registers and review their care plans.   Funding arrangements 
are understood for these vulnerable individuals and reviews are in place for people in 
In-Patient Units.   The report showed strong evidence of advocacy services that were 

Agenda Item 12

Page 146



available, and there was a good level of information regarding sharing safeguarding 
issues.   Quality of care was addressed through contractual arrangements and there 
were specialist learning disability services available to reduce hospital admissions. 
 
It was pleasing to see that the stocktake took note of a long tradition of collating 
information within the JSNA and there were clear processes for multi-agency work 
during the transition process from childhood to adult services. 
 
The stocktake also noted areas for development which were 
 

• that we needed to strengthen leadership and governance arrangements around 
the Winterbourne programme, but that the working group does report to the 
Health and Well Being Board 

• the relationship with specialist commissioners needed to be strengthened, and 
the effectiveness of the commissioning processes. 

 
Progress on the Winterbourne report will continue to be monitored within Adult Social 
care and CCG’s in Sefton. 
 
 
2014/2015 FEES AND CHARGES 
 
Members will remember within the savings options, for changes to the Council’s 
Fairer Charging Policy for Home Care and other non-residential services.   This 
option has now been implemented, and over 2,000 service users have been 
contacted, any queries and concerns have been dealt with, arrangements have been 
made to visit service users who have requested this, and service users will start to 
receive their bills’ increases in charges at the beginning of March.   This will be for 
the period January-February, and we will also deal with any further queries which 
may come in after that. 
 
 
NORTH WEST ADASS ANNUAL RISK REVIEW 2013 
SEFTON OVERVIEW ANALYSIS 
 
The Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) has released - via the 
Towards Excellence in Adult Social Care (TEASC) partnership – a report on risks 
and good practice identified via a desk top review of data sets, reports, and other 
intelligence. This makes up the Annual Risk Review Trigger Dashboard for 2013. The 
following summarises the headline messages from that risk assessment exercise. 
The comments highlighted below represent the risks as identified at the time (the 
report issues were collated by ADASS over the summer). These risks have either 
already been addressed or are expected to be mitigated as part of activity outlined in 
the action plan. 
 
Key Messages 
 
Risk evaluation by ADASS is based around a set of key triggers and a summary for 
each trigger is provided below: 
 
Local Account – this has been highlighted as good practice at North West 
Performance meetings and is seen as a good citizen focussed document with clear 
and simple priorities along with links to additional detailed information. It was noted 
that the document did not contain a comment from the LiNK network. 
 

Agenda Item 12

Page 147



Safeguarding – several elements were praised including NHS commitment and 
imaginative training activities. However, it was noted that there did not seem to 
always be an appropriate level of commitment from some organisations to attend 
meetings. Membership of the Safeguarding Board has been addressed and a more 
robust pattern of attendance is being seen. 
 
DASS Commentary – it was acknowledged that (as with all social care 
organisations) we are undergoing significant internal change. In addition we are 
engaging with partners such as Public Health and Clinical Commissioning Groups 
that are similarly undergoing organisational and role change. Despite the changes 
and budget constraints Sefton is still seeing relatively high levels of satisfaction rates 
for care and support and currently has a vibrant voluntary sector.  
Performance Reports – overall performance is ok with relatively few areas of 
concern. In general the areas highlighted are areas already acknowledged by the 
Council. These include: 

• Relatively low numbers of people receiving self directed services 

• Low numbers of people with mental health problems in employment 

• High numbers of clients in residential/nursing services 

• Low number of completed reviews 
 
Finance – Sefton has one of the highest proportions of total population in residential 
care in the North West. We are currently using the Council’s Transformation 
Programme to review all service areas and this will be one of them. 
 
Disengaging from Networks – Generally our engagement with networks was 
considered good, though at the time of writing of the Risk Report we had limited 
engagement with the ‘Personalisation Network’. Therefore a member of the Adult 
Social care management team has joined the network. 
 
Other trigger areas including Recruitment, LGA Intelligence, User Satisfaction, 
Personalisation, and Relationships with Partners were considered by the Risk 
Report to be “ok” or had no comments in the Risk Assessment. 
 
Overall Good Practice 
Sefton were deemed to be demonstrating good practice in: 

• Completion rates for adults undergoing drug treatment 

• The profile of Adult Social Care in Sefton 

• ‘No Wrong Door’ Initiative 

• Local approach for nutrition for vulnerable older people 
 
Overall Key Concerns 
Sefton were deemed to be demonstrating concerns in terms of: 

• Low numbers of self directed services and low proportion of community based 
services – despite a broad, strategic approach being taken to personalisation 

• Significant reliance on residential care Additionally Sefton has a nationally 
high proportion of older people in its population. 

 
 
PUBLIC HEALTH CAMPAIGNS 
 
Dry January 

 
February marks the end of ‘Dry January’, a month long challenge which has seen 
Sefton’s Public Health lead by example.  After signing up their own department they 

Agenda Item 12

Page 148



signed up other Council departments, local businesses and residents to take part in 
this year’s pledge. 
 
‘Dry January’ gives people the opportunity to reflect on their alcohol use and make 
small changes that can have a positive impact on their drinking habits and raise 
awareness of potential health harm by drinking too much alcohol.  Even after January 
Sefton’s Public Health is still encouraging people to think about how much alcohol 

they are drinking and why. 
 
National No Smoking Day 
 
Residents are being encouraged to take part in the 31st No Smoking Day on 
March 12th, 2014.  This national day is seen by many as a motivation to quit 
smoking. This year’s theme “V for Victory” is based on in-depth research reflecting 
the battle to quit smoking. 
  
No Smoking Day aims to build on the momentum achieved by previous stop smoking 
campaigns such as Stoptober and January’s Health Harms stop smoking campaign.  
 
SUPPORT – Sefton’s local stop smoking service will help residents quit by offering 
free help and advice at drop-in clinics and pharmacies across the borough.  Each 
one has specialist help to enable them to quit, as people are four times more likely to 
successfully quit with SUPPORT.  For more information call Healthy Sefton 0300 100 
1000 to find out what SUPPORT service is available near you. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 12

Page 149



Page 150

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee Date of Meeting: 4 March 2014 
  (Health and Social Care) 
 
Subject: Draft Quality Accounts – Process to be Undertaken 
 
Report of: Director of Corporate Services  Wards Affected: All 
 
Is this a Key Decision? No  Is it included in the Forward Plan? No 
 
Exempt/Confidential No  
 

 
Purpose/Summary 
To approve the process to be undertaken for the scrutiny of a number of Quality 
Accounts from NHS Trusts during May / June 2014. 
 
Recommendation 
The Committee is requested to approve an option for the preferred process to be 
undertaken for the scrutiny of a number of Quality Accounts from NHS Trusts during May 
and, if deemed appropriate, determine the dates of any special meetings to be held 
during early May 2014. 
 
How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community  √  

2 Jobs and Prosperity  √  

3 Environmental Sustainability  √  

4 Health and Well-Being √   

5 Children and Young People  √  

6 Creating Safe Communities  √  

7 Creating Inclusive Communities  √  

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

√   

 
Reasons for the Recommendation: 
 
Healthcare providers which are required to produce Quality Accounts have a legal duty 
to invite comments from Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees have an opportunity to review the information 
provided and provide a statement on the information provided. 
The Committee has requested a report on possible proposals for the process to be 
undertaken. 

Agenda Item 13

Page 151



The decision needs to be in place by the time local Trusts finalise their draft Quality 
Accounts which are required by 30 April each year. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? N/A 
 
Implications: N/A 
 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 
Legal 
 

Human Resources 
 

Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 

 
Impact on Service Delivery: N/A 
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? N/A 
 
The Head of Corporate Finance and ICT has no comments on this report because the 
contents of the report have no direct financial implications for the Council. (FD2811/13). 
 
The Head of Legal Services has been consulted and any comments have been 
incorporated into this report. 
(LD: No. 2117/14). 
 
The Chief Officer for NHS South Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS 
Southport and Formby Clinical Commissioning Group has been consulted on the 
contents of this report. 
 
Are there any other options available for consideration? N/A 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision  
 
Immediately following the Committee meeting. 
 
Contact Officer: Debbie Campbell 
Tel: ext. 2254 
Email: debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers: 
 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 

√ 

 

 

Agenda Item 13

Page 152



 
1. INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Health Act 2009 made quality accounts a statutory requirement for certain 

healthcare providers to produce Quality Accounts and they were introduced in 
2010. Quality Accounts are annual reports from providers of NHS healthcare 
organisations about the quality of the services provided and are available for the 
public to view. 

 
1.2 A large number of local healthcare providers request Sefton’s Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee (Health and Social Care) to consider their individual Quality 
Accounts. In May 2013 there were 8 such requests from the following 
organisations:- 

 
• Aintree University Hospital Foundation Trust; 
• The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust; 
• Liverpool Women’s hospital; 
• Mersey Care NHS Trust; 
• North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust; 
• Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospital NHS Trust; 
• Southport & Ormskirk NHS Trust; and 
• The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust. 

 
1.3 Committee Members considered this number was too large to be accommodated 

within one Committee meeting and resolved that:- 
 

“consideration be given towards revising the arrangements for the receipt of the 
draft quality accounts for 2013/14.” 

 
1.4 The Chair of the Committee met with an officer of Sefton’s Clinical Commissioning 

Groups at the end of November 2013 and agreed that it would be useful to hold a 
training session for Members of the Committee on Quality Accounts. This also 
provided a forum for Members to discuss the issue. 

 
1.5 A training session on Quality Accounts was provided for both this Committee and 

Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services) were also 
invited, with a view to possibly scrutinising the Quality Account for Alder Hey 
Children’s NHS Foundation Trust. 

 
1.6 Subsequently, Members discussed the matter at the meeting of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee (Health and Social Care) on 7 January 2014 and resolved 
that:- 

 
“the outcome of the training event on draft Quality Accounts be noted, and the 
Senior Democratic Services Officer be authorised to submit a report on possible 
proposals for the process to be undertaken for the scrutiny of a number of Quality 
Accounts from NHS Trusts during May / June 2014”. 

 

Agenda Item 13

Page 153



 
 
2. POSSIBLE OPTIONS 
 
2.1 Option A – Attend Presentations Provided to NHS England (Merseyside) 
 
2.1.2 It has been suggested that Members could attend a day-time event when NHS 

England (Merseyside) invites Healthcare providers to attend to present their 
Quality Accounts. Members could be provided with a timetable indicating which 
time(s) each provider will attend, enabling Members to focus on specific Trusts, if 
they wish. Members could be “assigned” one or two Trusts each to focus on. 

 
2.1.3 Members could then provide the Chair and the Senior Democratic Services Officer 

with any comments, to then be provided to the Trust(s) concerned. 
 
2.1.4 Advantages 
 

This option would remove the process from the Committee meeting, freeing up the 
meeting for other Committee business. Rather than the onerous task of receiving 
8 presentations, Members could focus on one or two Trusts, outside of the 
Committee meeting forum. 

 
2.1.5 Disadvantages 
 

It may be difficult for working Members to attend a day-time meeting in Regatta 
Place, Liverpool. Members may also prefer to have the opportunity to comment on 
any of the healthcare providers’ Quality Accounts, rather than just one or two, 
particularly if they are aware of issues raised by constituents, etc. Any 
“assignments” to particular Trusts may need to be reviewed each Municipal Year 
due to turnover of Committee membership and expertise on particular Trusts 
could be lost. 

 
 
2.2 Option B – Invite Only NHS Trusts Visited During the Municipal Year 
 
2.2.1 The Committee could agree to invite only those NHS Trusts whose premises 

Committee Members have visited throughout the Municipal Year, to a Committee 
meeting. During 2013/14, Members have been invited to a North West Ambulance 
Call Centre in Anfield and, at the time of drafting this report, a visit to Southport 
and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust is anticipated during March 2014. 

 
2.2.2 Advantages 
 

This option would allow the Committee to focus on those NHS Trusts of which 
Members are likely to have had recent first-hand experience. It would also allow 
the number of presentations during a Committee meeting to be much more 
manageable. 

 
2.2.3 Disadvantages 
 

Agenda Item 13

Page 154



Members may prefer to have the opportunity to comment on any of the healthcare 
providers’ Quality Accounts, rather than just a small number, particularly if they 
are aware of issues raised by constituents, etc. 

 
 
2.3 Option C – Invite Only NHS Trusts that have Attended Committee During the 

Municipal Year 
 
2.3.1 The Committee could agree to invite only those NHS Trusts that have attended 

meetings of the Committee held during the Municipal Year, to a Committee 
meeting. During 2013/14, leaving aside the presentations held on Quality 
Accounts, four of the NHS Trusts have attended meetings for other purposes, 
namely:- 

 
• Aintree University Hospital Foundation Trust; 
• Mersey Care NHS Trust; 
• North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust; and 
• Southport & Ormskirk NHS Trust. 

 
At the time of drafting this report, a fifth is anticipated to attend the forthcoming 

meeting scheduled for 4 March 2014, namely The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre 
NHS Foundation Trust. 

 
2.3.2 Advantages 
 

This option would allow the Committee to focus on those NHS Trusts of which 
Members have had more recent first-hand experience, via information provided at 
Committee meetings. It would also allow the number of presentations during a 
Committee meeting to be more manageable. 

 
2.3.3 Disadvantages 
 

Members may consider that inviting five NHS Trusts to a Committee meeting to 
present Quality Accounts is still too many to be accommodated within one 
Committee meeting. Also, there is a possibility of certain other NHS Trusts being 
“sidelined” and habitually not attending the Committee to provide information. 

 
 
2.4 Option D – Carry out the Process Outside of the Committee Meeting Forum 
 
2.4.1 The Committee could agree for draft Quality Accounts to be e-mailed to them 

individually, on receipt. Any comments could then be fed via e-mail to the Chair 
and the Senior Democratic Services Officer, who could also draft suggested 
comments based on any visits and presentations held throughout the Municipal 
Year. The final decision on any comments to be provided to Trusts could be 
delegated to the Chair of the Committee and e-mailed to other Members for 
information. Following consultation with other local authorities within the North 
West Region, this approach appears to be the one favoured by other Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees. 

 
2.4.2 Advantages 

Agenda Item 13

Page 155



 
This option would remove the process from the Committee meeting, freeing up the 
meeting for other Committee business. Rather than the onerous task of receiving 
8 presentations, Members could focus on the draft Quality Accounts outside of the 
Committee meeting forum, providing comments if they wish. 

 
2.4.3 Disadvantages 
 

Members may prefer to have the opportunity to discuss and comment on 
healthcare providers’ Quality Accounts with their fellow Committee Members, 
rather than considering Quality Accounts in isolation. This process does not allow 
Trusts to provide immediate answers to any questions or issues arising, which can 
actually alleviate any concerns held when raised during a presentation. Members 
may also be busy with preparations for the Local Government and European 
Elections and their time for consideration of large documents outside of the 
Committee forum may be limited. 

 
 
2.5 Option E – Additional Meetings 
 
2.5.1 The Local Government Elections will be held on 22 May 2014, rather than at the 

beginning of May, following the decision taken by the Government to hold the 
Local Government Elections and the European Parliamentary Elections on the 
same date. In view of this, the Committee could hold two special meetings during 
the week commencing Tuesday, 5 May or Monday, 12 May 2014, during the 
daytime and/or evening to consider the Quality Accounts submitted by NHS 
Trusts. 

 
2.5.2 Advantages 
 

Members would have the opportunity to discuss and comment on healthcare 
providers’ Quality Accounts with their fellow Committee Members and be provided 
with immediate answers to questions or issues arising by the Trusts concerned. 
Early consideration of the Quality Accounts will free-up the first meeting of the 
Committee in June 2014 for other Committee business. 

 
2.5.3 Disadvantages 
 

Attending two meetings just prior to the Elections could be extremely onerous for 
Members, particularly those standing for re-election. 

 
 
3. TIMESCALE FOR THE CONSIDERATION OF QUALITY ACCOUNTS 
 
3.1 There are various possible options for Members to consider for the process to be 

undertaken for the scrutiny of a number of Quality Accounts from NHS Trusts 
during May 2014, each having their own advantages and disadvantages. 

 
3.2 Unfortunately, time is always a factor for consideration of Quality Accounts. Trusts 

are expected to provide Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs) with draft 
Quality Accounts by 30 April each year. OSCs are expected to provide any 

Agenda Item 13

Page 156



comments within 30 days of receipt. Trusts are then required to publish their 
Quality Accounts by 30 June each year, including any comments by local OSCs. 

 
3.3 The Committee will continue in its current format until the Adjourned Annual 

Meeting of the Council to be held on 3 June 2014. 
 
3.4 The Committee is requested to approve an option for the preferred process 

to be undertaken for the scrutiny of a number of Quality Accounts from NHS 
Trusts during May and, if deemed appropriate, determine the dates of any 
special meetings to be held during early May 2014. 

 

Agenda Item 13

Page 157



Page 158

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee Date of Meeting: 4 March 2014 
  (Health and Social Care) 
 
Subject: Key Decision Forward Plan 1 March – 30 June 2014 
 
Report of: Director of Corporate Services  Wards Affected: All 
 
Is this a Key Decision? No  Is it included in the Forward Plan? No 
 
Exempt/Confidential No  
 

 
Purpose/Summary 
To submit to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee the latest Key Decision Forward Plan 
and seek the views of the Committee on its Work Programme for the remainder of the 
Council Year 2013/14. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
1. The Committee is invited to consider the items for pre-scrutiny from the attached 

Key Decision Forward Plan. 
 
2. The Committee is requested to invite the Chief Officer for NHS South Sefton 

Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Southport and Formby Clinical 
Commissioning Group to report back on any developments with regard to the 
phlebotomy service in the south of the Borough and to receive the information. 

 
3. With regard to monitoring of accident and emergency services, the Committee is 

requested to:- 
(a) comment on the information received with regard to accident and 

emergency monitoring; 
(b) indicate whether it agrees for the information to be presented in this format 

in the future; and 
(c) indicate the frequency of the submission of the information to the 

Committee. 
 
4. The Committee is requested to confirm the process to be undertaken for the 

scrutiny of a number of Quality Accounts from NHS Trusts in May 2014. 
 
5. The Committee is requested to note the progress made in relation to the 

appointment of an Advisory Member to this Committee. 
 
6. Members are requested to note the details for the planned site visit and to support 

the visit. 
 
How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community  √  

Agenda Item 14

Page 159



2 Jobs and Prosperity  √  

3 Environmental Sustainability  √  

4 Health and Well-Being √   

5 Children and Young People  √  

6 Creating Safe Communities  √  

7 Creating Inclusive Communities  √  

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

√   

 
Reasons for the Recommendation: 
The pre-scrutiny process assists the Cabinet and Cabinet Members to make effective 
decisions by examining issues beforehand and making recommendations prior to a 
determination being made. The report also updates Members on developments within 
the Committee’s area of work. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? N/A 
 
Implications: N/A 
 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 
Legal 
 

Human Resources 
 

Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 

 
Impact on Service Delivery: N/A 
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?  
The Head of Corporate Finance and ICT has been consulted and has no comments on 
this report because the contents of the report have no direct financial implications for the 
Council. (FD 2830/14) 
 
The Head of Corporate Legal Services has been consulted and has no comments on this 
report as there are no legal implications arising from the contents of this report. 
(LD2136/14). 
 
Are there any other options available for consideration? N/A 

√ 

  

 

Agenda Item 14

Page 160



 
Implementation Date for the Decision  
Immediately following the Committee. 
 
Contact Officer: Debbie Campbell 
Tel:  0151 934 2254 
Email: debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers: 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 
 
 
1. KEY DECISION FORWARD PLAN 
 
1.1 Members may request to pre-scrutinise items from the Key Decision Forward 

Plan. Such items must fall under the remit (Terms of Reference) of this 
Committee.  

 
1.2 The pre-scrutiny process assists the Cabinet and Cabinet Members to make 

effective decisions by examining issues beforehand and making 
recommendations prior to a determination being made. 

 
1.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board has requested that only those key 

decisions that fall under the remit of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
should be included on the agenda for consideration. 

 
1.4 The latest Forward Plan is attached at Appendix A for this purpose. For ease of 

identification, items listed on the Forward Plan for the first time appear as shaded. 
 
1.5 There are 4 items within the current Plan that falls under the remit of this 

Committee. 
 
1.6 If Members require further information in relation to the items on the Key Decision 

Forward Plan, would they please contact the Officer named in the Plan prior to the 
Meeting. 

 
1.7 The Committee is invited to consider the items for pre-scrutiny from the 

attached Key Decision Forward Plan. 
 
 
2. FORMER PHLEBOTOMY WORKING GROUP – OUTCOME OF REVIEW 
 
2.1 Members of the Committee will recall that a response from Liverpool Community 

Health NHS Trust to the recommendation of the former Phlebotomy Working 
Group, to consider the provision of “twilight” or evening clinics, was submitted to 
the last meeting of this Committee on 7 January 2014. The response indicated 
that the Trust would not be progressing the proposal at the current time. 

 
2.2 The Chief Officer for NHS South Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS 

Southport and Formby Clinical Commissioning Group indicated that she would 
raise the matter with the Trust and report back to this Committee on the outcome 
of those discussions. 

Agenda Item 14

Page 161



 
2.3 The Committee is requested to invite the Chief Officer for NHS South Sefton 

Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Southport and Formby Clinical 
Commissioning Group to report back on any developments with regard to 
the phlebotomy service in the south of the Borough and to receive the 
information. 

 
 
3. ACCIDENT AND EMERGENCY SERVICES MONITORING 
 
3.1 At the last meeting of the Committee the Chair of the Committee indicated that 

she had anticipated receiving information with regard to Accident and Emergency 
monitoring, as requested by a Council resolution. 

 
3.2 Since the last meeting, the relevant officers have liaised, with a view to submitting 

information regarding A& E monitoring, to this meeting. 
 
3.3 Information has now been received and is attached to this report at Appendix B. 
 
3.4 With regard to monitoring of accident and emergency services, the 

Committee is requested to:- 
(a) comment on the information received with regard to accident and 

emergency monitoring; 
(b) indicate whether it agrees for the information to be presented in this 

format in the future; and 
(c) indicate the frequency of the submission of the information to the 

Committee. 
 
 
4. DRAFT QUALITY ACCOUNTS 
 
4.1 Prior to the last meeting of this Committee on 7 January 2013, Members will recall 

that a training event took place on draft Quality Accounts, with a view to Members 
determining how they might be considered in the future. 

 
4.2 In the course of the discussion during the Committee meeting following the 

training event, Members requested the Senior Democratic Services Officer to 
submit a report on possible proposals for the process to be undertaken for the 
scrutiny of a number of Quality Accounts during May 2014. 

 
4.3 A separate report has been drafted on this matter and appears elsewhere on this 

agenda. 
 
4.4 The Committee is requested to confirm the process to be undertaken for the 

scrutiny of a number of Quality Accounts from NHS Trusts in May 2014. 
 
 
5. HEALTHWATCH SEFTON 
 
5.1 At the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board held on 15 

October 2013, a request was put forward for an Advisory Member from 
Healthwatch Sefton to be appointed to this Committee and also to the Overview 

Agenda Item 14

Page 162



and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services). The only condition would be for 
any Advisory Members to be different from that appointed to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, and different on each Committee. 

 
5.2 This request was reported to the meeting of this Committee on 29 October 2013 

and agreed by the Committee. Healthwatch Sefton was subsequently requested 
to provide the name of a person willing to take on the role of Advisory Member. 

 
5.3 Healthwatch Sefton has been advised of the request and reminded of it. At the 

time of drafting this report the Council has not yet been advised of any 
appointment to the position of Advisory Member to this Committee. Should there 
be any developments, this will be reported verbally at the meeting. 

 
5.4 The Committee is requested to note the progress made in relation to the 

appointment of an Advisory Member to this Committee. 
 
 
6. SITE VISIT 
 
6.1 A site visit for Members of the Committee, together with the relevant Cabinet 

Member, has been arranged for Southport and Formby District General Hospital, 
to be held on Thursday, 20 March 214, 9.30 a.m. to 1.00 p.m. 

 
6.2 Members are requested to advise the Senior Democratic Services Officer whether 

or not they are able to attend the site visit, if they have not already done so. 
 
6.3 Members are requested to note the details for the planned site visit and to 

support the visit. 

Agenda Item 14

Page 163



Page 164

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix A 

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL  
FORWARD PLAN 

 
FOR THE FOUR MONTH PERIOD 1 MARCH 2014 - 30 JUNE 2014 

 
This Forward Plan sets out the details of the key decisions which the Cabinet, individual Cabinet 
Members or Officers expect to take during the next four month period.  The Plan is rolled forward 
every month and is available to the public at least 28 days before the beginning of each month. 
 
A Key Decision is defined in the Council's Constitution as: 
 
1. any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and Capital Programme 

approved by the Council and which requires a gross budget expenditure, saving or virement 
of more than £100,000 or more than 2% of a Departmental budget, whichever is the 
greater; 

 
2. any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact on a significant 

number of people living or working in two or more Wards 
 
As a matter of local choice, the Forward Plan also includes the details of any significant issues to 
be initially considered by the Executive Cabinet and submitted to the Full Council for approval. 
 
Anyone wishing to make representations about any of the matters listed below may do so by 
contacting the relevant officer listed against each Key Decision, within the time period indicated. 
 
Under the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in the Council's Constitution, a Key 
Decision may not be taken, unless: 
 

• it is published in the Forward Plan; 

• 5 clear days have lapsed since the publication of the Forward Plan; and 

• if the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet, 5 clear days notice of the meeting 
has been given. 

 
The law and the Council's Constitution provide for urgent key decisions to be made, even though 
they have not been included in the Forward Plan in accordance with Rule 26 (General Exception) 
and Rule 28 (Special Urgency) of the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 
 
Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle L20 
7AE or accessed from the Council's website: www.sefton.gov.uk  
 

• Council Constitution 

• Forward Plan 

• Reports on the Key Decisions to be taken 

• Other documents relating to the proposed decision may be submitted to the decision making 
meeting and these too will be made available by the contact officer named in the Plan 

• The minutes for each Key Decision, which will normally be published within 5 working days 
after having been made 

 

Agenda Item 14

Page 165



2 
 

Some reports to be considered by the Cabinet/Council may contain exempt information and will 
not be made available to the public. The specific reasons (Paragraph No(s)) why such reports are 
exempt are detailed in the Plan and the Paragraph No(s) and descriptions are set out below:- 
 
1. Information relating to any individual 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
  authority holding that information) 
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or        
negotiations in connection with any labour relations matter  arising between the authority or a 
Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the Authority 
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings 
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes a) to give under any enactment a notice 
under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed   on a person; or b) to make an order or 
direction under any enactment 
7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime 
8. Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information by virtue of that 
paragraph if it is required to be registered under— 
 (a) the Companies Act 1985; 
 (b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
 (c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
 (d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 
 (e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 
 (f) the Charities Act 1993. 
9.Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which the local 
planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and 
Country Planning General Regulations 1992 
10. Information which— 
 (a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and 
 (b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 8 or 9 above,is exempt 
information if and so long, as in all the circumstances  of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Cabinet and Council which are held 
at the Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle or the Town Hall, Lord Street, Southport.  The dates and 
times of the meetings are published on www.sefton.gov.uk or you may contact the Democratic 
Services Section on telephone number 0151 934 2068. 
 
NOTE:   
For ease of identification, items listed within the document for the first time will appear shaded. 

 
 
 
 
 
Margaret Carney 
Chief Executive 

Agenda Item 14

Page 166



3 
 

FORWARD PLAN INDEX OF ITEMS 
 

Item Heading Officer Contact Page No 

Better Care Fund Plan Samantha Tunney 
samantha.tunney@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
2174/4039 

 

Twelve Month Contract 
Extension for the Merseycare 
Substance Misuse Contracts 

Sarah Austin sarah.austin@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 
0151 934 3293 

 

Fees and Charges for the 
Council 

Margaret Rawding 
margaret.rawding@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4082 

 

Sefton Carers Strategy Robina Critchley 
robina.critchley@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
4900 

 

Agreement to Join Combined 
Authority 

Andrea Watts andrea.watts@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 
0151 934 2030 

 

To approve the Council's 
Treasury Management Policy 
and Strategy for 2014/15 and 
the Prudential Indicators for 
2014/15 

Margaret Rawding 
margaret.rawding@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4082 

 

Capital Programme Margaret Rawding 
margaret.rawding@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4082 

 

Local Government Act 2003 - 
Chief Financial Officer's 
Requirements - Robustness 
Report 

Margaret Rawding 
margaret.rawding@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4082 

 

Council Tax and Council's 
Revenue Budget 

Margaret Rawding 
margaret.rawding@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4082 

 

Approval of the Council's Asset 
Disposal Policy 

David Street david.street1@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 
0151 934 2751 

 

Revenue Budget Savings Margaret Rawding 
margaret.rawding@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4082 

 

Fees and Charges for the 
Council 

Margaret Rawding 
margaret.rawding@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4082 

 

Merseyside and West 
Lancashire Traveller 
Accomodation Assessment 

Ian Loughlin ian.loughlin@sefton.gov.uk  

Agenda Item 14

Page 167



4 
 

Programme of Meetings 
2014/15 

Paul Fraser paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk  

Tender for “Highway Term 
Maintenance HM7” – Tri 
Partite Agreement for 
Unmetered Electricity Supply 
connections 

Andrew Sawyer andrew.sawyer@sefton.gov.uk  

Parking Services Review Dave Marrin dave.marrin@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 
0151 934 4295 

 

Fees and Charges for the 
Council 

Margaret Rawding 
margaret.rawding@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4082 

 

Future Operation of the 
Southport Market Hall 

Tony Corfield tony.corfield@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 
0151 934 2315 

 

Market Testing Exercise: 
Proposals for Potential 
Partnership Arrangement, 
Investment, Development and 
Management of Southport Golf 
Links and Bootle Golf Course 

Rajan Paul rajan.paul@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 2370 

 

Street Lighting - Sub 
Contractor Framework 

Andrew Sawyer andrew.sawyer@sefton.gov.uk  

Sefton Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment 2013 

Alan Young alan.young@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 
0151 934 3551 

 

 

Agenda Item 14

Page 168



5 
 

 

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL  
FORWARD PLAN 

 

Details of Decision to be taken Better Care Fund Plan   
Government Guidance was issued on 20 December 2013 to 
support the development of proposals to secure the release 
of resources from its Better Care Fund (BCF). The deadline 
for submission of proposals in the form of a Plan is 4 April 
2014. The Guidance provides that the Better Care Fund 
Plan must be set within the context of the South Sefton and 
Southport and Formby Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCG) Strategic Plans which have to be produced by June 
2014. A mandatory planning template has to be submitted to 
NHS England by 14 February 2014 to enable that 
organisation to test preparedness and progress nationally. 
The Sefton BCF Plan will be brought to Cabinet for approval 
as a proposal from the Health and Wellbeing Board from its 
meeting on 19 March and will similarly be subject to 
approval through the two CCG Boards, as it forms part of 
their Strategic Plans.  

Decision Maker Cabinet 

Decision Expected  27 Mar 2014 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact 

Yes 

Exempt Report No 

Wards Affected All Wards 

Scrutiny Committee Area  Health and Social Care 

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted  

A range of providers, commissioners, and the voluntary, 
community and faith sector.  

Method(s) of Consultation  Engagement meetings in the main  

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker 

Better Care Fund Plan 
Better Care Fund Plan 

Contact Officer(s)  details 
 

Samantha Tunney samantha.tunney@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 
0151 934 2174/4039 
 

Agenda Item 14

Page 169



6 
 

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL  
FORWARD PLAN 

 

Details of Decision to be taken Twelve Month Contract Extension for the Merseycare 
Substance Misuse Contracts   
To seek approval from Members to extend current contract 
arrangements with Merseycare to allow for review activity to 
be undertaken. 
The contract is due to expire on the 31st March 2014 and it 
is intended to redesign and procure re-specified services in 
a measured timeframe. 
Currently there are several contracts for substance misuse 
services which are within the remit for the Substance Misuse 
review. Establishment Control Panel has recently approved 
the procurement of external Independent Support for the 
Substance Misuse Review. The review is essential to fully 
understanding what services would be required and 
commissioned for Sefton’s population. It is aimed that the 
review will be completed by the end of May 2014 and the 
commissioners would be in a position to reconfigure or re 
commission the Merseycare contract.  
 
Members will be asked to approve the 12 month contract 
extension  
 
 

Decision Maker Cabinet 

Decision Expected  27 Mar 2014 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact 

Yes 

Exempt Report No 

Wards Affected All Wards 

Scrutiny Committee Area  Health and Social Care 

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted  

In particular, the following have or will be consulted: Head of 
Legal Service; Head of Finance Additonally as part of the 
plan providers and service to inform the review  
 

Method(s) of Consultation  Reviews are currently being undertaken and will include a 
wide variety of stakeholders. This is within the Public Health 
Consultation Plan. This plan will be attached to the report  

Agenda Item 14

Page 170



7 
 

 

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker 

Six Month Contract Extension for the Merseycare Substance 
Misuse Contracts 

Contact Officer(s)  details 
 

Sarah Austin sarah.austin@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
3293 
 

Agenda Item 14

Page 171



8 
 

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL  
FORWARD PLAN 

 

Details of Decision to be taken Fees and Charges for the Council   
To set the 2014/15 Fees and Charges for the Council.  
This includes fees for the following services – Adult Social 
Care and Health and Well-Being. 

Decision Maker Cabinet 

Decision Expected  27 Mar 2014 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact 

Yes 

Exempt Report No 

Wards Affected All Wards 

Scrutiny Committee Area  Health and Social Care 

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted  

Internal consultation 

Method(s) of Consultation  Direct Contact with relevant officers 

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker 

Reports approved by each relevant Cabinet Member on 
fees and charges. All current fees and charges can be 
viewed by copy and pasting the hyperlink below into the 
browser bar at the top of this page: 
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s44810/
Updated%20Proposed%20Fees%20Charges%20Booklet%
20for%20201314.pdf 

Contact Officer(s)  details 
 

Margaret Rawding margaret.rawding@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 
0151 934 4082 
 

Agenda Item 14

Page 172



9 
 

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL  
FORWARD PLAN 

 

Details of Decision to be taken Sefton Carers Strategy   
Sefton Carers Strategy has been produced in co-operation 
with a number of partners including Sefton Council for 
Voluntary Service, Clinical Commissioning Groups, Carers 
Centre and PSS Young Carers.  Wider consultation on the 
Strategy has taken place with stakeholders, carers and 
those they care for as well as the wider public. 
Cabinet are asked to agree the Sefton Carers Strategy for 
publication in April 2014 

Decision Maker Cabinet 

Decision Expected  27 Mar 2014 

Key Decision Criteria Financial No Community 
Impact 

Yes 

Exempt Report No 

Wards Affected All Wards 

Scrutiny Committee Area  Health and Social Care 

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted  

Public Engagement and Consultation Panel held on 20 
September 2013. Agenda and minutes can be viewed by 
copy and pasting the hyperlink below into the browser bar at 
the top of this page:   
http://sb1msmgov1:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=498&MId=7526&V
er=4 

 

Method(s) of Consultation  Public Engagement and Consultation Panel held on 20 
September 2013. Agenda and minutes can be viewed by 
copy and pasting the hyperlink below into the browser bar at 
the top of this page:   
http://sb1msmgov1:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=498&MId=7526&V
er=4 

 

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker 

Public Engagement and Consultation Panel held on 20 
September 2013. Agenda and minutes can be viewed by 
copy and pasting the hyperlink below into the browser bar at 
the top of this page:  
http://sb1msmgov1:9070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=498&a
mp;MId=7526&amp;Ver=4 Strategy Document; EIA; 
Consultation Report; Action Plan; Sefton Carers National 
and Local Context Doument 

Agenda Item 14

Page 173



10 
 

Contact Officer(s)  details 
 

Robina Critchley robina.critchley@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4900 
 

Agenda Item 14

Page 174



Appendix B. 

Cheshire and Merseyside hospital trusts – performance against target to deal with 95% of A&E attendances within 4 hours  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Organisation 
Latest 

weekly 

Attendances 

> 4 

hours  

latest 

week 

Latest 

weekly 

performance 

at the week 

ending 

09/02/2014 

YTD atts 
YTD > 

4 hrs 

YTD 

performance 

    Teaching Acute Trusts             

   

Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University 

Hospitals NHS Trust 
2111 130 

93.84% 
89295 5410 

93.94% 

    Large Acute Trusts             

   Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS FT 2393 210 91.22% 101788 4886 95.20% 

    Medium Acute Trusts             

   Aintree University Hospitals NHS FT 2075 112 94.60% 73065 3469 95.25% 

   Countess of Chester Hospital NHS FT 1489 117 92.14% 70241 2981 95.76% 

   Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust 2185 76 96.52% 87782 3583 95.92% 

   St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust 2257 131 94.20% 102474 3828 96.26% 

   Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS FT 1889 171 90.95% 87072 4084 95.31% 

    Small Acute Trusts             

   EAST CHESHIRE NHS TRUST 1005 38 96.22% 45834 2018 95.60% 

   Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS FT 1542 147 90.47% 69006 2824 95.91% 

    Specialist Acute Trusts             

   Alder Hey Children's NHS FT 1197 18 98.50% 46685 908 98.06% 

   Liverpool Women's NHS FT 230 4 98.26% 11795 18 99.85% 

  Area Team             

Q48 Merseyside Area Team 10055 471 95.32% 411096 17216 95.81% 

Q44 Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral Area Team 8318 683 91.79% 114269 3846 96.63% 

C
h

e
sh

ir
e

 &
 

M
e

rs
e

y
 A

T
  

                

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 1

4

P
a
g
e
 1

7
5



Appendix B. 

 

 

A&E performance against 95% target December 2013 – February 2014 

 

Overview 

Table 1 gives an overview of Cheshire and Merseyside hospitals A&E performance against target for the week ending 9 February 2014 (latest figures 

available at publication date of this report). Sefton’s two main provider acute trusts – Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust and Aintree University 

Hospitals NHS Trust – have met and exceeded the target to deal with 95% of A&E attendances within 4 hours. 

Table 2 shows Cheshire and Merseyside hospitals’ week by week performance during the quarter December 2013 – February 2014, traditionally the busiest 

period for the NHS. 

Whilst the figures above show some variances in performance during this busy period, Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust and Aintree University 

Hospitals NHS Trust have continued to meet their year to date performance target of 95%.  

Trust/SHA Weekending #REF! #REF!                 

(SHA figures include other trusts type 3 units) 01/12/2013 08/12/2013 15/12/2013 22/12/2013 29/12/2013 05/01/2014 12/01/2014 19/01/2014 26/01/2014 02/02/2014 09/02/2014 

                        

                       

Aintree University Hospital 96.85% 95.00% 94.22% 99.65% 99.68% 96.89% 95.54% 95.73% 98.94% 91.02% 94.60% 

Alder Hey Children's 97.92% 95.32% 94.64% 98.16% 99.35% 98.63% 99.78% 98.20% 96.41% 98.35% 98.50% 

Countess of Chester Hospital 95.58% 92.24% 91.03% 95.08% 96.46% 92.33% 93.53% 91.49% 96.73% 95.56% 92.14% 

East Cheshire 95.36% 92.39% 98.65% 98.18% 98.51% 93.59% 95.46% 94.20% 96.13% 95.81% 96.22% 

Liverpool Women's 100.00% 100.00% 99.08% 99.54% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 98.26% 

Mid Cheshire Hospitals 98.15% 95.47% 95.04% 94.09% 94.78% 94.12% 92.17% 91.23% 95.95% 94.64% 90.47% 

Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University 

Hospitals 
91.76% 90.49% 89.39% 96.25% 96.03% 92.01% 89.10% 90.47% 95.30% 92.73% 93.84% 

Southport and Ormskirk Hospital 99.02% 98.50% 98.60% 95.93% 98.98% 93.84% 98.17% 98.51% 96.21% 94.50% 96.52% 

St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals 95.78% 93.30% 93.51% 93.03% 95.22% 91.66% 92.64% 93.85% 91.94% 94.71% 94.20% 

Warrington and Halton Hospitals 94.03% 93.81% 95.90% 94.33% 98.69% 96.05% 90.39% 95.53% 95.39% 92.93% 90.95% 

Wirral University Teaching Hospital 97.00% 96.45% 96.32% 97.71% #DIV/0! 93.37% 93.94% 97.77% 96.06% 95.51% 91.22% 

                       

CHESHIRE, WARRINGTON AND WIRRAL AREA 

TEAM 
96.95% 95.63% 96.30% #DIV/0! 97.98% 94.98% 94.19% 95.39% 96.72% 95.72% 93.26% 

MERSEYSIDE AREA TEAM 97.33% 96.14% 95.81% 97.40% 98.33% 95.61% 95.89% 96.40% 96.83% 95.56% 96.52% 
                        

A
g

e
n

d
a

 Ite
m

 1
4

P
a
g

e
 1

7
6


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Pre-Consultation Feedback from The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre
	Cancer Pre-Consultation Analysis, 07/01/2014 Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Health and Social Care)
	Comprehensive Cancer Centre Feedback Report May 2013, 07/01/2014 Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Health and Social Care)

	7 Mersey Care NHS Trust - Update
	App 1 Local Division Care Strategy 2014 201819
	letter to Sefton OSC

	8 Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Update Report
	9 Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust - Update Report
	osc march 2014

	11 Sefton Clinical Commissioning Groups - Update Report
	12 Cabinet Member Report
	CabinetMemberUpdateReportDecember13-January14 (2)

	13 Draft Quality Accounts - Process to be Undertaken
	14 Work Programme Key Decision Forward Plan
	KDFP 01-03 to 30-06 2014
	OSC_AandE_March2014


